DEVELOPMENTAL CONTROL OF INNATE LYMPHOID CELLS

By Theresa L. Geiger

A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Louis V. Gerstner, Jr. Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> New York, NY May 2016

Joseph Sun, PhD Dissertation Mentor

Date

Copyright © by Theresa Lynn Geiger 2016

Dedication

To my family, for all of their love and support

"A loveless world is a dead world, and always there comes an hour when one is weary of prisons, of one's work, and of devotion to duty, and all one craves for is a loved face, the warmth and wonder of a loving heart."

- Albert Camus, The Plague -

Abstract

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are a recently defined lineage of cells derived from the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP). They are primarily found at barrier surfaces such as the intestine and skin, and have established roles in homeostasis and protection from pathogens at these sites through their production of cytokines. The founding member of the ILC lineage, natural killer (NK) cells, can also rapidly kill infected or transformed cells. Here, we report on two different players in the complex network of transcription factors and cytokines that govern ILC development: the transcription factor Nfil3 and the cytokine TGF- β . We show that the transcription factor Nfil3 is not only required for the development of NK cells, but also all other ILC lineages. Nfil3-deficient mice lack all ILC subsets, including NK cells, and are severely deficient in an early ILC progenitor. Nfil3-deficient mice are also drastically more susceptible to intestinal pathogens such as C. rodentium and C. difficile, likely due to their lack of intestinal ILCs. Suprisingly, Nfi/3^{-/-} mice are only slightly more susceptible to chemically induced colitis and are less susceptible to a carcinogen-induced model of colorectal cancer, indicating ILCs may also play a pathogenic role in certain settings. Furthermore, we show that the cytokine TGF- β is dispensable for normal NK cell development. Deletion of TGF-β signaling in NK cells at the NK progenitor (NKP) stage has no observed affect on NK cell development. However, TGF- β insensitive NK cells appear to have a defect in expansion and persistence after viral infection, indicating that TGF- β may play a role in determining effector and memory NK cell fates. These findings have increased

iv

our understanding of the complex network of signals governing ILC development. In particular, our identification of Nfil3 as a transcription factor necessary for both NK cell and ILC development helps establish the relationship between these two lineages during early lymphoid development.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis mentor, Joe Sun. Thank you for being so supportive and excited about science. I have really enjoyed my time in the lab. Thank you also to all of the current and former Sun lab members: Carolyn Zawislak, Matt Firth, Jenny Karo, Sharline Madera, Aimee Beaulieu, Lexus Johnson, Clair Geary, Tim O'Sullivan, Moritz Rapp, Nick Adams, and Orrel Weizman. You have all been great to work with. Special thanks to Aimee, Jenny, and Sharline, for your great advice about life as well as lab.

I would also like to thank our collaborators on the Nfil3 project: Alan Hanash, Marcel van den Brink, Maggie O'Connor, Mike Abt, Eric Pamer, Georg Gasteiger, Andrew Dannenberg, and David Montrose. The project would not have been possible without your advice and expertise. Thank you also to Pooja Khanna, a rotation student who worked with me on the TGF-β project. Thank you to my thesis committee, Ming Li, Jedd Wolchok, and Eric Pamer, for your support, advice, and insight. Thank you also to my external examiner, David Artis, and my exam chair, Alexander Rudensky. Thank you to the rest of the Sloan Kettering and Weill Cornell immunology departments, especially the Rudensky and van den Brink labs, for your help and advice. Thank you to Kathy Hsu, Jeanette Boudreau, and the rest of NK club for your insightful questions and suggestions. Thank you to the National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease, and the Starr Cancer Consortium for their funding support. I would also like to thank my undergraduate research mentors, Dinesh

vi

Rao and David Baltimore, for giving me my first opportunity to pursue biology research.

Thank you to all of the Gerstner Sloan Kettering Graduate School. It has been a wonderful, enriching experience and I am so glad I chose to attend GSK. Thank you to Ken Marians, GSK dean, for leading this fantastic graduate school program. Thank you to Linda Burnley, associate dean, for all of your support. Thank you to the GSK administrative staff who keep the school running: Ivan Gerena, Katherine Gentile, Iwona Abramek, and Maria Torres. Maria, thank you for being GSK's go-to problem solver. Iwona, thank you for all of your help with the dissertation and defense process. Thank you also to the other GSK students, especially my classmates. I look forward to watching all of you do great things in the years to come.

Thank you so much to my family and friends for your neverending love and support. To my mother, thank you for reminding me that no time spent learning is ever wasted. To my father, thank you for always encouraging me to pursue my dreams. To Christian, thank you for always being there for me. To Hannah, thank you for your advice and support. To my IMSA and Caltech friends, thank you for being so excited and passionate about learning and achieving new things. To my fiancé, Rob, thank you for letting me drag you out of sunny California to live in crazy New York City for five years. Thank you for all of your love, support, and encouragement. Thank you for agreeing to get a dog. To my dog, Steven, thank you for always being happy to see me. To everyone else who has supported me before or during graduate school, thank you.

vii

Table of Contents

List of Figures	cii
List of Abbreviationsx	(V
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
I. Development of Innate Lymphoid Cells	1
1. ILC Precursors	2
2. Differentiation of ILC1 and NK cells	3
3. Differentiation of ILC2	5
4. Differentiation of ILC3 and LTi Cells	6
II. Development and Maturation of Natural Killer Cells ¹ 1	2
1. Stages of NK Cell Development and Differentiation ¹ 1	3
2. Transcriptional Control of Early NK Cell Development ¹ 1	5
3. Transcription Factors Governing NK Cell Maturation ¹ 1	8
4. Regulation of Effector NK Cell Responses and Memory Formation ¹ 2	20
III. ILCs in Disease and Homeostasis2	26
1. NK cells and ILC12	26
2. ILC2	27
3. ILC3 and LTi Cells2	28
IV. Summary3	0
Chapter 2: Nfil3 is Crucial for the Development of all Innate Lymphoid Cells3	3
I. Introduction	3
1. The Transcription Factor Nfil3/E4BP43	3
2. Nfil3 in the Immune System3	64

II. Results	.36
1. Intestinal Group 3 ILCs are Severely Reduced in Nfil3-deficient Mice ²	.36
2. Cell-intrinsic Requirement for Nfil3 in ILC3 Development ²	.37
3. Nfil3 is Essential for Resistance Against Intestinal Pathogens ²	.37
4. Development of the ILC Precursor Depends on Nfil3 ²	.40
5. Nfil3-independent Maintenance of Mature NKp46 ⁺ ILC3s ²	.41
6. ILC2 Populations are Severely Diminished in Nfil3-deficient Mice ²	.41
7. Nfil3 ^{-/-} and WT Mice Develop Similar Levels of Colitis After DSS	
Treatment	.43
8. <i>Nfil3^{-/-}</i> Mice are Less Susceptible to AOM/DSS Polyp Formation	.44
III. Discussion	.60
IV. Materials and Methods	.63
1. Mice ²	.63
2. Bacterial Infections and Titers ²	.64
3. Viral Infection	.64
4. BrdU Injection and Staining	.64
5. Isolation of ILC Subsets and <i>Ex Vivo</i> Stimulation ²	.65
6. Flow Cytometry ²	.65
7. Quantitative Real Time-PCR ²	.65
8. Statistical Analysis ²	.66
9. AOM/DSS Treatment and Tumor Counting	.66
Chapter 3: TGF- β is Dispensable for NK cell Development	.68
I. Introduction	.68

1. TGF-β Signaling	68
2. TGF-β Regulation of T cells	70
3. TGF-β Regulation of NK Cells	72
II. Results	75
1. Generation of <i>NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fl/fl}</i> Mice	75
2. <i>NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fl/fl}</i> Mice Have Normal NK Cells at Steady-state	75
3. TGF-β signaling is Modulated During MCMV Infection	76
4. NK- <i>TGF-βRII^{-/-}</i> cells Respond Normally to MCMV Infection	77
5. NK- <i>TGF-$\beta RII^{-/-}$</i> cells Have Defects in Expansion and Persistence in	
Response to MCMV	77
6. NK cells in <i>IL-10R^{-/-}</i> Mice Have a Cell-extrinsic Increase in Maturity	78
7. NK Cells in <i>IL-10R^{-/-}</i> Mice Have a Cell-extrinsic Defect in Persistence	After
MCMV Infection	79
8. DKO NK Cells are More Mature at Steady-state	80
9. DKO NK Cells Have a Diminished Response to MCMV	81
III. Discussion	95
IV. Materials and Methods	99
1. Mice	99
2. Viral Infections	99
3. Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting	99
4. Ex Vivo Stimulation of NK cells	100
5. Quantitative Real-time PCR	100
6. Statistical Analysis	101

Chapter 4: Discussion	102
I. Evolution of ILCs	102
II. Nfil3-Independent ILCs	104
III. The Question of ILC1s	106
IV. Summary	108
References	112

¹ Reprinted from Current Opinion in Immunology, 39. Geiger, TL. Sun, JC. Development and maturation of natural killer cells. 82-89. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.

² ©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.2014021

List of Figures

FIGURE 1 INNATE LYMPHOID CELL SUBSETS	8
FIGURE 2 PARALLELS BETWEEN ILCS AND T CELLS	9
FIGURE 3 TISSUE LOCATIONS OF ILCS	10
FIGURE 4 INNATE LYMPHOID CELL DEVELOPMENT	11
FIGURE 5 STAGES OF NATURAL KILLER CELL DEVELOPMENT	23
FIGURE 6 TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF THE NK CELL LINEAGE	24
FIGURE 7 REGULATION OF NK CELL FUNCTION AND MEMORY	25
FIGURE 8 NK CELL RESPONSES TO MCMV INFECTION	31
FIGURE 9 INNATE LYMPHOID CELL FUNCTION	32
FIGURE 10 NFIL3 IN IMMUNE CELLS	35
FIGURE 11 CELL-INTRINSIC REQUIREMENT FOR NFIL3 IN ILC1 AND NK CELL	
Development	46
FIGURE 12 NFIL3 IS REQUIRED FOR INTESTINAL ILC3 AND LTI CELL DEVELOPMENT.	47
FIGURE 13 NFIL3 AND WT CHIMERISM IS NORMAL IN T, B, AND MYELOID CELLS	48
FIGURE 14 CELL-INTRINSIC ROLE FOR NFIL3 IN DEVELOPMENT OF ILC3S	49
FIGURE 15 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE ARE SUSCEPTIBLE TO INTESTINAL PATHOGENS	
	50
FIGURE 16 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE HAVE HIGHER BACTERIAL TITERS AFTER <i>C. RODENTIUM</i>	50
FIGURE 16 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE HAVE HIGHER BACTERIAL TITERS AFTER <i>C. RODENTIUM</i>	50 51
FIGURE 16 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE HAVE HIGHER BACTERIAL TITERS AFTER <i>C. RODENTIUM</i> INFECTION FIGURE 17 NAÏVE <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE HAVE NORMAL COLON LENGTH	50 51 52

FIGURE 19 NFIL3 IS CRITICAL DURING CLP TO ILCP TRANSITION BUT NOT FOR
MAINTENANCE OF MATURE ILC3s
FIGURE 20 NFIL3 ^{-/-} MICE ARE DEFICIENT IN LUNG AND FAT ILC2S AND EOSINOPHILS
FIGURE 21 TITRATION OF DSS DOSE IN WT MICE
FIGURE 22 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE ARE NOT MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO LOW DOSES OF DSS 57
FIGURE 23 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE ARE SLIGHTLY MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO MODERATE DOSES
OF DSS
FIGURE 24 <i>NFIL3^{-/-}</i> MICE ARE LESS SUSCEPTIBLE TO AOM/DSS COLON POLYPS 59
Figure 25 Canonical TGF- β Signaling Pathway
FIGURE 26 GENERATION OF $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ MICE
FIGURE 27 <i>NKP46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{FL/FL}</i> MICE HAVE NORMAL NK CELLS AT STEADY-
STATE
FIGURE 28 NKP46 ^{ICRE} X TGF-BRII ^{FL/FL} NK CELLS RESPOND NORMALLY TO EX VIVO
STIMULATION
FIGURE 29 <i>NKP46^{ICRE} x TGF-βRII^{FL/FL}</i> NK CELLS HAVE NO COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE
IN MIXED BONE MARROW CHIMERAS
FIGURE 30 TGF- β RII TRANSCRIPT IN NK CELLS DECREASES EARLY AFTER MCMV
INFECTION
FIGURE 31 PSMAD2/3 PEAKS AT DAY 4 AFTER MCMV INFECTION
FIGURE 32 <i>NKP46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{FL/FL}</i> NK Cells Have Expansion and
PERSISTENCE DEFECTS AFTER MCMV INFECTION
FIGURE 33 T-BET AND EOMES CONTROL CD8 ⁺ T CELL MEMORY

FIGURE 34 T-BET AND EOMES LEVELS ARE SIMILAR IN $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ and
WT NK CELLS BEFORE AND AFTER MCMV INFECTION
FIGURE 35 NK CELLS FROM IL-10R ^{-/-} MICE HAVE A CELL-EXTRINSIC INCREASE IN
Maturity
FIGURE 36 NK CELLS FROM IL-10R ^{-/-} MICE HAVE A CELL-EXTRINSIC DEFECT IN
PERSISTENCE AFTER MCMV INFECTION
FIGURE 37 DKO NK CELLS FROM MIXED BONE MARROW CHIMERAS ARE MORE
MATURE AND EXPRESS LOWER EOMES THAN WT NK CELLS
FIGURE 38 DKO NK CELLS ARE DEFICIENT IN THEIR RESPONSE TO MCMV INFECTION
FIGURE 39 NFIL3 EXPRESSION DURING EVOLUTION
FIGURE 40 NK CELLS AND ILC1111

List of Abbreviations

AhR	aryl hydrocarbon receptor
ANOVA	analysis of variance
AOM	azoxymethane
Areg	amphiregulin
Arg1	arginase-1
BATF3	basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like 3
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
Bcl11b	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 11b
Blimp1	B-lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1
ВМ	bone marrow
ВМР	bone morphogenic protein
ВМТ	bone marrow transplant
BNIP3	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19kDa interacting protein 3
BNIP3L	BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19kDa interacting protein 3 ligand
BrdU	5-Bromo-2´-deoxyuridine
bZIP	basic leucine zipper
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein
Cbfβ	core binding factor β
CCL	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CD	cluster of differentiation
CFU	colony forming units
CHILP	common helper innate lymphoid cell progenitor
CLP	common lymphoid progenitor
co-Smad	common mediator Smad
CXCR	CXC chemokine receptor
DAI	disease activity index
DC	dendritic cell
DKO	double knockout

DLL	delta-like ligand
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DSS	dextran sulfate sodium
Ebf-1	early B cell factor 1
EILP	early innate lymphoid cell progenitor
Eomes	eomesodermin
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FLICA	fluorochrome-labeled inhibitors of caspases
Flt-3	Fms-related tyrosine kinase 3
Gfi1	growth factor independent 1 transcription repressor
GSK	Gerstner Sloan Kettering
GVHD	graft-versus-host disease
HCMV	human cytomegalovirus
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
I.P.	intraperitoneal
I.V.	intravenous
IACUC	institutional animal care and use committee
IBD	inflammatory bowel disease
ld	inhibitor of DNA binding
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
IL-10R	interleukin 10 receptor
IL-12R	interleukin 12 receptor
IL-2Rγc	interleukin 2 receptor γ chain
IL-7Rα	interleukin 7 receptor α
ILC	innate lymphoid cell
ILCP	innate lymphoid cell precursor
iNK	immature natural killer
lrf2	interferon regulatory factor 2

JAK	Janus kinase
KLRG1	killer cell lectin-like receptor G1
Lamp1	lysosomal-associated membrane protein 1
LAP	latency associated peptide
LCMV	lymphocytic choriomenigitis virus
LI	large intestine
LTi	lymphoid tissue inducer
LTPB	latent transforming growth factor β binding protein
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCMV	mouse cytomegalovirus
MEF	monocyte enhancer factor
MFI	median fluorescence intensity
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MITF	microphthalmia-associated transcription factor
mLN	mesenteric lymph node
mNK	mature natural killer
MPEC	memory precursor effector cell
MPP	multi-potent progenitor
MSKCC	Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
Myd88	myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
Nfil3	nuclear factor IL-3 regulated
NK	natural killer
NKP	natural killer cell progenitor
PAR	proline and acid rich
Pax5	paired box 5
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDK1	phosphoinositide dependent protein kinase

PFU	plaque forming units
PI	post-infection
РІЗК	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PLZF	promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein
PP	Peyer's patches
qRT-PCR	quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
R-Smad	receptor regulated Smad
RAG	recombination-activating gene
RNA	ribonucleic acid
ROR	retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor
Runx3	runt-related transcription factor 3
S1P5	Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 5
Sca-1	stem cell antigen-1
SD	standard deviation
SI	small intestine
SLEC	short-lived effector cell
SOCS3	suppressor of cytokine signaling 3
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
Tcf-1	T-cell factor 1
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF-β	transforming growth factor β
TGF-βR	transforming growth factor β receptor
T _h	T helper (cell)
Тох	thymocyte selection-associated high mobility group box
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
VAT	visceral adipose tissue
VRE	vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium
Zbtb32	zinc finger and BTB domain containing 32

Chapter 1: Introduction

I. Development of Innate Lymphoid Cells

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are a critical component of the immune system, best known for their ability to rapidly produce cytokines upon stimulation. They are the third lineage of lymphocyte derived from the common lymphoid progenitor (CLP), along with the adaptive lymphocytes, B and T cells. However, unlike B and T cells, they do not undergo antigen receptor gene rearrangement mediated by the RAG recombinase (Spits and Cupedo 2012). The founding member of this diverse family of lymphocyte is the natural killer (NK) cell, known for its ability to produce cytotoxic molecules (granzymes and perforin) as well as the cytokine interferon (IFN)-y (Kiessling, Klein, Pross, et al. 1975; Kiessling, Klein and Wigzell 1975). The family has recently been expanded to include group 1, group 2, and group 3 ILCs (Figure 1) (Spits et al. 2013). Group 1 ILCs include conventional NK cells as well as non-NK cell ILC1, which produce IFN-y but are not thought to mediate cytotoxicity (Klose et al. 2014; Bernink et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013). Both NK cells and ILC1 express the transcription factor T-bet (Seillet et al. 2015). Group 2 ILCs produce interleukin (IL)-13 and IL-5, and express the transcription factor Gata-3 (Moro et al. 2010; Neill et al. 2010; Price et al. 2010). Group 3 ILCs include lymphoid tissue inducer cells (LTi) as well as non-LTi ILC3. LTis are important for the development of lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes and Peyer's patches (Mebius et al. 1997). Group 3 ILCs produce IL-22 and IL-17 and express the transcription factor ROR-yt (Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Eberl

et al. 2004; Sun et al. 2000). The diversity among ILCs mirrors the diversity among T cells, with NK cells sharing transcriptional and functional characteristics with cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells, IFN-γ producing ILC1 with T_h1 cells, type 2 cytokineproducing ILC2 with T_h2 cells, and IL-22 and IL-17 producing ILC3 with T_h17 and T_h22 cells (Figure 2) (Huntington et al. 2016). ILCs can be found in various lymphoid and non-lymphoid organs, with NK cells circulating throughout the vasculature and found in all organs, and other ILCs being tissue-resident (Gasteiger et al. 2015). ILC1 are primarily resident in the liver, uterus, salivary glands, and intestines (D K Sojka et al. 2014; Cortez et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2016), while ILC2 are most prevalent in the skin, fat, and large intestine, and ILC3 are most prevalent in the intestines (Figure 3) (Kim et al. 2016). We shall hereafter use the terminology "group 1 ILCs" to include both NK cells and non-NK cell ILC1, and "group 3 ILCs" to include ILC3 and LTi cells (Figure 1).

1. ILC Precursors

ILCs are a lymphocyte lineage derived from the CLP. The first committed ILC precursor (ILCP) downstream of the CLP is a CD127⁺ a4 β 7 integrinexpressing cell that gives rise to NK cells, dendritic cells, and LTi cells but not B or T cells (Yoshida et al. 2001). Similarly, an $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ IL-7R α^+ CXCR 6^+ subset of the CLP has been shown to have ILC3 and NK cell but not T or B cell lineage potential (Possot et al. 2011); this subset is now commonly referred to as the α LP (Figure 4) (X. Yu et al. 2014; Serafini et al. 2015). Consistent with their constitutive expression of IL-7R α , all ILCs depend on IL-7 and the IL-2 receptor common γ chain for their development (Spits and Di Santo 2011; Spits and

Cupedo 2012). We were one of several groups to first identify the importance of the transcription factor Nfil3 (E4bp4) in the development of all ILC lineages, including NK cells and LTi cells (Geiger et al. 2014; Seillet, Rankin, et al. 2014; X. Yu et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2015). This discovery will be discussed in detail in Chapter 2. Briefly, Nfil3 is now thought to be required for the transition from the CLP to the α LP (Figure 4). ILC defects in *Nfil3^{-/-}* bone marrow cells can be rescued by retroviral transduction with vectors expressing the transcription factor Tox, suggesting that Tox is also involved in early ILC development downstream of Nfil3 (X. Yu et al. 2014). Tox had been previously shown to be required for the development of NK cells and LTi cells (Aliahmad et al. 2010; Vong et al. 2014) and more recently, it has been shown that Tox is indeed required for the transition from the CLP to a shared NK cell/ILC precursor (Seehus et al. 2015). Similarly, a precursor capable of developing into all ILC lineages termed the early ILC progenitor or "EILP" has been identified by expression of the transcription factor Tcf-1 (Q. Yang et al. 2015). Tcf-1 is required for generation of all ILC lineages, as Tcf-1 deficient mice have severe defects in all ILCs (Q. Yang et al. 2015). Interestingly, a novel arginase 1 (Arg1)-expressing ILC progenitor has also been identified in the fetal intestine, and may be responsible for seeding that organ of ILCs during fetal development (Bando et al. 2015).

2. Differentiation of ILC1 and NK cells

The defining transcription factor for group 1 ILCs (including ILC1 and NK cells) is T-bet. T-bet deficient mice lack ILC1s and have a defect in terminal maturation of NK cells (Gordon et al. 2012; Klose et al. 2014). T-bet and

downstream transcription factor Runx3 are critical for the production of IFN-y, a hallmark of group 1 ILCs (Djuretic et al. 2007), and Runx3 has been further shown to be required for ILC1 devlopment and maintenance (Ebihara et al. 2015). NK cells can be distinguished from ILC1 by their expression of the transcription factor Eomes and the surface marker CD49b (DX5) (Seillet et al. 2015). In addition, forced overexpression of Eomes can drive ILC1s into an NK cell-like fate (Pikovskaya et al. 2016). Conventional NK cells are also thought to recirculate through the vasculature, whereas ILC1 are thought to be tissue resident (Gasteiger et al. 2015). These findings indicate that previously identified liver- and thymic-resident NK cells (Takeda et al. 2005; Seillet, Huntington, et al. 2014; Smyth et al. 2001; Vosshenrich et al. 2006) may in fact be ILC1, supported by recent evidence that they are transcriptionally distinct from conventional nonresident NK cells (Daussy et al. 2014; Seillet et al. 2015; Seillet, Huntington, et al. 2014; Robinette et al. 2015). Furthermore, there is some debate about the classification of non-NK cell ILC1 as group 1 ILCs based on their IFN-y expression, as some studies indicate that they may develop from ROR-yt⁺ ILC3 (Spits et al. 2013; Bernink et al. 2013; Klose et al. 2013; Vonarbourg et al. 2010).

The importance of PLZF in ILC differentiation was shown using PLZF reporter mice to demonstrate that PLZF⁺ ILCPs generate all ILC lineages except NK cells and LTi cells (Figure 4) (Constantinides et al. 2014). However, PLZF deficient mice have a defect in ILC1 and ILC2 but not NK cells or group 3 ILCs (Constantinides et al. 2014), indicating that PLZF is not required for all ILCs but may play a role in promoting certain lineages over others. Recent work has

supported this idea, showing that PLZF contributes to the divergence of NK cells from ILC1 (Constantinides et al. 2015). Id2 has similarly been shown to map an early ILC precursor that does not give rise to NK cells, but does give rise to all other ILC lineages including LTi cells (Klose et al. 2014). This has led to the Id2⁺ precursor being designated as the "common helper innate lymphoid cell progenitor" or CHILP (Figure 4) (Klose et al. 2014). Gata3 is another transcription factor that has been shown to be required for development of ILC1, ILC2, ILC3 and LTi cells, but not conventional NK cells (Zhong et al. 2016; Serafini et al. 2014; Yagi et al. 2014; Vosshenrich et al. 2006). These findings support the idea that NK cells are a separate lineage from the "helper" ILCs, including ILC1. Other distinct developmental requirements for ILC1 remain to be elucidated. The development of NK cells will be discussed in detail in Section II.

3. Differentiation of ILC2

Gata3 is the defining transcription factor for ILC2s. ILC2s express high levels of Gata3 and require it for development and function (Klein Wolterink et al. 2013; Hoyler et al. 2012; Yagi et al. 2014). Gata3 is particularly critical for optimal production of type 2 cytokines by ILC2s (Liang et al. 2012). The Notch target transcription factor Bcl11b is also important for ILC2 development and maintenance (Califano et al. 2015; Walker et al. 2015; Yu et al. 2015). Bcl11bexpressing ILCP generate only ILC2 (Yu et al. 2015). Furthermore, *Bcl11b*^{-/-} bone marrow fails to develop into ILC2 in fetal liver chimeras (Walker et al. 2015) and ablating Bcl11b in mature cells results in a loss of ILC2 identity and function measured by Gata3 expression and responsiveness to IL-33 (Califano et al.

2015). The transcription factor ROR- α has similarly been shown to be critical for ILC2 development (Figure 4), as ROR- α -deficient mice lack ILC2 (Halim, MacLaren, et al. 2012; Wong et al. 2012). The transcription factor Gfi1 also promotes ILC2 development and function (Figure 4). *Gfi1*-⁷⁻ bone marrow has a defect in producing ILC2 in a mixed bone marrow chimera setting (Spooner et al. 2013). Gfi1 is also thought to regulate the expression of the IL-33 receptor and thereby IL-33 responsiveness (Spooner et al. 2013).

4. Differentiation of ILC3 and LTi Cells

Group 3 ILCs are differentiated from other ILCs by their expression of and dependence upon the transcription factor ROR-yt (Eberl et al. 2004; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Sanos et al. 2009; Luci et al. 2009; Vonarbourg et al. 2010). Another transcription factor important in the development of group 3 ILCs is AhR (Figure 4). AhR^{-/-} mice were shown to have a severe reduction in NKp46⁺ ILC3 and CD4⁺ LTi cells (Lee et al. 2012). However, AhR appears to be critical only for adult, not fetal, ILC3, as AhR^{-/-} mice develop early-developing structures such as lymph nodes and peyer's patches but lack later developing cryptopatches and lymphoid follicles (Lee et al. 2012; Kiss et al. 2011; Qiu et al. 2012). Conversely, mice lacking the transcription factor Tox lack lymph nodes and have a severe defect in peyer's patches, likely due to their lack of LTi cells (Figure 4) (Aliahmad et al. 2010). Recent work has further suggested that LTi cells may differentiate from other ILCs as early as the α LP, which may be a heterogeneous mixture of ILCPs and LTi precursors (Ishizuka et al. 2016). This supports earlier work showing that LTi cells, like NK cells, are not derived from a

PLZF⁺ precursor that generates all other ILC lineages (Constantinides et al. 2014). Runx3 has also been shown to be required for development but not maintenance of ILC3 (Ebihara et al. 2015), while Gata3 is required for both development and maintenance of ILC3 (Zhong et al. 2016).



FIGURE 1 | INNATE LYMPHOID CELL SUBSETS

Group 1 ILCs (green) include classical NK cells and ILC1, and are defined by their expression of the transcription factor T-bet and their ability to produce IFN- γ upon stimulation. Group 2 ILCs (blue) or ILC2s are defined by their high expression of the transcription factor Gata-3 and their ability to produce type 2 cytokines and amphiregulin upon stimulation. Group 3 ILCs (red) include LTi cells and ILC3 and are defined by their expression of the transcription factor ROR- γ t and their ability to produce IL-17 and IL-22 upon stimulation.



Reprinted from Current Opinion in Immunology, 38. Huntington, ND. Carpentier, S. Vivier, E. Belz, GT. Innate lymphoid cells: parallel checkpoints and coordinate interactions with T cells. 86-93. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.

FIGURE 2 | PARALLELS BETWEEN ILCS AND T CELLS

ILC subsets share transcriptional and functional similarities with T cell subsets. Group 1 ILCs and T_h1 cells (yellow) express T-bet and produce IFN- γ . NK cells and CD8⁺ T cells produce lytic molecules. ILC2 and T_h2 cells (green) express Gata3 and produce type 2 cytokines. Group 3 ILCs and T_h22 and T_h17 cells (red) express ROR- γ t and make IL-22 and IL-17.



Reprinted from Trends in Immunology, 37. Kim, CH. Hashimoto-Hill, S. Kim, M. Migration and Tissue Tropism of Innate Lymphoid Cells. 68-79. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.

FIGURE 3 | TISSUE LOCATIONS OF ILCS

ILCs compose varying percentages of the total $\text{CD45}^{^+}$ lymphocyte compartment in different organs.



FIGURE 4 | INNATE LYMPHOID CELL DEVELOPMENT

ILCs differentiate from the CLP (yellow). Factors important early in development to a shared NK cell and helper ILC precursor (α LP) include Nfil3, Tcf-1, and Tox. Downstream of the α LP is the pre-NKP and the CHILP. Downstream factors required for differentiation into group 1 ILCs (green), group 2 ILCs (blue) and group 3 ILCs (red) are shown. A more detailed diagram of NK cell development is shown in Figure 6.

II. Development and Maturation of Natural Killer Cells¹

NK cells, like B and T cells, are a lymphocyte lineage derived from the CLP (Kondo et al. 1997), and like B cells, are thought to develop primarily in the bone marrow (Rosmaraki et al. 2001), although other sites of development, such as the liver and thymus, have also been proposed (reviewed in (Dorothy K Sojka et al. 2014)). However, unlike the antigen receptors of B and T cells, NK cell receptors are germ line encoded and do not require gene rearrangement by RAG recombinase (Lanier et al. 1986), though recent work has suggested that RAG plays an unexpected cell-intrinsic role in NK cell development (Karo et al. 2014). NK cells also undergo an "education" process during development where they acquire the ability to recognize lack of self MHC class I, or "missing-self", a feature that facilitates their surveillance of target cells that have down-regulated MHC class I during infection or malignancy (Orr and Lanier 2010). NK cells rely on both cytokines and transcription factors to promote and control their development. Cytokine signaling from interleukin (IL)-15 is critical for the development of NK cells and is required throughout their lifetime (Di Santo 2006; Yokoyama et al. 2004). Transcription factors such as Nfil3 and PU.1 are necessary for development of early NK cell progenitors (Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada et al. 2010; Colucci et al. 2001), whereas Id2, Tox, and others are important later in development (Yokota et al. 1999; Boos et al. 2007; Aliahmad et al. 2010). Eomes and T-bet are among factors that then control the final stages of NK cell maturation (Townsend et al. 2004; Gordon et al. 2012). In the periphery, the activation and differentiation of NK cells are

regulated by a plethora of transcription factors mediating distinct effector functions. This review will outline current knowledge about the stages of NK cell development and the factors driving each stage.

1. Stages of NK Cell Development and Differentiation¹

The CLP is characterized by expression of IL-7Rα (CD127), c-kit (CD117) Sca-1, and Flt-3 (CD135), as well as the lack of common lineage markers such as CD3, CD4, CD8, CD19, Ter119, Gr-1 and NK1.1 (Figure 5) (Kondo et al. 1997). From the CLP, cells develop into NK cell precursors (NKP), which are defined by expression of the IL-15 receptor β chain (CD122), and lack of common lineage markers, including the NK cell markers NK1.1 and DX5 (CD49b) (Figure 5) (Rosmaraki et al. 2001). This NKP population has been further refined based on the co-expression of CD27 and CD244, with the majority of these cells also expressing IL-7R α (Fathman et al. 2011). An intermediate population between the CLP and NKP termed "pre-NKP" has also recently been defined as lineage negative, CD244⁺ c-kit^{low} IL-7Rα⁺ Flt-3⁻ and CD122⁻ (Fathman et al. 2011; Carotta et al. 2011). However, recent work suggests that this population is heterogeneous, composed of true NK-committed precursors as well as PLZF- and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin-expressing ILC precursors (ILCP) (Figure 5) (Constantinides et al. 2015). A precursor of this pre-NKP population also capable of producing all ILC lineages (including NK cells) has recently been identified by expression of the transcription factor Tcf-1 (Q. Yang et al. 2015). From the CD122⁺IL-7R $\alpha^{+/-}$ NKP stage, cells develop into immature NK (iNK) cells, which lose expression of IL-7Ra and acquire expression of NK1.1 but do not yet

express CD49b (Figure 5) (Rosmaraki et al. 2001). As immature NK cells gain expression of CD11b, CD43, Ly49 receptors, and CD49b (DX5), they also gain functional competence in cytotoxicity and production of interferon (IFN)- γ (Kim et al. 2002), and egress from the bone marrow.

The peripheral NK cell pool can be delineated by their expression of CD27, with CD27^{lo/-} NK cells being more cytotoxic and producing more cytokines than CD27^{high} NK cells (Hayakawa and Smyth 2006). These mature peripheral NK cell populations have more recently been further refined into four stages of maturation, defined by sequential upregulation of CD11b expression followed by downregulation of CD27, with the most immature NK cells being CD27⁻CD11b⁻ and the most mature NK cells being CD27⁻CD11b⁺ (Chiossone et al. 2009). During viral infection or pro-inflammatory cytokine exposure, mature peripheral NK cells can differentiate into effector and long-lived memory NK cells (reviewed in (Min-Oo et al. 2013)). During the CD8⁺ T cell response to viral infection, at least two different effector cell populations are thought to be generated: KLRG1^{hi} short-lived effector cells (SLECs) and KLRG1^{lo} memory precursor effector cells (MPECs) (Kaech and Wherry 2007). Recent evidence suggests that a similar paradigm exists in the resting NK cell pool, with virus-specific KLRG1 NK cells exhibiting a greater capacity to generate memory NK cells than their KLRG1⁺ counterparts (Kamimura and Lanier 2015). In accordance with this finding, another recent study found that RAG expression during NK cell ontogeny was correlated with lower expression of KLRG1 and a greater memory potential (Karo et al. 2014).

2. Transcriptional Control of Early NK Cell Development¹

Lineage commitment to either an adaptive or innate lymphocyte cell fate is determined by a complex network of transcription factors (Figure 6). For example, Notch signaling through the ligands Jagged1 and Jagged2 preferentially drives NK cell development from the CLP (DeHart et al. 2005; Jaleco et al. 2001; Lehar et al. 2005), whereas delta-like ligands (DLL) promote T cell development (Maillard et al. 2005). Moreover, thymocytes can be diverted into an NK cell-like fate if the Notch1-dependent transcription factor Bcl11b is ablated during T cell development (Ikawa et al. 2010; P. Li et al. 2010; L. Li et al. 2010), suggesting active suppression of the NK cell fate. Similarly, early B cell factor 1 (Ebf1) and Pax5 promote the B cell fate by suppressing expression of ILC and T-cell promoting transcription factors Notch1, Tcf-1, Gata3, and Id2 (De Obaldia and Bhandoola 2015). Even within the innate lymphocyte lineages, differential expression of specific transcription factors give rise to distinct cell fates. For example, although both NK cells and non-NK cell "helper" ILCs require the transcription factors Id2 (Yokota et al. 1999; Moro et al. 2010; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2010) and Nfil3 (Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada, Pham, et al. 2011; Geiger et al. 2014; Seillet, Rankin, et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2015; X. Yu et al. 2014) for their development, only the helper ILC lineages require Gata3 for development (Yagi et al. 2014; Serafini et al. 2014; Zhong et al. 2016). These differential requirements are consistent with recent studies indicating that ILCs are not derived from the same CD122⁺ precursor as NK cells, but rather arise from an IL-7R α^{+} , $\alpha 4\beta 7^{+}$, Id2-expressing precursor, referred to as

the common helper innate lymphoid cell precursor or "CHILP" (reviewed in (Serafini et al. 2015)).

Nfil3 (also known as E4BP4) is a critical factor in NK cell lineage commitment. Originally identified as a circadian clock gene (Mitsui et al. 2001), Nfil3 is widely expressed in many hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells, and is expressed as early as the CLP stage in developing lymphocytes (Male et al. 2014). Early studies in Nfil3-deficient mice revealed a specific loss of NK cells, whereas numbers of B cells, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells were normal (Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada et al. 2010). Later studies revealed that Nfil3 expression is only required in developing NK cells through the NKP stage; conditional deletion during the iNK stage does not impact NK cell numbers, cytokine production, or response to viral infection (Firth et al. 2013). Nfil3 expression is thought to be driven by IL-15, as IL-15 induces Nfil3 expression in NK cells and ectopic Nfil3 expression can partially rescue NK cell development in vitro in the absence of IL-15 signaling (Gascoyne et al. 2009; M. Yang et al. 2015). IL-15 is thought to drive Nfil3 expression through the kinase PDK1 and its downstream target mTOR (M. Yang et al. 2015) and mice with an NK cell specific deletion of mTOR have a block in maturation of bone marrow NK cells and a severe lack of NK cells in peripheral organs (Marçais et al. 2014). However, several recent studies have shown that certain tissue resident NK cells may be Nfil3-independent (D K Sojka et al. 2014; Cortez et al. 2014; Seillet, Huntington, et al. 2014).

B cells, T cells, and most ILCs require IL-7 for their development, whereas NK cells (von Freeden-Jeffry et al. 1995; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2010; Vonarbourg et al. 2010) and type 1 ILCs (Klose et al. 2014) do not. The first step towards an NK cell fate coincides with gain of CD122 and loss of IL-7R α , reflecting a shift from IL-7 to IL-15 dependence. IL-15 signals through the transcription factor STAT5, and thus mice lacking Stat5b are deficient in NK cells (Imada et al. 1998). Deleting Stat5a/b in NKP also results in complete lack of NK cells (Eckelhart et al. 2011). Similarly, the transcription factor Runx3 and its binding partner Cbf β can promote CD122 expression, and NKP deficient in these factors fail to produce peripheral NK cells in fetal liver chimeras (Guo et al. 2008). An NKp46⁺ cell-specific deletion of Runx3 also results in a lack of peripheral NK cells (Ebihara et al. 2015). T-bet and Eomes have also been shown to cooperate to promote expression of CD122 and mice lacking both these transcription factors are deficient in NK cells as well as memory CD8⁺ T cells (Intlekofer et al. 2005).

PU.1, a member of the Ets family of transcription factors (reviewed in (Hollenhorst et al. 2011)), is important in the development of T and B cells, monocytes, dendritic cells, and granulocytes (reviewed in (Carotta et al. 2010)). Although PU.1-deficient fetal liver cells are able to generate NK cells, chimeric mice have reduced numbers of NKP and immature NK cells (Colucci et al. 2001). PU.1-deficient NK cells also have increased expression of another Ets family factor, Ets-1, a finding that has led to suggestions that Ets-1 can compensate for lack of PU.1 in driving the NK cell lineage (Colucci et al. 2001). Although Ets-1 is

likely expressed prior to the NKP stage, it appears to be required at a later point in development than PU.1. Peripheral NK cells are severely decreased in Ets-1deficient mice (Barton et al. 1998) due to an arrest at the NKP stage (Ramirez et al. 2012). Furthermore, residual NK cells in Ets-1-deficient mice were refractory when stimulated through activating receptors but hyperresponsive to proinflammatory cytokines, suggesting chronic basal stimulation (Ramirez et al. 2012). Ets-1 was shown to promote other transcription factors critical in NK cell development, including Id2 and T-bet (Ramirez et al. 2012). Similarly, mice lacking the Ets family member Mef have decreased NK cell numbers, as well as a defect in IFN-γ secretion and perforin expression (Lacorazza et al. 2002).

3. Transcription Factors Governing NK Cell Maturation¹

In addition to the early role for Id family transcription factors in suppressing the adaptive lymphocyte fate while promoting innate lymphocyte development, these factors are also important later in the development of NK cells. Id2deficient mice have a cell-intrinsic lack of peripheral NK cells (Yokota et al. 1999) that was found to be due to an arrest at the iNK stage (Boos et al. 2007), indicating that Id2 is important in the transition from immature to mature NK cell. Both Id2 and Id3 are expressed in NKP, and Id2 continues to be expressed in NK cells through the mature NK cell stage. In addition, both Id2 and Id3 can promote NK cell development in culture (Heemskerk et al. 1997; Schotte et al. 2010) and Id2 is thought to be downstream of Nfil3, as ectopic Id2 expression can rescue NK cell development in Nfil3 deficient progenitors (Gascoyne et al. 2009; Male et al. 2014).
The T-box family of transcription factors is critical in several aspects of NK cell development and maturation. One family member, T-bet, is thought to regulate expression of S1P5, a receptor required for NK cell egress out of lymph nodes and bone marrow (Jenne et al. 2009). T-bet-deficient mice lack mature NK cells in the bone marrow and periphery, exhibiting an arrest at the iNK stage during development (Townsend et al. 2004). A more recent study suggests that T-bet stabilizes an immature (TRAIL⁺DX5⁻) NK cell state and that loss of T-bet results in higher expression of Eomes, another T-box transcription factor (Gordon et al. 2012). Eomes is required for transition to the mature $(DX5^{+})$ NK cell stage and acquisition of Ly49 receptors (Gordon et al. 2012). However, there is some question as to whether this TRAIL⁺ population truly consists of immature NK cells or whether it represents a distinct lineage of ILC1 (reviewed in (Dorothy K Sojka et al. 2014; O'Sullivan, Sun, et al. 2015)). Loss of T-bet also results in reduced expression of another transcription factor, Blimp1, which is similarly required for progression from the iNK stage (Kallies et al. 2011). The transcription factor Gata3 is thought to promote T-bet expression, as Gata3-deficient NK cells have reduced T-bet expression and are immature in phenotype similar to T-betdeficient NK cells (Samson et al. 2003). Conversely, the forkhead box family transcription factors Foxo1 and Foxo3 suppress NK cell maturation by repressing T-bet (Deng et al. 2015). Foxo3-deficient mice have normal numbers of NK cells but an increase in KLRG1⁺ NK cells, suggesting a role for Foxo3 in suppressing terminal maturation of NK cells (Huntington et al. 2007).

The transcription factor Tox is required for transition from the iNK to mNK stage, as Tox-deficient mice have a severe defect in mature NK cells but no defect in immature NK cells or NKP (Aliahmad et al. 2010). Tox is believed to be downstream of Nfil3, as transduction of Nfil3-deficient bone marrow with Toxexpressing retroviruses was able to rescue NK cell and ILC development in recipient mice (X. Yu et al. 2014). Aiolos, an Ikaros family member, is also required for terminal maturation of NK cells; Aiolos-deficient mice have an accumulation of CD27⁺CD11b⁻ and CD27⁺CD11b⁺ NK cells but a loss of the most mature CD27⁻CD11b⁺ NK cell subset (Holmes et al. 2014). Irf2 is similarly required for promoting mature NK cells, as Irf2-deficient mice maintain normal numbers of immature NK cells in the bone marrow but lack the most mature $CD11b^{+}$ subset and circulating NK cells (Lohoff et al. 2000; Taki et al. 2005). Runx3, important in promoting CD122 expression (Guo et al. 2008), has likewise been shown to be important late in NK cell development, promoting the expression of Ly49 receptors, CD11b, and CD43 (Ohno et al. 2008).

4. Regulation of Effector NK Cell Responses and Memory Formation¹

The STAT family of transcription factors contains members that are phosphorylated downstream of pro-inflammatory cytokine receptors and form homo- or hetero-dimers that translocate to the nucleus to induce gene transcription (reviewed in (O'Shea et al. 2015)). During viral infection, type I IFNs and downstream STAT1 have been shown to enhance NK cell cytotoxicity (Figure 7) (Orange and Biron 1996; Nguyen et al. 2002), and shield activated NK cells from cell death via an NKG2D-dependent fratricide mechanism (Madera et

al. 2016). IL-12 and downstream STAT4 are required for NK cell production of IFN-y (Orange and Biron 1996; Nguyen et al. 2002; Thierfelder et al. 1996), and NK cell expansion and memory generation after mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection (Sun et al. 2012). IL-33, IL-18, and MyD88 are also important for optimal expansion during viral infection, but are not required for memory cell formation (Madera and Sun 2015; Nabekura et al. 2015). In addition, IL-12, IL-18, and type I IFNs together drive expression of the transcription factor Zbtb32, which promotes NK cell proliferation after MCMV infection by antagonizing Blimp-1 (Beaulieu et al. 2014). The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) is another nuclear factor required for optimal cytotoxicity of NK cells (Shin et al. 2013). Similarly, NK cells deficient in either of the transcription factors C/EBP or MITF have reduced cytotoxicity and IFN-y secretion (Kaisho et al. 1999; Seaman et al. 1979; Ito et al. 2001; Kataoka et al. 2005). MITF may regulate cytotoxicity through interactions with MEF and PU.1 at the perforin promoter (Lacorazza et al. 2002; Hesslein and Lanier 2011).

Control of the apoptosis pathway is thought to be involved in regulating NK cell memory formation, as the anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl-2 is downregulated in NK cells following MCMV infection (Beaulieu et al. 2014; Min-Oo et al. 2014). The pro-apoptotic factor Bim controls the formation of memory NK cells, with Bim-deficient NK cells failing to contract normally following MCMV infection and displaying lower levels of memory-associated cell surface markers (Min-Oo et al. 2014). A recent study found that NK cells accumulate damaged mitochondria after MCMV infection, and that a small subset that cleared these mitochondria by

autophagy preferentially survived to form memory NK cells, a process dependent on BNIP3 and BNIP3L (O'Sullivan, Johnson, et al. 2015). Additional factors that may be specifically required for memory formation remain to be elucidated.



FIGURE 5 | STAGES OF NATURAL KILLER CELL DEVELOPMENT

NK cells are derived from the CLP, which differentiates into a heterogeneous pre-NKP/ILCP population distinguished from the NKP by its expression of IL-7R and lack of CD122 expression. From the NKP, cells begin to express NK cell markers NK1.1 and NKp46, and as they further mature they acquire expression of DX5 (CD49b) and CD11b while losing expression of CD27. As NK cells mature they also gain functional competence, expressing lytic molecules and cytokines such as IFN- γ . Cell surface proteins are color coded by the stage in which they are first expressed. Loss of a specific cell surface marker after a given stage is indicated by parentheses in the stage immediately following.

Reprinted from Current Opinion in Immunology, 39. Geiger, TL. Sun, JC. Development and maturation of natural killer cells. 82-89. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.



FIGURE 6 | TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF THE NK CELL LINEAGE

A complex network of transcription factors governs the decision to adopt an innate or adaptive lymphocyte fate from the CLP. A simplified list of factors promoting the helper ILC, T cell, and B cell fates is shown. From the CLP, the indicated transcription factors drive cells to become NKP, immature NK cells (iNK) and mature NK cells (mNK). Factors promoting transition from the iNK to mNK stage are listed in two columns based on whether they are thought to be important earlier (left) or later (right) in NK cell maturation. Transcription factors are placed based upon where a defect or development arrest is seen in the knockout mouse when possible. Expression of the factors may occur before the indicated stage.

Reprinted from Current Opinion in Immunology, 39. Geiger, TL. Sun, JC. Development and maturation of natural killer cells. 82-89. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.



FIGURE 7 | REGULATION OF NK CELL FUNCTION AND MEMORY

Activated NK cells can secrete lytic molecules and IFN-γ. They can also proliferate in response to specific antigens and contract to form long-lived 'memory' NK cells. Different cytokines (blue), transcription factors (purple), and other molecules (red) govern each of these distinct NK cell functions.

Reprinted from Current Opinion in Immunology, 39. Geiger, TL. Sun, JC. Development and maturation of natural killer cells. 82-89. Copyright (2016), with permission from Elsevier.

III. ILCs in Disease and Homeostasis

1. NK cells and ILC1

NK cells were first identified in 1975 as innate cytotoxic lymphocytes with the ability to rapidly kill tumor cells (Kiessling, Klein, Pross, et al. 1975; Kiessling, Klein and Wigzell 1975; Herberman et al. 1975). One way in which NK cells can recognize and kill tumor cells is by recognizing tumor cell downregulation of major histocompatibility complex I (MHC-I). The presentation of MHC-I on a cell surface is an inhibitory signal to NK cells, which renders stressed or infected cells that have downregulated MHC-I expression susceptible to killing by NK cells. This concept is known as the "missing self" hypothesis (Ljunggren and Kärre 1985; Kärre et al. 1986; Ljunggren and Kärre 1990). NK cells also play a critical role in host protection against infectious disease and particularly against herpesviruses including human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (Orange 2006; Biron et al. 1989; Etzioni et al. 2005).

Mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) provides an excellent model to study NK cell-mediated protection from viral infection. Mice with NK cell deficiencies are extremely susceptible to MCMV infection (Shellam et al. 1981; Bancroft et al. 1981). Depletion of NK cells with antibodies against NK cell receptors results in increased viral burden and mortality in both normal and immunodeficient (lacking T and B cells) mice (Shanley 1990; Welsh et al. 1990; Bukowski et al. 1984; Welsh et al. 1994; Bukowski et al. 1985; Welsh et al. 1991). MCMV also allows the study of antigen-specific NK cell responses and memory formation, as it has been shown that in C57BL/6 mice NK cells expressing the Ly49H activating

receptor respond specifically to the MCMV-encoded m157 glycoprotein expressed by infected cells (Figure 8) (Arase et al. 2002; Dokun et al. 2001; Brown et al. 2001; Daniels et al. 2001; Scalzo et al. 1990; Smith et al. 2002). Though NK cells were classically thought to be strictly part of innate immunity, there have now been many studies showing NK cells can form long-lived memory-like cells (Sun et al. 2009; Paust and von Andrian 2011; Vivier et al. 2011; O'Leary et al. 2006). Formation of memory cells can be induced by cytokine exposure or in response to specific antigens (Min-Oo et al. 2013). In the case of MCMV infection, Ly49H⁺ NK cells preferentially expand and later contract to form MCMV-specific memory NK cells that possess a unique transcriptional signature and are more adept at protecting from a secondary infection compared to naïve NK cells (Figure 8) (Sun et al. 2009; O'Sullivan, Sun, et al. 2015).

Not much is yet known about the contribution of non-NK cell ILC1 to immunity. ILC1 have been shown to accumulate in the intestines of Crohn's disease patients and contribute to pathology in a mouse model of colitis, indicating that ILC1 derived IFN- γ may contribute to gut inflammation (Figure 9) (Bernink et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013). A recent study has also identified a novel ILC1-like cell that contributes to tumor immunosurveillance in a mouse mammary tumor model (Dadi et al. 2016).

2. ILC2

ILC2s were first identified as a cell population important for host protection against helminths due to their rapid production of type 2 cytokines (Fallon et al. 2006). ILC2s are induced to produce type 2 cytokines by IL-25 and IL-33,

produced by various cell types including alveolar macrophages, mast cells, eosinophils, basophils, and epithelial cells (Hwang and McKenzie 2013). ILC2s and their production of IL-13 are critical for expulsion of the helminth Nippostrongylus brasilienis (Figure 9) (Moro et al. 2010). Mice lacking ILC2s or with an ILC2 specific deletion of IL-13 are unable to clear N. brasilienis infection (Neill et al. 2010). Suprisingly, T_h2 derived type 2 cytokines are not necessary for clearance of N. brasilienis (Voehringer et al. 2006), but the presence of Th2 cells contributes to immunity, potentially by supporting ILC2 maintenance (Neill et al. 2010). Conversely, ILC2 expression of MHC-II is necessary for optimal Th2 responses against N. brasilienis (Oliphant et al. 2014), suggesting that ILC2-Th2 crosstalk supports both cell types in anti-helminth immunity. ILC2s also contribute to wound healing and tissue repair by producing the growth factor amphiregulin, which induces proliferation of epithelial cells (Figure 9) (Monticelli et al. 2011; Enomoto et al. 2009). Conversely, ILC2s can also be pathogenic and have been shown to contribute to airway hyperreactivity during influenza infection or allergic inflammation (Figure 9) (Chang et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2012; Barlow et al. 2012; Klein Wolterink et al. 2012; Bartemes et al. 2012; Halim, Krauss, et al. 2012).

3. ILC3 and LTi Cells

LTi cells are critical for formation of lymph nodes and Peyer's patches (Eberl et al. 2004; Kelly and Scollay 1992; Eberl and Littman 2003; Mebius et al. 1997). In early lymphoid organ development they interact with stromal organizer cells to promote expression of adhesion molecules such as vascular cell

adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM1) and chemokines such as chemokine ligand 19 (CCL19) and CCL21 (Figure 9) (van de Pavert and Mebius 2010). Postnatally, LTi cells are also thought to be important for formation of isolated lymphoid follicles and for repair of lymph nodes damaged by infection (Scandella et al. 2008; Hamada et al. 2002; Bouskra et al. 2008; Hwang and McKenzie 2013).

ILC3-produced IL-22 is thought to be critical for host defense against intestinal bacterial infections such as Citrobacter rodentium and vancomycinresistant Enterococcus faecium (VRE) (Zheng et al. 2008; Cella et al. 2009; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Abt et al. 2016), as well as for host resistance to colitis (Figure 9) (Cox et al. 2012). Furthermore, IL-22 produced by ILCs can protect mice from graft-versus-host disease (GVHD)-associated or chemotherapy-induced intestinal damage by protecting intestinal stem cells and inducing them to promote epithelial regeneration (Hanash et al. 2012; Lindemans et al. 2015; Aparicio-Domingo et al. 2015; Munneke et al. 2014). ILC3s can also mediate immune responses independently of their ability to secrete cytokines. A recent study has shown that they express major histocompatibility complex II (MHC-II) and can therefore present antigen to CD4⁺ T cells (Figure 9) (Hepworth et al. 2013). This interaction is thought to limit CD4⁺ T cell responses against commensal microbiota and mice lacking MHC-II on ILC3 exhibit abnormal intestinal inflammation (Hepworth et al. 2013). Conversely, ILC3s can be pathogenic, as they are required to induce colitis in a bacteria-driven colitis model as well as the anti-CD40 colitis model (Buonocore et al. 2010) and are

thought to contribute to epidermal thickening in psoriasis patients (Figure 9) (Teunissen et al. 2014; Villanova et al. 2014).

IV. Summary

ILCs are an important subset of lymphocyte that is critical for early defenses against bacteria, viruses, parasites, and tumors. The development and function of these cells are exquisitely controlled by a vast array of transcription factors and cytokines. Here, we describe the identification of the transcription factor Nfil3 as an essential component in the developmental pathway of all ILC subsets and the subsequent disease susceptibility of *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice. We also describe the dispensability of cell-intrinsic TGF- β signaling in the development of conventional peripheral NK cells and the role of TGF- β in the generation and maintenance of virus-specific memory NK cells.



FIGURE 8 | NK CELL RESPONSES TO MCMV INFECTION

MCMV infected cells express the virally-encoded m157 glycoprotein on their cell surface, which is recognized by the Ly49H activating receptor on NK cells (1a). Receptor engagement in combination with pro-inflammatory cytokines (1b) induce the NK cell to release lytic molecules (2a) to kill the target cell, as well as to release pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ (2b). Ly49H⁺ NK cells will also clonally proliferate in response to these activating stimuli (2c). These MCMV-specific NK cells will later contract (3) to form a long-lived memory pool that can be reactivated upon secondary infection (4).



Reprinted from Immunity, 39. Sonnenberg, GF. Mjösberg, J. Spits, H. Artis, D. Snapshot: Innate Lymphoid Cells. 622. Copyright (2013), with permission from Elsevier.

FIGURE 9 | INNATE LYMPHOID CELL FUNCTION

ILCs perform many different functions in immunity. In the skin (3) ILC2s contribute to allergic inflammation while ILC3s can promote epidermal thickening. In the lung (4) ILC2s contribute to airway hyperreactivity as well as immunity to parasites. They can also aid tissue repair by producing amphiregulin. In the intestine (5) ILC1s contribute to inflammation, while ILC2s aid in parasite immunity and ILC3s can mediate colitis or tissue repair. In lymphoid tissue (6) LTi cells promote lymphoid organogenesis by releasing cytokines and promoting chemokine expression. ILC3 can also limit CD4⁺ T cell responses by expression of MHC-II. In the adipose tissue (7), ILC2 recruit eosinophils.

Chapter 2: Nfil3 is Crucial for the Development of all Innate Lymphoid Cells

I. Introduction

With their importance in antimicrobial and autoimmune functions as well as in tissue homeostasis and wound healing, there is currently great interest in understanding exactly how ILCs develop and function. As previously described, ILCs require IL-7 and the IL-2 receptor common γ chain for their development, but do not undergo antigen receptor rearrangement (Spits and Di Santo 2011; Spits and Cupedo 2012). Transcription factors required to promote differentiation of different ILC lineages were outlined in Chapter 1. We were one of the first groups to identify the requirement for nuclear factor IL-3 regulated (Nfil3, also called E4BP4) in the development of all ILC lineages. This discovery has given us great insight into the early stages of ILC development, and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice have proved to be a useful tool to study the role of ILCs in infection and cancer.

1. The Transcription Factor Nfil3/E4BP4

Nfil3 is a member of the basic leucine zipper (bZIP) family of transcription factors, which is comprised of five main classes: CREB/ATF, AP1, C/EBP, NF-E2, and PAR (Cowell 2002). Nfil3 is most closely related to the PAR class of bZIP factors, which is defined by factors containing a large basic region, highly similar DNA-binding sequences, and a proline and acid residue rich (PAR) region. Nfil3 contains the basic region and has a PAR-like DNA binding sequence, but lacks the PAR domain (Cowell 2002). Although PAR factors are

typically activators, Nfil3 has been reported to be a transcriptional repressor in some contexts (Cowell et al. 1992; Cowell and Hurst 1994; Kobayashi et al. 2011). However, Nfil3 has also been reported to act as a transactivator in T cells, inducing the transcription of IL-3 (Zhang et al. 1995). The activity of Nfil3 as an activator or repressor is likely determined by the cell type-specific availability of cofactors (Cowell 2002).

2. Nfil3 in the Immune System

Nfil3 controls a wide range of functions in many immune cell types (Figure 10). It has been shown to induce transcription of IL-3 in T cells (Zhang et al. 1995) and promotes production of IL-10 and IL-13 by Th1 cells (Motomura et al. 2011), but suppresses type 2 cytokine production by T_n2 cells (Kashiwada, Cassel, et al. 2011). It promotes survival of pro-B cells and is also required for class-switching to IgE (Ikushima et al. 1997; Kashiwada et al. 2010). It suppresses transcription of IL-12 p40 in macrophages (Kobayashi et al. 2011) and is required for the development of CD8⁺ dendritic cells, possibly upstream of BATF3 (Kashiwada, Pham, et al. 2011). Furthermore, it has been shown to suppress T_h17 development in a manner linked to the circadian clock (Yu et al. 2013). However, the most striking phenotype in *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice is the near complete absence of NK cells and ILC1 (Firth et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013; Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada et al. 2010). The role of Nfil3 in other ILC lineages has only recently been elucidated.



Reprinted from Trends in Immunology, 33. Male, V. Nisoli, I. Gascoyne, DM. Brady, HJM. E4BP4: an unexpected player in the immune response. 98-102, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier.

FIGURE 10 | NFIL3 IN IMMUNE CELLS

Nfil3 (E4BP4) has many roles in immune cells. It is required for the development of NK cells and CD8⁺ dendritic cells. It is also required for B cell class switching to IgE and promotes survival of pro-B cells. It suppresses IL-12 production by macrophages and affects cytokine production in T cells.

II. Results

1. Intestinal Group 3 ILCs are Severely Reduced in Nfil3-deficient Mice²

Consistent with previously reported findings (Firth et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013; Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada et al. 2010), we found a cell-intrinsic requirement for Nfil3 in NK cells and ILC1 in multiple tissues. including small intestine (SI), mesenteric lymph node (mLN), and spleen (Figure 11). Given that NK cells and ILC1s are found at extremely reduced frequency in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice at steady state, we investigated whether Nfil3 was also required for development or homeostasis of other innate lymphocyte populations. Because ILCs (identified as lineage-negative cells that co-express CD45, IL-7Rα (CD127), and Thy 1 (CD90)) are found in relatively high abundance at gut mucosal sites (Sonnenberg et al. 2013; Spits et al. 2013; Walker et al. 2013), we analyzed these innate lymphocytes (Figure 12A) in the lamina propria of small intestine (SI) and large intestine (LI), and in Peyer's patches (PP) of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice. In contrast to WT mice, *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice contained severely diminished ILC3 numbers in all intestinal sites examined (Figure 12B). The defect in ILC3 numbers in the aut was also observed in mesenteric lymph nodes and spleen of Nfi/3^{-/-} mice (Figure 12B), suggesting that the defect was not due to an inability to properly home to mucosal sites. Furthermore, the few residual intestinal ILC3s identified phenotypically from Nfil3^{-/-} mice were functionally impaired in their ability to produce IL-22 when stimulated ex vivo with IL-23 (Figure 12C). Within the RORyt⁺ ILC3 population, intestinal CD4-expressing LTi cells from Nfil3^{-/-} mice were also dramatically reduced compared to WT mice (Figure 12D), as were

both NKp46⁻ and NKp46⁺ ILC3s (Figure 12E), demonstrating the critical role of Nfil3 for the development of all type 3 ILCs.

2. Cell-intrinsic Requirement for Nfil3 in ILC3 Development²

To rule out the possibility that ILC-extrinsic factors in Nfil3^{-/-} mice may underlie the observed ILC3 defects, we generated mixed bone marrow chimeric mice where lethally irradiated, congenically-distinct recipient mice (CD45.1) received a 1:1 mixture of bone marrow from WT (CD45.1x2) and *Nfil3^{-/-}* (CD45.2) mice. We analyzed the mice 8-12 weeks following bone marrow transplantation (BMT), as we have previously observed development of donor ILC3s in recipient intestines at this time post-BMT (Hanash et al. 2012). Although there were no substantial differences in myeloid, T, or B cell chimerism (Figure 13), intestinal ILC3s from the WT donor population greatly outnumbered the ILC3s from the *Nfil3^{-/-}* donor population (Figure 14A). In the chimeric mice, ILC3 development from *Nfil3^{-/-}* donor marrow was impaired in multiple compartments, including SI, LI, and PP, compared to the WT donor population (Figure 14B). Furthermore, upon ex vivo stimulation of total ILC3s with IL-23, the IL-22-producing cells were overwhelmingly found within the WT population (Figure 14C). Because the mixed chimera setting possesses both WT stromal and hematopoietic elements, our findings imply that Nfil3 acts in a cell-intrinsic manner to drive ILC3 development and/or homeostasis.

3. Nfil3 is Essential for Resistance Against Intestinal Pathogens²

ILC3s have been shown to be critical for host protection against the murine enteric pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium*, as mice lacking ILC3s or

depleted of ILCs become susceptible to bacterial dissemination and mortality (Cella et al. 2009; Qiu et al. 2012; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Sonnenberg et al. 2012; Sonnenberg et al. 2011). Given the defective ILC3 numbers in Nfi/3^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice, we next investigated whether Nfi/3^{-/-} mice were more susceptible to oral challenge with C. rodentium. In our studies, WT and Nfil3^{-/-} mice, along with Nfil3^{+/-} heterozygous control mice containing intact ILC3 development, were co-housed for a minimum of 2-3 weeks before infection to ensure normalization of mouse commensal microbial communities (Elinav et al. 2011; Ubeda et al. 2012). Following oral C. rodentium infection, all three experimental cohorts were assessed for disease status and bacterial titers (Figure 15A). Within 4 days post-infection (PI), Nfil3^{-/-} mice began to lose body weight at a greater rate than WT mice or *Nfil3*^{+/-} littermates (Figure 15B), despite comparable C. rodentium titers in all experimental groups early after infection (Figure 16). The Nfi/3^{-/-} mice showed significantly greater weight loss at day 7 and 11 PI, whereas WT and $Nfil3^{+/-}$ mice maintained body weight (Figure 15B). All groups were sacrificed at day 11 PI and Nfil3^{-/-} mice had higher bacterial titers within cecal contents (Figure 15C) with some showing bacterial dissemination to the liver (Figure 16), compared with control groups. Consistent with C. rodentium-induced colitis, infected Nfil3^{-/-} mice had shorter colons relative to WT and $Nfil3^{+/-}$ mice (Figure 15D), even though we have not observed shorter colons in uninfected Nfil3^{-/-} mice (Figure 17). Finally, WT but not Nfil3^{-/-} ILC3s dominated the total intestinal ILC3 population in chimeric mice infected with C. rodentium (Figure 15E), suggesting that inflammation generated during infection is unable

to expand or recruit gut ILC3s lacking Nfil3. The inability of ILC3s to undergo prolific expansion was confirmed by the lack of BrdU incorporation in mice infected with either *C. rodentium* or MCMV (Figure 18), the latter of which was previously shown to drive Ly49H⁺ NK cells to expand in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice (Firth et al. 2013).

Next, we tested susceptibility of Nfil3^{-/-} mice against pathogenic bacteria using a clinically relevant model of intestinal Clostridium difficile infection. C. difficile is an opportunistic gram-positive bacterium that can cause severe colitis and diarrhea when the normal microbiota is disrupted following antibiotic treatment (Rupnik et al. 2009) and the incidence of infection in hospital settings is increasing, especially among BMT patients (Kelly and LaMont 2008). As with the C. rodentium model, experimental mice were first co-housed for 2-3 weeks; mice were then treated with an antibiotic regimen (diagrammed in Figure 15F) previously shown to disrupt the intestinal microbiota and induce susceptibility to C. difficile spores and colitis (Buffie et al. 2012). Antibiotic-treated Nfi/3^{-/-} mice orally challenged with a pathogenic strain of C. difficile demonstrated extreme weight loss within 48-72 hours PI, in contrast to WT and Nfil3^{+/-} heterozygous mice (Figure 15G). Within 3 days PI, all of the Nfil3^{-/-} mice succumbed to C. difficile infection whereas control groups recovered from initial weight loss (Figure 15H). Together with the C. rodentium studies, infection with C. difficile demonstrates that the transcription factor Nfil3 contributes to host protection against multiple intestinal bacterial pathogens.

4. Development of the ILC Precursor Depends on Nfil3²

To better understand at which developmental stage Nfil3 is required for generation of mature ILC3s, we analyzed the expression level of Nfil3 mRNA in the earliest progenitor cells by microarray, and in ILC precursors and mature ILC3s by qRT-PCR. We found that Nfil3 expression increases as the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) differentiates into the multi-potent progenitor (MPP) and then the Id2-expressing common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) (Figure 19A). Indeed, these data are consistent with recent findings demonstrating Nfil3 expression as early as the CLP stage (Male et al. 2014). From the CLP to ILC precursor (ILCP) to mature ILC3 stage, Nfil3 expression continues to increase, with highest levels of Nfil3 in gut ILC3 (Figure 19A). Thus, we analyzed CLP (Lin-CD45⁺ CD27⁺ CD127⁺ c-Kit⁺) and ILCP (Lin⁻ CD45⁺ CD27⁺ CD127⁺ c-Kit⁺ CD135⁻ $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$) populations in the bone marrow of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice (Figure 19B), using surface markers previously described to delineate these precursors (Fathman et al. 2011; Cherrier et al. 2012; Possot et al. 2011; Sawa et al. 2010; Serafini et al. 2014; Walker et al. 2013). Whereas CLP numbers in the bone marrow were comparable between WT and Nfil3^{-/-} mice, ILCP numbers were strikingly reduced in Nfil3^{-/-} mice (Figure 19C), suggesting that Nfil3 is required for the transition from the CLP stage to the ILCP stage. Thus, it is possible that Nfil3 is expressed earlier than and may regulate the expression of RORyt and Gata3, neither of which is expressed in CLP, although ILCP expressed Gata3 (Figure 19D), consistent with recent findings (Serafini et al. 2014).

5. Nfil3-independent Maintenance of Mature NKp46⁺ ILC3s²

Expression of Nfil3 in mature ILC3s is greater than in conventional NK cells (Figure 19A) (Klose et al. 2014), even though maintenance of mature NK cells is Nfil3-independent (Firth et al. 2013). Our data and previous studies have found that a large fraction of intestinal ILC3s express the activating receptor NKp46 (Figure 12E) (Cella et al. 2009; Sanos et al. 2009; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Sawa et al. 2010). To investigate whether Nfil3 is required for maintenance of a mature ILC3 population beyond the developmental stage when NKp46 is first expressed, we crossed Nkp46^{iCre} mice (Narni-Mancinelli et al. 2011), which express Cre-recombinase under control of the NKp46 gene, to Nfil3^{fl/fl} mice (Motomura et al. 2011). Nfil3^{fl/fl} x Nkp46^{iCre} mice contained a normal number of mature intestinal ILC3s compared to littermate control mice lacking Cre expression (Figure 19E). Similar ILC3 frequencies were also found in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes of Nfil3^{fl/fl} x Nkp46^{iCre} mice and littermate controls (Figure 19F). Together, these data suggest that Nfil3 is required for ILC3s at a developmental stage preceding the acquisition of NKp46 expression, and that the maintenance of NKp46⁺ ILC3s is independent of Nfil3.

6. ILC2 Populations are Severely Diminished in Nfil3-deficient Mice²

Given the dependence of ILC3s on Nfil3, as well as the previously reported dependence of Type 1 ILCs on Nfil3 (Firth et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013; Gascoyne et al. 2009; Kamizono et al. 2009; Kashiwada et al. 2010), we investigated whether type 2 ILCs are also diminished in Nfil3-deficient mice. ILC2s have been characterized as the predominant subset of ILC in healthy

lungs, and can mediate lung inflammatory responses and pulmonary immunity against pathogens (Sonnenberg et al. 2013; Spits and Cupedo 2012; Walker et al. 2013). We discovered that $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ mice contain markedly reduced numbers of ILC2s (identified as Lineage-negative cells that co-express CD45, IL-7Ra (CD127), Thy 1 (CD90), and Gata3) (Figure 20A) in lung tissue relative to WT mice (Figure 20B). Because ILC2s have also been described to constitute a major source of T_h2 cytokines in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) (Molofsky et al. 2013; Moro et al. 2010), we investigated whether ILC2s were defective in the VAT of Nfil3^{-/-} mice. Indeed, compared to WT mice, both ILC2 numbers and function (as measured by IL-13 secretion) were drastically diminished within VAT of Nfil3^{-/-} mice (Figure 20C-D), demonstrating that the ILC2 defect in the absence of Nfil3 is not restricted to the lungs. A recent study showed that a consequence of ILC2 presence in the lungs is the regulation of basal eosinophil homeostasis (Nussbaum et al. 2013). When we assessed eosinophils in the lungs of Nfil3-/mice, we found diminished numbers compared to WT mice (Figure 20E), suggesting that Nfil3 control of ILC2 development may contribute to regulating tissue eosinophil accumulation at steady state. Using 1:1 WT:Nfil3^{-/-} mixed chimeric mice, as described earlier (Figure 14), we found that ILC2 in lung and VAT consisted of cells derived from WT marrow in significantly greater frequency than from *Nfil3^{-/-}* marrow (Figure 20E-F), suggesting that like ILC3s, development of ILC2s requires Nfil3 activity via a cell-intrinsic mechanism. Altogether, these findings demonstrate that Nfil3 deficiency results in the disrupted development of ILC1, ILC2, and ILC3 subsets.

7. *Nfil3^{-/-}* and WT Mice Develop Similar Levels of Colitis After DSS Treatment

Given the susceptibility of $Nfil3^{-/-}$ mice to intestinal infections, we next wanted to examine whether they would be more susceptible to colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium (DSS). DSS directly damages colonic epithelial cells and results in inflammation and destruction of colonic crypts (Ni et al. 1996; Cooper et al. 1993; Okayasu et al. 1990). Clinically, mice display diarrhea, rectal bleeding, and weight loss (Okayasu et al. 1990). These features make it a useful mouse model of ulcerative colitis and inflammatory bowel disease (Chassaing et al. 2014). It is particularly suitable for our studies because adaptive immunity is not thought to play a major role in pathology (Dieleman et al. 1994). As Nfil3^{-/-} mice had previously shown to develop spontaneous colitis (Kobayashi et al. 2014), we hypothesized that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice would be more susceptible to DSS-induced colitis. For this reason, we first titrated the DSS dose on WT mice (Figure 21), and chose a relatively low dose (1.5%) that was able to induce mild disease in WT mice with no morbidity. However, at this low dose, we found that Nfi/3^{-/-} mice lost a similar amount of weight (Figure 22B) and had a similar disease activity index (DAI) (Cooper et al. 1993) (Figure 22C) compared to their WT littermates. Similarly, with 1.8% DSS treatment we do not observe a significant difference in disease severity between Nfil3^{-/-} and WT mice (Figure 22D-F). In addition, Nfil3^{-/-} mice had similar colonic shortening, a measure of colitis severity (Figure 22F), compared to their littermate controls after 1.8% DSS treatment. However, at moderate doses of DSS, Nfil3^{-/-} mice may be slightly more susceptible to

disease. With 2.0% DSS treatment, *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice lose a similar amount of weight (Figure 23A) and have a similar DAI (Figure 23B), but have slightly increased morbidity (Figure 23C), though this difference was not statisitically significant. Increasing the dose to 2.5% DSS resulted in slightly more weight loss in *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice compared to WT and heterozygous littermates (Figure 23D), and *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice had an increased DAI after 7 days of DSS treatment (Figure 23E).

8. *Nfil3^{-/-}* Mice are Less Susceptible to AOM/DSS Polyp Formation

Having seen that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice are more susceptible to intestinal infections. we further wanted to investigate whether they would be more or less susceptible to colorectal cancer. A previous study had shown that IL-22 produced by ILC3s was tumor promoting in a bacteria-driven model of colon cancer (Kirchberger et al. 2013). We therefore hypothesized that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice, lacking all ILC lineages, may be less susceptible to a model of chemically-induced colitis-driven colon cancer. In this model, mice are injected with a genotoxic carcinogen, azoxymethane (AOM) and then subjected to successive cycles of the colitisinducing detergent dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) (Tanaka et al. 2003; De Robertis et al. 2011; Thaker et al. 2012). The combination of the genotoxic stress and inflammation drives the formation of colonic neoplasms including adenomas and adenocarcinomas (Tanaka et al. 2003). After establishing a dose where *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice could tolerate DSS treatment (Figure 22) we subjected WT or Nfil3deficient mice to the AOM/DSS model of colon cancer (Figure 24A). In this model, we found that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice had fewer large tumors (Figure 24C) and fewer

tumors overall (Figure 24D) compared to their littermate control mice, indicating that ILCs may be tumor promoting in this model.



FIGURE 11 | CELL-INTRINSIC REQUIREMENT FOR NFIL3 IN ILC1 AND NK CELL DEVELOPMENT

A 1:1 mixture of *Nfi/3^{-/-}* (CD45.2⁺) and WT (CD45.1⁺) bone marrow was injected into lethally irradiated recipients. After reconstitution, NK cell (NK1.1⁺ TCR- β ⁻), and ILC1 (lineage⁻ T-bet⁺ IL-7Ra⁺) chimerism was assessed in indicated organs. CD45.1⁺ x CD45.2⁺ cells represent host population. Data are representative of 3 mice per group.



FIGURE 12 | NFIL3 IS REQUIRED FOR INTESTINAL ILC3 AND LTI CELL DEVELOPMENT

(A) Gating strategy for analysis of the total ILC population (CD90.2⁺ CD127⁺ cells within the CD45⁺ Lineage⁻ population) is shown. (B) Flow cytometric plots show the percentage of RORyt⁺ ILC3s within the CD45⁺ Lineage⁻ population in the PPs. Graphs show percentage and absolute number of ILC3s within the CD45⁺ Lineage⁻ population for SI, LI, PP, MLNs, and spleen from WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice. (C) Graph shows the percentage of IL-22–producing cells within the MLN ILC3 population of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice after IL-23 stimulation. (D) Percentages of intestinal CD4⁺ RORyt⁺ LTi cells within the total ILC population of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice are shown. (E) Plots show the percentage of SI NKp46⁻ and NKp46⁺ ILC3s, and graph shows absolute numbers of LTi, NKp46⁻ ILC3, and NKp46⁺ ILC3. All data are representative of *n* = 3–5 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation, repeated in 2 (panel E) or 4 (panels B-D) independent experiments. *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.

©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212



FIGURE 13 | NFIL3 AND WT CHIMERISM IS NORMAL IN T, B, AND MYELOID CELLS

A 1:1 mixture of *Nfil3*^{-/-} (CD45.2⁺) and WT bone marrow was injected into lethally irradiated recipients. After reconstitution, NK cell (NK1.1⁺ TCR- β^-), macrophage (CD11b⁺ F4/80⁺), B cell (CD19⁺ TCR- β^-), and T cell (TCR- β^+ CD19⁻) chimerism was determined in the spleen. Ungated populations represent host. Data are representative of two independent experiments, with 3-5 mice per group.



FIGURE 14 | CELL-INTRINSIC ROLE FOR NFIL3 IN DEVELOPMENT OF ILC3S

(A) Percentages of intestinal WT (CD45.1 × 2) and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ (CD45.2) ILC3 populations in mixed BM chimeric mice are shown. The CD45.1⁺ population in each plot represents WT host ILC3s. (B) Graphs show percentages of WT and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ ILC3 derived from donor BM in the SI, LI, and PP of chimeras. (C) Representative plots and graphs show the percentage of IL-22–producing cells within the intestinal WT and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ ILC3 populations after IL-23 stimulation. All data are representative of n = 3-5 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation, repeated in 2 (C) or 3 (A and B) independent experiments. **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001; ****, P ≤ 0.0001.

©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212



FIGURE 15 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE ARE SUSCEPTIBLE TO INTESTINAL PATHOGENS

(A) Schematic of *C. rodentium* experiment. (B) Body weight of mice from WT, $Nfi/3^{+/-}$, and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ groups was assessed during the course of *C. rodentium* infection. (C and D) Infected WT, $Nfi/3^{+/-}$, and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ mice were sacrificed on day 11 PI, and *C. rodentium* colony forming units (CFU) in cecal content was determined (C), and colon length measured (D). (E) Mixed WT: $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ chimeric mice were infected with *C. rodentium*, and percentages of WT and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ cells within the total colonic ILC3 population on day 2 PI are shown. (F) Schematic of *C. difficile* experiment. (G and H) Body weight (G) and survival (H) of mice from WT, $Nfi/3^{+/-}$, and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ groups was assessed during the course of *C. difficile* infection. All data are representative of n = 3-5 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation (B–E) and SEM (G), repeated in 2 independent experiments. *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.01; ****, P ≤ 0.001; ****, P ≤ 0.0001.

©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212



FIGURE 16 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE HAVE HIGHER BACTERIAL TITERS AFTER *C. RODENTIUM* INFECTION

Left: *C. rodentium* CFU per gram of fecal pellets collected from infected mice on day 4 PI. Right: *C. rodentium* CFU per gram of the liver of infected mice on day 11 PI.



FIGURE 17 | NAÏVE NFIL3^{-/-} MICE HAVE NORMAL COLON LENGTH

Colon length of 3 month old female WT (black) and $Nfi/3^{-/-}$ (white) mice. N = 5 mice/group. Data are representative of two independent experiments.



FIGURE 18 | ILC3 DO NOT PROLIFERATE IN RESPONSE TO C. RODENTIUM OR MCMV

BrdU incorportation of ILC3 (gated on live, $CD45^+$, lineage negative, $ROR-\gamma t^+$, $CD90^+$) in the Peyer's patches of WT mice infected with *C. rodentium* (day 3 PI, top) or MCMV (day 7 PI, bottom). N = 3 mice/group.



FIGURE 19 | *NFIL3* IS CRITICAL DURING CLP TO ILCP TRANSITION BUT NOT FOR MAINTENANCE OF MATURE ILC3S

(A) Relative *Nfi/3* expression was determined by Immgen microarray dataset (left graph) and qRT-PCR (right graph) on indicated cell populations. Data are shown as fold change relative to *Nfi/3* expression in NK cells. (B) Gating strategy shown for analysis of CLP (CD127⁺ c-Kit⁺ cells within the CD45⁺ CD27⁺ Lineage⁻ population) in BM. (C) Plots show percentage of BM ILCP (CD135⁻ $\alpha 4\beta 7^{+}$) within the CLP population. Graphs show percentages of CLP and ILCP in BM and ILC3 in the spleen of WT and *Nfi/3^{-/-}* mice. (D) Histograms show expression of RORyt and Gata3 in CLP (tinted) and ILCP (black line). (E) Percentages of intestinal ILC3s in *Nfi/3^{fl/fl} × Nkp46^{iCre}* mice and littermate control (without Cre) are shown. (F) Graphs show percentage of ILC3s in the indicated tissues from *Nfi/3^{fl/fl} × Nkp46^{iCre}* mice and littermate controls. Data are representative of *n* = 3–5 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation, repeated in 2 (C–F) or 3 (A) independent experiments. *, P ≤ 0.05; ***, P ≤ 0.001.

©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212


FIGURE 20 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE ARE DEFICIENT IN LUNG AND FAT ILC2S AND EOSINOPHILS

(A) Gating strategy shown for analysis of lung ILC2 (CD90.2⁺ Gata3⁺ cells within the CD45⁺ Lineage⁻ population). (B) Percentage (of CD45⁺) and absolute number of ILC2s in lungs of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice are shown in plots and graph. (C and D) Graphs show total ILC2s (C) and IL-13–secreting ILC2s (after stimulation with PMA + Ionomycin; D) in VAT from WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice. (E) Absolute number of eosinophils (Lin⁻ CD45⁺ CD90⁻ NK1.1⁻ CD11b⁺ SiglecF⁺) in lungs of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice is shown. (F) Percentages of WT (CD45.1 × 2) and *Nfil3^{-/-}* (CD45.2) lung ILC2 populations from mixed BM chimeric mice are shown. The CD45.1⁺ population in each plot represents WT host ILC2s. (G) Graph shows percentages of WT and *Nfil3^{-/-}* lung and VAT ILC2s derived from donor BM in chimeric mice. All data are representative of *n* = 3–5 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation, repeated in 2 (E), 3 (F and G), or 4 (B–D) independent experiments. *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.

©2014 Geiger et al. J. Exp. Med. 2014. 211:1723-1731. doi:10.1084/jem.20140212



FIGURE 21 | TITRATION OF DSS DOSE IN WT MICE

WT mice were given 1.5% (blue), 2.5% (purple), or 5.0% (green) DSS in drinking water for 7 days, followed by standard water. Mice were monitored for weight loss during DSS treatment and subsequent recovery. N = 4-5 mice per group.



FIGURE 22 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE ARE NOT MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO LOW DOSES OF DSS

(A) *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice and their WT littermates were cohoused for at least two weeks before being given 1.5% (B,C) or 1.8% (D-F) DSS in drinking water for 7 days followed by 5-7 days of standard water. Mice were monitored for weight loss (B, D) and disease activity index (C, E) throughout DSS treatment and rest. Disease activity index is a combined measure of disease severity using a blood, stool, and weight score. Blood scoring: 0 = no blood, 1 = hemoccult +, 2 = visible blood in stool, 3 = blood on anus. Stool scoring: 0 = normal stool, 2 = loose stool, 3 = diarrhea. Weight scoring: weight loss: 0 (no loss), 1 (1-5%), 2 (5-10%), 3 (10-20%), and 4 (>20%). Colon length of mice given 1.8% DSS was also measured at the endpoint (F). N= 5-9 mice/group. Data are displayed as mean with error bars showing standard deviation.



FIGURE 23 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE ARE SLIGHTLY MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO MODERATE DOSES OF DSS

Nfil3^{-/-} mice and their WT and heterozygous littermates were cohoused for at least two weeks before being given 2.0% (A-C) or 2.5% (D-E) DSS in drinking water for 7 days followed by 7 days of standard water (A-C) or sacrifice (D-E). Mice were monitored for weight loss (A,D) and disease activity index throughout DSS treatment (B) or after 7 days on DSS (E). Disease activity index is a combined measure of disease severity using a blood, stool, and weight score. Blood scoring: 0 = no blood, 1 = hemoccult +, 2 = visible blood in stool, 3 = blood on anus. Stool scoring: 0 = normal stool, 2 = loose stool, 3 = diarrhea. Weight scoring: weight loss: 0 (no loss), 1 (1-5%), 2 (5-10%), 3 (10-20%), and 4 (>20%). Mice given 2.0% DSS were also monitored for morbidity (C). N= 3-6 mice/group. Data are displayed as mean with error bars showing standard deviation.



FIGURE 24 | *NFIL3^{-/-}* MICE ARE LESS SUSCEPTIBLE TO AOM/DSS COLON POLYPS

(A) *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice were co-housed with WT and heterozygous littermates for at least two weeks before being injected with 10 mg/kg AOM intraperitonealy (i.p.). Mice were then allowed to rest for 7 days, followed by successive cycles of 1.5% DSS in the drinking water and rest periods. Weight loss was measured over the course of DSS treatment (B) and the mice were euthanized and number of colon polyps were counted and measured using methelyne blue staining 98 days after AOM treatment. *Nfil3*^{-/-} mice had significantly fewer large tumors (\geq 3 mm) than littermates (C) and significantly fewer tumors overall (D). All data are representative of N = 4–7 mice per group, with error bars showing standard deviation, repeated in 2 independent experiments. *, P ≤ 0.05.

III. Discussion

In summary, we have demonstrated that Nfil3 is a critical transcription factor promoting all ILC lineages. Mice deficient in Nfil3 lack group 1, group 2, and group 3 ILCs, likely due to the loss of the αLP early ILC progenitor. Our findings suggest Nfil3 may act as a "master regulator" for the ILC lineage. However, exactly how Nfil3 fits into the larger network of transcription factors governing ILC development requires further study. For example, while Nfil3-/mice display a severe ILC deficiency in all organs we studied, some residual ILCs do appear to develop, and the number and percentage varies between organs. Whether these represent a unique developmental lineage of ILC or ILCs that have managed to bypass the requirement for Nfil3 in some other way is currently unknown. One hypothesis for the presence of these Nfil3-independent ILCs is that baseline inflammation in different tissue types may be able to drive out a small percentage of ILCs. It has been shown that MCMV infection and the resulting activating and pro-inflammatory environment is able to drive out Nfil3independent NK cells (Firth et al. 2013). Furthermore, the relationship between Nfil3 and other early ILC factors remains unclear. The transcription factors Tox and Id2 are thought to be downstream of Nfil3. However, as we and others have shown, Nfil3^{-/-} mice develop lymph nodes in the absence of ILC precursors (Seillet, Rankin, et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2015), while Tox and Id2 deficient mice lack both ILC precursors and lymph nodes (Yokota et al. 1999; Aliahmad et al. 2010). This suggests a putatitive second factor that may act in concert with or in place of Nfil3 to regulate Tox and Id2 (Seehus and Kaye 2015). Alternatively, Nfil3, Tox,

and Id2 may be regulated differently during fetal development than they are in an adult. In support of this idea, more CHILPs were found in fetal livers of *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice than in adult bone marrow (Xu et al. 2015). Furthermore, a novel ILC precursor has been identified in the fetal intestine that may seed ILC populations during early development (Bando et al. 2015), but it has not yet been reported whether this population depends on Nfil3.

Our findings further suggest that Nfil3 expression is critical for maintaining early immunity at mucosal surfaces. In the *C. rodentium* model, it has been well established that ILC3s are critical for protection (Cella et al. 2009; Qiu et al. 2012; Satoh-Takayama et al. 2008; Sonnenberg et al. 2012; Sonnenberg et al. 2011), consistent with our findings that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice, lacking all ILC subsets, are more susceptible to the disease. NK cells have also been reported to help control bacterial loads and dissemination in *C. rodentium* infected mice (Hall et al. 2013), which may also be contributing to our phenotype. In the *C. difficile* model where we see severe weight loss and morbidity in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice, recent work has shown that it is mainly ILC1s and their production of IFN- γ , with some contribution from ILC3s, that mediate protection (Abt et al. 2015).

The loss of ILCs in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice may also render them susceptible to spontaneous colitis (Kobayashi et al. 2014). Consistent with this finding is a report that colonic mononuclear cells from Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis patients express lower levels of Nfil3 compared to noninflammatory controls (Kobayashi et al. 2011). Genome-wide association studies have also identified the Nfil3 locus as a risk factor in human inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)

(Jostins et al. 2012). However, we surprisingly see only very modest increased susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice. One potential reason for this is that Nfil3^{-/-} mice of different ages may have differences in their susceptibility to colitis. Though Kobayashi et al. showed that *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice have shorter colons that WT mice at 12-18 weeks of age, the majority of their mice did not display rectal prolapse until around 35 weeks of age (Kobayashi et al. 2014). The mice used in our DSS studies were between 12 and 20 weeks of age and we do not observe differences in colon length at that age. It is therefore possible that susceptibility to colitis is an age-related phenotype in Nfi/3^{-/-} mice. It is also likely that microbiota differences between facilities contributes to colitis susceptibility, given that the spontaneous colitis in the same strain of Nfil3^{-/-} mice has varying penetrance and severeity between different institutions (Kobayashi et al. 2014). Furthermore, it is possible that inflammation induced by DSS treatment is able to drive out some Nfil3-independent ILCs, masking any phenotype due to ILC-deficiency. On the other hand, it has been suggested that chronic DSS-induced colitis is partially mediated by a shift in the balance between protective IL-22-producing ILC3 and pathogenic IFN-y-producing ILC1 (Kimura et al. 2012). Therefore, it is possible that Nfil3^{-/-} mice do not show increased pathology compared to WT littermates because they lack both the protective and the pathogenic ILCs. Conversely, Nfil3⁻ ⁻⁻ mice appear less susceptible to colorectal cancer in a DSS-induced colitisdriven model. This is potentially due to their lack of ILC3s, consistent with a study showing that ILC-derived IL-22 is pro-tumorigenic in a related model of colon cancer (Kirchberger et al. 2013). IL-22 has also been shown to be tumor

promoting in human colon cancer patients (Jiang et al. 2013), likely through STAT3, a known tumor promoter (Yu et al. 2009).

The status of Nfil3 as an early developmental factor for all ILCs makes it a crucial avenue for future study. Further investigation into both genes regulating Nfil3 and targets of Nfil3 will help identify and elucidate the relationships between the ILC lineages. The importance of Nfil3 in so many disease models further indicates its potential as a risk factor or therapeutic target in human disease.

IV. Materials and Methods

1. Mice²

Wildtype C57BL/6 (B6), congenic (CD45.1 and CD45.1xCD45.2), *Nfil3^{-/-}* (Kashiwada et al. 2010), *Nfil3^{fl/fl}* (Motomura et al. 2011), and *Nkp46^{iCre}* (Narni-Mancinelli et al. 2011) mice were bred and maintained at MSKCC. Mice were housed and maintained according to Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center guidelines, and all experiments were carried out in accordance with MSKCC Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approval and institutional guidelines. Mixed bone marrow chimeric mice were generated, as previously described (Sun et al. 2009). In oral infection studies, mice were co-housed for a period of 2-3 weeks prior to bacteria challenge in order to normalize bacteria flora between experimental groups. Wildtype controls were age and sex-matched C57BL/6 mice or WT littermates, as indicated.

2. Bacterial Infections and Titers²

In *C. rodentium studies*, mice were inoculated by oral gavage with 108 CFU (in 200 μ L) of an overnight LB culture of *C. rodentium* (strain DBS100). Infected mice were assessed for body weight, signs of morbidity, and bacterial titers. To determine *C. rodentium* titers, fecal or cecal contents were mechanically homogenized in PBS and 10-fold serial dilutions cultured overnight on MacConkey's agar, as previously described (Sonnenberg et al. 2011). In *C. difficile* studies, mice were treated with antibiotic water (0.25g/L metronidazole, 0.25g/L neomycin, and 0.25g/L vancomycin) from day -6 to -3 and received 200 μ g clindamycin i.p. on day -1 prior to infection with 200 CFU of *C. difficile* spores (strain VPI 10463) by oral gavage. Infected mice were assessed for body weight and signs of morbidity (Buffie et al. 2012).

3. Viral Infection

MCMV (Smith strain) was obtained from L. Lanier (University of California San Francisco). MCMV was twice passaged through BALB/c hosts and stocks were generated by douncing salivary glands of mice 3 weeks after MCMV infection. Mice were infected by i.p. injection of approximately 7.5×10^3 PFU of MCMV in 500 uL of PBS.

4. BrdU Injection and Staining

Mice were given BrdU (5-Bromo-2'-Deoxyuridine) (Sigma) on day 2 (*C. rodentium*, 1.0 ug) or day 3 (MCMV, 1.5 ug) post-infection by i.p. injection. Mice were euthanized and ILCs from day 3 (*C. rodentium*) and day 7 (MCMV) infected mice were stained with an anti-BrdU mAb (BD Biosciences).

5. Isolation of ILC Subsets and Ex Vivo Stimulation²

Spleens, mesenteric lymph nodes, and Peyer's patches were mechanically crushed into single cell suspensions. Lungs, intestines, and fat were digested in collagenase type 4 (Worthington), collagenase D (Roche), and collagenase type 2 (Worthington) respectively. To assess production of cytokines, ILC2 and ILC3 cells were stimulated for 3 hours at 37°C in complete RPMI + 10% FBS with 1:1000 Brefeldin A (BD), 1:1000 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma), and 40 ng/mL IL-23 (for ILC3 stimulation) or 0.1ug/mL PMA + 1ug/mL ionomycin (for ILC2 stimulation), followed by intracellular staining. Unstimulated controls (media only) were used to determine gating strategy for flow cytometric plots in figures.

6. Flow Cytometry²

Single cell suspensions were generated from indicated organs and incubated with the anti-Fc receptor antibody 2.4G2 prior to staining with indicated monoclonal antibodies (Biolegend, eBioscience, BD) for 20 min on ice. In certain experiments, staining was performed on transcription factors and intracellular cytokines using the FoxP3 staining kit (eBioscience) according to manufacturer protocols. Lineage-negative cells are defined as lacking surface CD3, CD4, CD5, CD8, CD11b, CD11c, CD19, CD49b, Gr-1, and NK1.1. Samples were acquired using an LSRII flow cytometer with FACSDiva software (BD), and analysis was performed with FlowJo 9.6 software (TreeStar).

7. Quantitative Real Time-PCR²

Bone marrow CLP (lin⁻ c-kit⁺ sca1⁺ flt3⁺ IL-7Ra⁺), and ILCP (lin- c-kit⁺ sca1⁺ flt3⁻ IL-7Ra⁺ $\alpha 4\beta 7^{+}$), gut ILC3 (lin⁻ Rorc⁺ IL-7Ra⁺) were sorted to ~99% purity on an

Aria II cytometer (BD Biosciences). Cell lysis was subsequently carried out using Tri-Reagent (Ambion) and RNA was purified using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (with on-column DNase I treatment), and MuLV reverse transcriptase and oligo(dT)16 primers (Applied Biosystems) were used for cDNA synthesis. iQ Sybr Green SuperMix (BioRad) was used for gRT-PCR. Data were normalized to expression of β -actin and expressed as relative target abundance via the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method, where Ct (threshold cycle) is the cycle number at which the amplification curve intersects the threshold value. The primer sets used for qRT-PCR are the following: Nfil3 forward, 5'-AATTCATTCCGGACGAGAAG-3'; Nfil3 reverse, 5'-5'-CGATCAGCTTGTTCTCCAAA-3'; β-actin forward, TGCGTGACATCAAAGAGAAG-3'; 5'and β-actin reverse, CGGATGTCAACGTCACACTT-3'.

8. Statistical Analysis²

Results are expressed as mean with error bars showing \pm SD unless otherwise indicated. Data were analyzed using two-tailed unpaired Students t-test with Welch's correction or one-way ANOVA (with multiple comparisons where applicable). All analyses were performed using Prism 5.0b (GraphPad) software, and differences were considered significant when p \leq 0.05. Symbols in figures denote statistical significance: * p \leq 0.05, ** p \leq 0.01, *** p \leq 0.001, **** p \leq 0.0001.

9. AOM/DSS Treatment and Tumor Counting

Mice were injected with 10 mg/kg azoxymethane in PBS (AOM, Sigma Aldrich) by intraperitoneal injection. Indicated percentages of dextran sulfate sodium

(DSS, Affymetrix) by weight were provided in drinking water *ad libitum*. Stool samples were tested for occult blood using Hemoccult test kit (Beckman Coulter). Colons were removed, flushed with cold PBS, linearized, and fixed in 10% formalin for 4 hours at room temperature, then moved to 70% ethanol. For polyp counting and measurement, colon sections were stained in methylene blue and examined under a microscope.

Chapter 3: TGF-β is Dispensable for NK cell

Development

I. Introduction

NK cells are controlled by a balance of activating and inhibitory receptors as well as pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Activating receptors or proinflammatory cytokines trigger NK cells to secrete interferon (IFN)- γ (Stetson et al. 2003) or lytic molecules such as perforin and granzymes (Smyth et al. 2005). Though these activating signals have been well studied, much less is known about how anti-inflammatory signals, such as the regulatory cytokine TGF- β , might influence NK cell development and function.

1. TGF- β Signaling

TGF-β is a cytokine important in controlling many immune cell types. TGF- β 1^{-/-} mice develop a severe autoimmune inflammatory disease (Shull et al. 1992; Kulkarni et al. 1993). The TGF-β superfamily consists of three homologous isoforms of TGF-β: TGF-β1, TGF-β2, and TGF-β3, as well as bone morphogenic proteins (BMP), activins, and other groups of factors (Chang et al. 2002; Govinden and Bhoola 2003). TGF-β is secreted in a latent form, as a homodimer non-covalently associated with a homodimer of a protein called latency associated peptide (LAP). This complex is also sometimes associated with latent-TGF-β-binding protein (LTBP) (Annes et al. 2003), which can target TGF-β to the extracellular matrix (Li and Flavell 2008). Latent TGF-β can be activated *in vivo* by interaction with the protease plasmin, the protein thrombospondin-1, or

 $\alpha V\beta 6$ integrin, which results in the removal of LAP (Nunes et al. 1995; Crawford et al. 1998; Yehualaeshet et al. 1999; Munger et al. 1999; Annes et al. 2004). Mice with LAP that is unable to bind integrins display the autoimmune phenotype of TGF- β deficient mice, demonstrating the critical role of integrins in TGF- β activation in vivo (Yang et al. 2007). More specifically, integrins expressed on dendritic cells (DCs) and other myeloid cells are thought to play a critical role in activating TGF- β and preventing autoimmunity and colitis (Travis et al. 2007; Lacy-Hulbert et al. 2007). Expression of $\alpha V\beta 8$ integrin on regulatory T cells is also thought to be one mechanism by which they suppress T cell inflammatory responses (Worthington et al. 2015). Active TGF- β mediates canonical signaling by binding to a type II TGF- β receptor (TGF- β RII), leading to formation of a tetrameric receptor complex consisting of two type II receptors and two type I (TGF-βRI) receptors (Figure 25) (Wrana et al. 1994). This complexation allows the constitutively active kinase domain of TGF- β RII to phosphorylate TGF- β RI, stabilizing its active conformation and allowing binding and phosphorylization of a receptor regulated Smad (R-Smad e.g. Smad2, Smad3) (Huse et al. 2001). Activated R-Smad then accumulates in the nucleus and binds common mediation Smad (co-Smad) Smad4, allowing it to interact with a DNA-binding partner and modulate transcription (Massagué et al. 2005). Non-canonical Smadindependent TGF- β signaling pathways also exist, where TGF- β activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway, and other pathways (Li and Flavell 2008). TGF-BRII has also been reported to directly phosphorylate targets such as PAR6 (Massague 2012).

2. TGF-β Regulation of T cells

TGF- β inhibits the differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells into T_h1 or T_h2 cells, and prevents CD8⁺ T cells from acquiring cytotoxic capabilities (Gorelik and Flavell 2002; Ranges et al. 1987; Sad and Mosmann 1994; Swain et al. 1991; Li et al. 2007). Mice expressing a dominant-negative TGF-BRII develop autoimmunity due to spontaneous T cell activation (Gorelik and Flavell 2000), and mice with a T-cell specific TGF-BRII deletion develop severe autoimmune disease due to differentiation of T cells into cytotoxic CD8⁺ and T_h1 type cells (Marie et al. 2006). Conversely, TGF-β has been shown to support differentiation of CD8⁺ T cells by promoting expression of IL-7R α (Ouyang et al. 2013; Li et al. 2006). TGF- β inhibits T_h2 development by inhibiting expression of the key T_h2 transcripitional activator Gata3 (Gorelik et al. 2000; Heath et al. 2000). The mechanism for inhibition of Th1 development is less clear, as it does not occur in all contexts (Gorelik and Flavell 2002). For example, early production of IFN-y can release the block on T_h1 development (Sad and Mosmann 1994). TGF- β has been shown to suppress expression of the IL-12 receptor β 2-chain (IL-12R β 2), thereby potentially inhibiting a critical signaling pathway for T_h1 development (Gorham et al. 1998). TGF-β also suppresses STAT3 and STAT4 activation downstream of IL-12 (Bright and Sriram 1998). However, more recent work has shown that TGF- β mediated suppression of T_h1 differentiation is actually due to suppression of the critical T_h1 transcription factor T-bet (Gorelik et al. 2002). The cellular source of TGF-β can also be crucial to determine its effects. It has been shown that autocrine TGF- β is specifically required for differentiation of T_h17 cells

(Li et al. 2007; Gutcher et al. 2011).

It has been suggested that these "non-effector" T cells that develop in the presence of TGF-β are central memory T cells (Gorelik and Flavell 2002). TGF-β has been shown to selectively promote apoptosis of short-lived effector cells (SLECs) but not memory precursor effector cells (MPECs) in mice infected with Listeria monocytogenes, potentially by antagonizing the IL-15 dependent upregulation of the anti-apoptotic molecule Bcl-2 (Sanjabi et al. 2009). Bcl-2 expression a the peak of L. monocytogenes or LCMV infection correlates with memory cell potential in CD8⁺ T cells (Dunkle et al. 2013; Grayson et al. 2000). Furthermore, TGF- β has been shown to be required throughout the lifetime of memory T cells, as deletion of the receptor both early and late during infection significantly shifted the population towards SLECs over MPECs (Ma and Zhang 2015). This is thought to be due to alterations in their transcriptional program, with T cells deleted of TGF- β receptor during infection showing higher expression of the memory T cell associated transcription factor Eomes and lower expression of the effector associated transcription factor T-bet compared to controls (Ma and Zhang 2015). It has also been shown that TGF- β signaling is increased in virusspecific CD8⁺ T cells in chronic infections compared to acute infections and that TGF-β induces apoptosis in effector cells (Tinoco et al. 2009). Similarly, TGF- β RII-deficient CD8⁺ T cells have a defect in generating gut-resident memory cells, likely due to decreased expression of intestinal homing and retention markers such as $\alpha E\beta 7$ integrins and CD69 (Zhang and Bevan 2013) Conversely, another study demonstrated that Smad4 signaling independent of the TGF-BRII

was required for central memory CD8⁺ T cell development (Hu et al. 2015). Futhermore, another group showed that blocking TGF- β signaling during T cell stimulation results in a higher percentage of central memory phenotype T cells (Takai et al. 2013). The precise role of TGF- β in the generation of memory T cells is therefore still somewhat unclear.

3. TGF-β Regulation of NK Cells

Though there are many studies investigating the role of TGF- β in regulating T cell development and function (Li and Flavell 2008), there have been comparatively few studying TGF- β in NK cells. Several cell types are thought to suppress NK cell function by secreting TGF- β , including regulatory T cells, platelets, tumor cells, and myeloid derived suppressor cells (Ghiringhelli et al. 2005; Kopp et al. 2009; Dasgupta et al. 2005; Szczepanski et al. 2011; Wahl et al. 2006; Li et al. 2009). NK cells themselves can also secrete TGF- β (Wahl et al. 2006; Gray et al. 1994). In vitro, it has been shown that TGF- β can suppress NK cell expression of activating receptors (Wilson et al. 2011; Kopp et al. 2009; Castriconi et al. 2003; Lee et al. 2004), production of IFN-y (Trotta et al. 2008; Bellone et al. 1995; Hunter et al. 1995; Wilson et al. 2011; Meadows et al. 2006), and cytotoxicity (Wilson et al. 2011; Bellone et al. 1995; Rook et al. 1986; Espevik et al. 1988; Kopp et al. 2009). This suppression of NK cell IFN-y production and cytotoxicity has been suggested as a mechanism of immune invasion in B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Rouce et al. 2015). One study has also shown that TGF- β can suppress IFN- γ production *in vivo* (Laouar et al. 2005). There is evidence suggesting that suppression of IFN-y production after II-

12 and IL-2 stimulation is not mediated through inhibition of their downstream targets STAT4 and STAT5 (Sudarshan et al. 1999). Increased concentrations of TGF- β in the plasma of cancer patients is also correlated with decreased surface expression of the activating receptor NKG2D (Lee et al. 2004; Crane et al. 2010). In mice infected with lymphocytic choriomenigitis virus (LCMV), TGF- β has also been shown to suppress NK cell proliferation (Su et al. 1993). Developmentally, TGF- β can suppress the maturation of human NK cell precursors (Allan et al. 2010) and in mice, loss of TGF- β signaling on NK cells through a dominant-negative TGF- β RII (dnTGF β RII) results in a huge increase in mature NK cells relative to wild-type mice (Marcoe et al. 2012).



FIGURE 25 | CANONICAL TGF-β SIGNALING PATHWAY

TGF- β binds a TGF- β RII, allowing formation of the tetrameric receptor complex with TGF- β RI. The kinase domain of TGF- β RII then phosphorylates TGF- β RI, allowing an R-Smad to bind and be phosphorylated. This allows the R-Smad to enter the nucleus and bind to a co-Smad, Smad4. Together with a DNA binding partner, this Smad2/3-Smad4 complex is able to modulate transcription of various target genes.

II. Results

1. Generation of *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fI/fI}* Mice

In order to study the role of TGF- β in NK cell development and function, we generated mice with a specific deletion of TGF- β signaling in NK cells by crossing mice carrying a floxed Tgfbr2 (TGF-BRII^{fl/fl}) (Chytil et al. 2002) to mice with Cre recombinase knocked-in to the NKp46 gene locus (NKp46^{iCre}) (Narni-Mancinelli et al. 2011). We will hereafter refer to NK cells from these $NKp46^{iCre}x$ $TGF-\beta RII^{f/fl}$ mice as NK-TGF- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ cells or TGF- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ NK cells (Figure 26). To confirm specific deletion of the TGF- β RII on NK-*TGF*- β RII^{-/-} cells, we first stained for TGF-βRII expression on peripheral NK cells and T cells in NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-BRII^{fl/fl} mice (Figure 27A) and compared to Cre-negative littermate controls. As expected, NK-*TGF*- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ cells lacked TGF- βRII expression, while T cells and all cells in littermate controls were unaffected. We also confirmed deletion of TGF-B signaling by testing the ability of TGF-β to suppress production of IFN-v by NK-TGF-BRIF⁻⁻ cells and NK cells from littermate controls. Upon stimulation with IL-12 and IL-18, NK cells from both groups produced IFN-γ (Figure 27B). However, when TGF-β was added to the culture medium, NK cells from littermate mice had diminished IFN-y production, as expected (Trotta et al. 2008; Wilson et al. 2011; Bellone et al. 1995). NK-*TGF-\beta RII^{-/-}* cells were unaffected (Figure 27B).

2. *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fl/fl}* Mice Have Normal NK Cells at Steady-state

We then investigated the steady state phenotype of NK cells in $NKp46^{iCre}$ x TGF- $\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ mice, as a previous study had shown an increase in mature NK cells in mice expressing a dominant negative TGF- βRII on a CD11c promoter (Marcoe et al. 2012). Unlike the previous study, however, we see no difference in the frequency of mature NK cells in our $NKp46^{iCre} \times TGF-\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ mice compared to their Cre-negative littermate controls (Figure 27C). We also see no difference in various NK cell associated receptors and markers (Figure 27D).

NK-*TGF*- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ cells also appear functionally normal. They produce similar levels of IFN- γ and express similar levels of the degranulation marker Lamp1 (CD107a) in response to *ex vivo* stimulation compared to their littermate controls (Figure 28). They also have no competitive advantage over WT NK cells in reconstituting mixed bone marrow chimeras (Figure 29).

3. TGF-β signaling is Modulated During MCMV Infection

Having seen that NK-*TGF-* β *RIF*^{-/-} cells appear normal at steady state, we wanted to investigate whether they would be able to respond normally to MCMV infection. We first tested whether TGF- β signaling might be modulated in NK cells during MCMV infection by performing reverse transcription quantitative real time PCR (RT-qPCR) for TGF- β RII on RNA from sorted NK cells from days 0, 2, 4, and 7 after infection (Figure 30). We found that TGF- β RII expression decreases in NK cells early during infection and increases above resting cell levels by day 7 after infection (Figure 30), indicating that TGF- β signaling may be abrogated early during infection when NK cells are activated. We further looked at phosphorylation of downstream targets of TGF- β signaling, Smad2 and Smad3, by flow cytometry. We found that unlike the TGF- β RII transcript, phospho-Smad2/3 was highest at day 4 after MCMV infection and decreased by day 7 (Figure 31). This could be due to a delay in kinetics, where a downmodulation of

TGF-βRII transcript at day 4 after infection may not affect downstream signals such as Smad2/3 until later.

4. NK-*TGF-\beta RII^{\prime}* cells Respond Normally to MCMV Infection

To study the behavior of Tgfbr2-deficient NK cells during MCMV infection, we infected mixed bone marrow chimeric mice harboring both WT and *TGF-* β *RII*^{-/-} NK cells. The mixed chimeric setting best allows us to eliminate influences of different virus dose or degree of inflammation, as both types of NK cells are responding to the same viral load within the same mouse. We found that NK-*TGF-* β *RII*^{-/-} cells and WT NK cells in this system expressed similar levels of activation markers (Figure 32A), FLICA, and Ki67 (Figure 32B) at day 7 after infection, indicating that NK-*TGF-* β *RII*^{-/-} cells are phenotypically similar to WT NK cells up to day 7 after MCMV infection.

5. NK-*TGF-βRI*^{-/-} cells Have Defects in Expansion and Persistence in Response to MCMV

To investigate later time points during infection, we employed the adoptive transfer system described previously (Sun et al. 2009). Briefly, we transferred WT and $NKp46^{iCre} \times TGF$ - $\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ splenocytes from mixed bone marrow chimeras into $Rag2^{-r} \times IL$ - $2R\gamma c^{-r}$ recipient mice, which lack T, B, and NK cells, and infected the recipient mice with MCMV (Figure 32C). This allowed us to track the expansion and contraction of the donor NK cell population in response to MCMV by tracking Ly49H⁺ NK cells. We find that the NK-TGF- βRII^{-r} cells do not expand as well as WT at day 7 after infection, and they appear to have decreased persistence after this initial expansion, shown by their decreased relative

percentage at day 29 after infection compared to day 7 (Figure 32C). However, we again see no difference in activation markers or Ki67 staining between Ly49H⁺ NK-*TGF-* β *RI*/^{-/-} cells and WT NK cells in this setting (Figure 32D).

In CD8⁺ T cells, two distinct effector cell populations are thought to be generated in response to viral infection: KLRG1^{hi} short-lived effector cells (SLECs) and KLRG1^{lo} memory precursor effector cells (MPECs) (Kaech and Wherry 2007). However, we see no difference in KLRG1 expression between our NK-*TGF-* β *RII^{-/-}* cells and WT NK cells either at steady state or during infection (Figure 27D, 32D). Also in CD8⁺ T cells, the transcription factors T-bet and Eomes are thought to be involved in the MPEC versus SLEC cell fate decision (Figure 33) (Pearce et al. 2003; Intlekofer et al. 2005; Joshi et al. 2007; Hamilton and Jameson 2007; Intlekofer et al. 2007; Banerjee et al. 2010). Therefore, we examined the levels of T-bet and Eomes in NK-*TGF-* β *RII^{-/-}* cells and WT NK cells in uninfected mixed bone marrow chimeras. We found no significant difference in the levels of T-bet or Eomes expressed at day 0, 2, and 7 after MCMV infection between NK-*TGF-* β *RII^{-/-}* cells and WT NK cells (Figure 34).

6. NK cells in *IL-10R^{-/-}* Mice Have a Cell-extrinsic Increase in Maturity

Given the relatively mild phenotype we see in our NK-*TGF-* β *RII*^{-/-} cells, we wondered whether another cytokine might be contributing to suppressing proinflammatory signaling during MCMV infection. There is recent evidence that the cytokine IL-10 is expressed during MCMV infection and suppresses NK cell production of IFN- γ and expression of NKG2D and NKp46 (Mandaric et al. 2012). However, that study mainly used an MCMV strain lacking the m157 glycoprotein,

so they did not directly test the role of IL-10 on the Ly49H⁺ NK cell response to MCMV. Another study used WT MCMV and found that IL-10R blockade resulted in fewer cytotoxic but more apoptotic NK cells in MCMV-infected mice (Stacey et al. 2011), but this study did not address NK cell memory. However, in CD8⁺ T cells, IL-10 signaling has been shown to be required for the maturation of memory cells after acute LCMV infection (Laidlaw et al. 2015).

We first investigated the steady-state phenotype of NK cells in mice lacking the IL-10 receptor β chain (*IL-10R^{-/-}*). We found that *IL-10R^{-/-}* mice had an increase in mature NK cells as measured by CD27 and CD11b and also an increase in NK cells expressing the activation and maturity marker KLRG1 (Figure 35A-B). However, when we generated mixed bone marrow chimeras using *IL-10R^{-/-}* and WT bone marrow, we found that this maturity and activation difference disappeared (Figure 35C-D), indicating that it is cell-extrinsic, either mediated by IL-10R-deficiency in a cell type other than NK cells, or driven by differences in the microbiota between the WT and *IL-10R^{-/-}* mice.

7. NK Cells in *IL-10R^{-/-}* Mice Have a Cell-extrinsic Defect in Persistence After MCMV Infection

We went on to test whether NK cells from $IL-10R^{-/-}$ mice had any differences in response to MCMV infection after adoptive transfer. We found that NK cells from naïve $IL-10R^{-/-}$ mice had a defect in memory cell generation or persistence after MCMV infection (Figure 36A). This is consistent with a report that KLRG1⁺ NK cells preferentially expand and generate memory NK cells compared to KLRG1⁻ NK cells (Kamimura and Lanier 2015), since we had

previously seen that *IL-10R*^{-/-} mice have an increase in KLRG1⁺ NK cells (Figure 35B). Consistently, if we transfer NK cells from *IL-10R*^{-/-} and WT mixed bone marrow chimeras, which have similar levels of KLRG1 expression on both WT and *IL-10R*^{-/-} NK cells, we see no difference in expansion or memory persistence of transferred Ly49H⁺ NK cells (Figure 36B). This indicates that the memory defect in *IL-10R*^{-/-} NK cells is cell-extrinsic and possibly due to their increased maturity at steady-state.

8. DKO NK Cells are More Mature at Steady-state

As we had so far seen relatively weak phenotypes in NK cells lacking either IL-10 or TGF- β signaling alone, we decided to test whether these signaling pathways might operate in a functionally redundant manner. We therefore crossed our two single knockout strains to generate NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fl/fl} x IL- $10R^{-/-}$ (DKO) mice. Given that *IL-10R*^{-/-} NK cells have a cell-extrinsic phenotype, we performed all of our experiments with DKO mice using mixed bone marrow chimeras. We found that DKO NK cells from mixed bone marrow chimeras express normal levels of activation markers (Figure 37A). However, unlike in the $NKp46^{iCre} \times TGF-\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ or *IL-10R^{-/-}* mice, we observed an increase in mature NK cells among DKO cells compared to WT cells (Figure 37B). In addition, we see a decrease in the expression of Eomes in DKO NK cells compared to WT NK cells at steady-state. This difference is not observed in mixed bone marrow chimeras generated from $NKp46^{WT} \times TGF-\beta RII^{fl/fl} \times IL-10R^{+/-}$ littermate controls (Figure 37C). Expression of T-bet was also slightly increased in DKO NK cells, though this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 37C).

9. DKO NK Cells Have a Diminished Response to MCMV

We also tested the levels of T-bet and Eomes in DKO NK cells after MCMV infection of mixed bone marrow chimeras. We found that 7 days after MCMV infection, DKO NK cells express higher levels of T-bet than WT NK cells (Figure 38A). Conversely, DKO NK cells express lower Eomes than WT NK cells, though this difference was not statistically significant (Figure 38B). After adoptive transfer into $Rag2^{-/-} x IL-2Ryc^{-/-}$ recipients, DKO NK cells do not expand as well as WT NK cells (Figure 38C). These findings are consistent with data in CD8⁺ T cells, where high levels of T-bet are associated with the SLEC fate (Pearce et al. 2003; Intlekofer et al. 2005; Joshi et al. 2007; Hamilton and Jameson 2007; Intlekofer et al. 2007; Banerjee et al. 2010). However, we do not observe any differences in Ki67, Bcl-2, or FLICA staining between transferred DKO and WT NK cells (Figure 38D-E).



FIGURE 26 | GENERATION OF *NKP46^{'CRE} x TGF-βRII^{FL/FL}* MICE

Mice with a specific deletion of TGF- β RII in NK cells were generated by crossing mice carrying Cre recombinase knocked-in to the NKp46 gene locus to mice carrying a floxed TGF- β RII.



FIGURE 27 | $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ Mice Have Normal NK Cells at Steady-State

(A) NK cells (left) were confirmed to have deleted TGF- β RII in *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-\betaRII^{<i>fl*/*fl*} mice (gray) compared to Cre⁻ littermates (black). T cells (right) are unaffected. Fluorescence minus one (FMO) control is indicated by the dashed line. (B) NK cells from Cre⁻ littermates (left) and *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-\betaRII^{<i>fl*/*fl*} mice (right) were stimulated with IL-12 and IL-18 with (black) or without (gray shaded) TGF- β . (C) Percentages of total NK cells (top) and mature NK cells within total (bottom) in *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-\betaRII^{<i>fl*/*fl*} mice and Cre⁻ littermates are shown by flow cytometry (D) NK cell receptors and activation marker expression on NK-*TGF-\betaRII^{<i>fl*/*fl*} cells (gray) and NK cells from Cre⁻ littermates (black). Data are representative of 2-4 experiments with 3-4 mice per group.



FIGURE 28 | $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ NK Cells Respond Normally to Ex Vivo Stimulation

NK cells from $NKp46^{iCre} \times TGF-\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ (red) or Cre⁻ littermate mice (blue) were stimulated with indicated platebound antibodies or cytokines for 5 hours at 37°C in the presence of golgi plug. The percentage of IFN- γ^+ (left) or Lamp1⁺ (right) NK cells was measured by flow cytometry. Data are representative of two independent experiments with 2-3 mice per group.



FIGURE 29 | $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ NK Cells Have No Competitive Advantage in Mixed Bone Marrow Chimeras

Pooled data from 2 sets of mixed bone marrow chimeras showing the ratio of injected bone marrow (left) and the reconstitution ratio of NK cells (right) between $NKp46^{iCre} \times TGF-\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ (red) and WT (blue).



FIGURE 30 | TGF- β RII TRANSCRIPT IN NK CELLS DECREASES EARLY AFTER MCMV INFECTION

RT-qPCR for TGF- β RII was performed on RNA extracted from sorted WT NK cells on indicated days after MCMV infection. N = 2 (d0), 4 (d2,4,7). Differences are not statistically significant unless noted. **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.



FIGURE 31 | PSMAD2/3 PEAKS AT DAY 4 AFTER MCMV INFECTION

Intranuclear flow cytometry staining was performed on NK cells from WT mice on indicated days after MCMV infection. Gated on NK1.1⁺ TCR- β ⁻ cells. Data are representative of four mice per group.



FIGURE 32 | $NKP46^{ICRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ NK Cells Have Expansion and Persistence Defects After MCMV Infection

Activation markers (A) and Ki67, FLICA (B) on *TGF-* $\beta RII^{-/-}$ (gray), WT (black), and uninfected WT (gray shaded) Ly49H⁺ NK cells in MCMV-infected mixed bone marrow chimeras at day 7 after infection. (C) Relative ratio of *TGF-* $\beta RII^{-/-}$ (gray) and WT (black) Ly49H⁺ NK cells after adoptive transfer from mixed bone marrow chimeras into $Rag2^{-/-} \times IL-2R\gamma^{-/-}$ recipients and MCMV infection. (D) Proliferation and activation markers on Ly49H⁺ *TGF-* $\beta RII^{-/-}$ (gray) and WT (black) NK cells after adoptive transfer at day 7 after MCMV infection. Data are representative of two (A-B) or four (C-D) independent experiments with 3-4 mice per group. *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.



Reprinted from Immunity, 27. Hamilton SE, Jameson SC. CD8+ T Cell Differentiation: Choosing a Path through T-bet. 180-182. Copyright (2007), with permission from Elsevier.

FIGURE 33 | T-BET AND EOMES CONTROL CD8⁺ T CELL MEMORY

Increased levels of T-bet are associated with increased numbers of SLECs (red) over MPECs (green). IL-12 induces T-bet expression and represses Eomes, indicating Eomes may play an opposing role in deciding the SLEC versus MPEC cell fate.



FIGURE 34 | T-BET AND EOMES LEVELS ARE SIMILAR IN $NKP46^{CRE} \times TGF-\beta RII^{FL/FL}$ AND WT NK CELLS BEFORE AND AFTER MCMV INFECTION

T-bet and Eomes median fluorescence intensity (MFI) in $TGF-\beta RII^{-/-}$ (gray) and WT (black) NK cells from mixed bone marrow chimeras before (Uninfected) and at days 2 and 7 post infection (PI). Bar graphs show the mean and error bars represent standard deviation (SD) and are representative of two independent experiments with 3-4 mice per group.


FIGURE 35 | NK CELLS FROM *IL-10R^{-/-}* MICE HAVE A CELL-EXTRINSIC INCREASE IN MATURITY

(A) The percentage of the most mature CD11b⁺CD27⁻ NK cells was determined by flow cytometry on cell suspensions from various organs. Cells were first gated on TCR- β^- NK1.1⁺. (B) Histograms showing KLRG1 expression on NK cells in spleen (left) and blood (right). N = 3-4 mice per group. (C) Percentage of immature (left), intermediate (center), and mature (right) NK cells in the blood of WT and *IL-10R^{-/-}* mixed bone marrow chimeras. (D) Expression of KLRG1 in blood NK cells from WT and *IL-10R^{-/-}* mixed bone marrow chimeras. Bar graphs represent the mean with error bars showing SD. Data in (C,D) are representative of two independent experiments with 8 mice. Differences are not statistically significant unless noted. **, P ≤ 0.01.



FIGURE 36 | NK CELLS FROM *IL-10R^{-/-}* MICE HAVE A CELL-EXTRINSIC DEFECT IN PERSISTENCE AFTER MCMV INFECTION

(A) The relative ratio of WT (blue) and $IL-10R^{-/-}$ (red) Ly49H⁺ NK cells transferred from naïve individual mice into Ly49H-deficient recipient mice and infected with MCMV. (B) The relative ratio of WT (blue) and $IL-10R^{-/-}$ (red) Ly49H⁺ NK cells transferred from mixed bone marrow chimeras into Ly49H-deficient recipient mice and infected with MCMV. Data are representative of two independent experiments with 3-4 mice per group. Differences are not statistically significant unless noted. **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.



FIGURE 37 | DKO NK CELLS FROM MIXED BONE MARROW CHIMERAS ARE MORE MATURE AND EXPRESS LOWER EOMES THAN WT NK CELLS

(A) Expression of KLRG1 and CD90 on DKO (red) and WT (blue) NK cells from mixed bone marrow chimeras. (B) Percentage of mature NK cells (CD11b⁺ CD27⁻) within DKO (red) and WT (blue) NK cells (gated on TCR- β^- NK1.1⁺) from mixed bone marrow chimeras. (C) Median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of T-bet and Eomes in NK cells from mixed bone marrow chimeras made with WT (CD45.1⁺, blue) and either DKO or WT littermate (CD45.2⁺, red) bone marrow. Bar graphs represent the mean with error bars showing SD. Data in (A) are representative of one experiment with 15 mice. Data in (B, C) are representative of two independent experiments with 2-8 mice. Differences are not statistically significant unless noted. **, P ≤ 0.01; ***, P ≤ 0.001.



FIGURE 38 | DKO NK CELLS ARE DEFICIENT IN THEIR RESPONSE TO MCMV INFECTION

Median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of T-bet (A) and Eomes (B) in DKO (red) and WT (blue) Ly49H⁺ NK cells in mixed bone marrow chimeras 7 days after MCMV infection. (C) Relative ratio between DKO (red) and WT (blue) Ly49H⁺ NK cells from mixed bone marrow chimeras adoptively transferred into $Rag2^{-/-} x IL-2R\gamma^{-/-}$ recipients and infected with MCMV. Connecting lines between time points indicate individual mice. MFI of Ki67 and Bcl-2 (D), and percent FLICA⁺ (E) in WT (blue) and DKO (red) Ly49H⁺ NK cells after adoptive transfer and 7 days after MCMV infection. Bar graphs represent the mean with error bars showing SD. Data represent one experiment (A, B, E) or two independent experiments (C, D) with 3-4 mice per group. Differences are not statistically significant unless noted. *, P ≤ 0.05; **, P ≤ 0.01; ****, P ≤ 0.001; ****, P ≤ 0.001

III. Discussion

Given the importance of TGF- β signaling in other lymphocytes, we were surprised to find no developmental phenotype in our NK-TGF- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ cells. This finding also conflicts with a previously published study using the CD11c-dnTGFβRII mouse, which showed a huge increase in mature NK cells (Marcoe et al. 2012). One possible reason for this discrepancy is the different promoters used. It is possible that CD11c is expressed earlier than NKp46, allowing deletion of TGF-ß signaling at an earlier stage during development and a subsequent maturation phenotype. It is also possible that another $CD11c^+$ cell type is mediating the NK cell phenotype in the CD11c-dnTGF-BRII mice. The authors accounted for this by making mixed bone marrow chimeras at different ratios of WT to CD11c-dnTGF-βRII bone marrow, up to 9:1 in favor of WT, and they nevertheless see increased maturity in the CD11c-dnTGF-BRII population (Marcoe et al. 2012). Another possibility is that differences between the dominant-negative and lox/cre systems explain the difference in phenotype. Indeed, it has been shown that the dnTGF- β RII can induce a hyperproliferation of CD8⁺ T cells when expressed on a Cd2 promoter that is not recapitulated by a mouse with a CD4-specific deletion of TGF- β RII (Ishigame et al. 2013). This indicates that the CD8⁺ T cell phenotype may be caused by the dnTGF- β RII construct itself, rather than by absence of TGF- β signaling.

We were similarly surprised to find a lack of obvious phenotype in early viral responses of NK-*TGF*- $\beta RII^{-/-}$ cells. TGF- β suppresses KLRG1 signaling in resting CD8⁺ T cells *in vitro* and CD8⁺ T cells lacking TGF- β signaling have

increased KLRG1 expression in mice infected with LCMV (Schwartzkopff et al. 2015). However, we saw no differences in KLRG1 expression either at steadystate or during infection in our NK-TGF-BRII^{-/-} cells, indicating that KLRG1 may be regulated differently in NK cells. Because the TGF-BRII transcript and Smad2/3 protein data suggest that NK cells do modulate their TGF-B signaling early during MCMV infection, we hypothesized that this cytokine would play an important role in controlling NK cell activation and proliferation. One study had previously shown that NK cells deficient in TGF- β signaling were more adept at controlling MCMV infection (Lewis et al. 2015). However, they used the CD11cdnTGF-βRII mice, which have more NK cells and more mature NK cells than WT mice (Lewis et al. 2015; Marcoe et al. 2012), complicating the interpretation. It is also possible that MCMV infection simply elicits too strong of a pro-inflammatory environment to see an effect of TGF- β during initial infection. One *in vitro* study has shown that IL-2 and IL-18 can prevent TGF-β-mediated downregulation of NKG2D (Song et al. 2006). As IL-2 and IL-18 are both produced during MCMV infection (Walton et al. 2008; Pien et al. 2000), it is possible that they are able to overcome TGF-ß mediated effects. Our observed defect in NK cell expansion and memory generation is consistent with several studies in $CD8^+$ T cells showing a preference towards the SLEC fate in mice with TGF- β insensitive T cells (Sanjabi et al. 2009; Ma and Zhang 2015; Tinoco et al. 2009). In T cells, the MPEC phenotype is associated with increased expression of Eomes, while the SLEC phenotype is associated with increased expression of T-bet (Pearce et al. 2003; Intlekofer et al. 2005; Joshi et al. 2007; Hamilton and Jameson 2007;

Intlekofer et al. 2007; Banerjee et al. 2010). Consistently, T cells lacking TGF- β signaling during infection were shown to have increased T-bet expression and decreased Eomes (Ma and Zhang 2015). Based on this finding, we expected to observe an increase in T-bet and a decrease in Eomes expression in our NK-*TGF-\betaR/I^{-/-}* cells. However, it is possible that we have simply not chosen the optimal timepoint to measure the expression of these molecules to see any differences.

Our data suggest that the TGF- β and IL-10 pathways may cooperate in some fashion in controlling NK cell development and response to MCMV infection, as the DKO NK cells are more mature at steady state and show a greater defect in MCMV responses than NK cells from either single knockout strain. There is some evidence that the pathways do interact, although TGF- β canonically acts through the Smad family of transcription factors, and IL-10 acts through the JAK/STAT pathway with STAT3. STAT3 can be phosphorylated at two different sites, serine 727 and tyrosine 705, which play different roles in controlling embryonic stem cell development (Huang et al. 2014). IL-10 has been reported to induce phosphorylation of both sites in macrophages (Zhu et al. 2015). TGF-β and downstream Smad4 have been shown to suppress tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 in cancer cells, leading to a metastatic phenotype (Zhao et al. 2008). Conversely, one group found that a JAK2-specific inhibitor decreased the phosphorylation of STAT3 but also of Smad3 (Liu et al. 2014), indicating that STAT3 signaling may be required for optimal TGF- β signaling in some contexts. In T cells, TGF- β is thought to suppress the negative-feedback

regulator of STAT3, SOCS3, thus enhancing STAT3 activation downstream of IL-6 and driving differentiation of T_h17 cells (Qin et al. 2009). Another study found that Smad2 and Smad3 can act as STAT3 co-activators and co-repressors, respectively, in controlling differentiation of T_h17 cells (Yoon et al. 2015). TGF-β has also been shown to activate STAT3 in human follicular helper T cells (Schmitt et al. 2014). Though these studies were mainly done using IL-6 as the STAT3 activator, it is conceivable that the effects of IL-10, also acting through STAT3, could similarly be augmented or suppressed by TGF-β.

Though TGF- β appears to be dispensable for normal NK cell development, its role in controlling the NK cell effector and memory cell fates is a fascinating line of inquiry. Contrary to our initial expectation, TGF- β signaling appears to be important for optimal NK cell responses against viral infection. This indicates that anti-TGF- β therapies for cancer and other diseases (Akhurst and Hata 2012) may produce the unwanted side effect of inhibiting NK cell control of viral infections. Furthermore, the role of TGF- β signaling in other ILC lineages remains to be investigated. TGF- β has been shown to suppress Gata3 and T-bet in T cells (Gorelik et al. 2000; Heath et al. 2000; Gorelik et al. 2002), leading to the question of whether it plays a role in suppressing these factors during ILC development. Recent evidence further suggests that TGF- β promotes development of lung ILC2 (Denney et al. 2015), supporting the importance of investigating TGF- β in ILC development and function.

IV. Materials and Methods

1. Mice

WT C57BL/6, congenic (CD45.1⁺ and CD45.1⁺ x CD45.2⁺), *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-* $\beta RII^{fl/fl}$ (Narni-Mancinelli et al. 2011; Chytil et al. 2002), *IL-10Rβ^{-/-}* (Jackson Laboratory), *NKp46^{iCre} x TGF-βRII^{fl/fl} x IL-10R^{-/-}* mice were bred at MSKCC in accordance with the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). All experiments were conducted in accordance with IACUC and MSKCC approval and guidelines. Mixed bone marrow chimeric mice were generated as previously described (Sun et al. 2009). WT controls were age and sex matched C57BL/6 mice or WT littermates as indicated.

2. Viral Infections

MCMV (Smith strain) was obtained from L. Lanier (University of California San Francisco). MCMV was twice passaged through BALB/c hosts and stocks were generated by douncing salivary glands of mice 3 weeks after MCMV infection. Mixed bone marrow chimeric mice were infected by i.p. injection of approximately 7.5 × 10^3 PFU of MCMV in 500 uL of PBS. For the adoptive transfer studies, mice were infected by i.p. injection of approximately 7.5 × 10^3 PFU of MCMV in 500 uL of PBS. For the adoptive transfer studies, mice were infected by i.p. injection of approximately 7.5 × 10^2 PFU of MCMV in 500 uL of PBS. The adoptive transfer studies, mice were infected by i.p. injection of approximately 7.5×10^2 PFU of MCMV in 500 uL of PBS one day after receiving approximately 1×10^5 Ly49H⁺ NK cells by intravenous (i.v.) injection.

3. Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting

Single cell suspensions from the indicated organs were stained in media or PBS with the anti-Fc receptor antibody 2.4G2 and indicated monoclonal antibodies

(Tonbo, Biolegend, eBioscience, BD Biosciences) for 20 minutes on ice for surface receptors. Intracellular and intranuclear staining was performed by fixing Foxp3/Transcription Factor and permeabilizing with the Staining Kit (eBioscience) according to manufacturer instructions. For TGF-βRII staining, cells were first incubated with biotinylated TGF-BRII polyclonal antibody (R&D Systems), followed by incubation with streptavidin conjugated to the PE-Cy7 fluorophore. Flow cytometry and cell sorting were performed on the LSR II and Aria II cytometers (BD Biosciences), respectively using FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences). For experiments involving gRT-PCR, cell populations were sorted to >95% purity. Data were analyzed with FlowJo 9.8.5 software (Tree Star).

4. Ex Vivo Stimulation of NK cells

In 96-well plates, approximately 1 x 10^6 splenocytes were stimulated for 5 h in RPMI containing 10% FBS and a 1:1000 dilution of golgi plug (BD Biosciences) with recombinant mouse IL-12 (20 ng/ml; R&D Systems), IL-18 (10 ng/ml; R&D Systems), TGF- β (10 ng/mL; R&D Systems), PMA (50 ng/mL), ionomycin (1 ug/mL), or with plate-bound antibodies (10 µg/ml; eBioscience) against the activating NK cell receptors Ly49H, Ly49D, NKp46, NKG2D, or NK1.1 as indicated.

5. Quantitative Real-time PCR

NK cells were sorted to >95% purity from total splenocytes using an Aria II sorter (BD Biosciences), and lysed in Tri-Reagent (Ambion). RNA purification was accomplished using the RNeasy kit (with on-column DNase I treatment; QIAGEN), and cDNA synthesis was carried out using MuLV reverse transcription

and Oligo dT₍₁₆₎ primers (Applied Biosystems). iQ Sybr Green SuperMix (Bio-Rad Laboratories) was used for qRT-PCR. Data were normalized to β -actin and expressed as relative target abundance via the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method, where Ct (threshold cycle) is the cycle number at which the amplification curve intersects the threshold value. Relevant primer sequences are as follows: TGF-βRII 5'-CCGCTGCATATCGTCCTGTG-3'; 5'forward. TGF-βRII reverse. AGTGGATGGATGGTCCTATTACA -3': 5'β-actin forward. 5'-TGCGTGACATCAAAGAGAAG-3'; and β-actin reverse, CGGATGTCAACGTCACACTT-3'.

6. Statistical Analysis

Bar graphs represent mean with error bars showing \pm SD unless otherwise indicated. Data were analyzed using two-tailed unpaired Students t-test with Welch's correction or one-way ANOVA (with correction for multiple comparisons where applicable). All analyses were performed using Prism 6.0 (GraphPad) software, and differences were considered significant when p \leq 0.05. Asterisks in figures denote statistical significance: * p \leq 0.05, ** p \leq 0.01, *** p \leq 0.001, **** p \leq 0.0001. Differences are not significant unless noted.

Chapter 4: Discussion

I. Evolution of ILCs

Although the importance of ILCs in immunity and homeostasis is evident (Figure 9), it is interesting to consider how and why these "innate versions" of T cells came into existence. T cells as we know them, expressing antigen receptors generated by V(D)J recombination mediated by the RAG recombinase, first appeared in jawed vertebrates 450-600 million years ago (Kasahara et al. 2004). In jawless fish, such as the lamprey and hagfish, lymphocyte-like cells express variable lymphocyte receptors (VLR), which are generated by somatic recombination that is independent of RAG recombinase and Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) (Pancer et al. 2005; Kang and Malhotra 2015). The discovery of two related but distinct systems of gene rearrangement (V(D)J and VLR) suggests that adaptive immune cells may have evolved from a common ancestor, potentially an ILC (Walker et al. 2013; Eberl et al. 2015). This idea is supported by the evolutionary history of transcription factor networks, with ILCpromoting transcription factors Gata3, T-bet, Id2, and PLZF emerging before the RAG recombinase (Kang and Malhotra 2015). ILCs also develop earlier than adaptive lymphocytes during mammalian ontogeny (Eberl 2012), suggesting their importance in early protection of neonates against pathogens. This also suggests that ILCs may have evolved earlier than adaptive lymphocytes, as organisms lacking early immunity provided by ILCs would have a higher likelihood of dying before reproductive age.

However, the opposite argument could also be made: if adaptive lymphocytes evolved first, the emergence of ILCs would have conferred a survival advantage resulting in all later organisms containing both lineages. In addition, lymph nodes appear to have evolved rather late, possibly as late as reptiles and birds (Boehm et al. 2012), indicating that LTi cells either evolved later than adaptive lymphocytes, or that they fulfilled a different function in lower organisms. Future studies will be needed to identify whether ILCs can be found in lower organisms.

Of particular interest is whether Nfil3 is expressed in non-vertebrates. Nfil3 has been identified in zebrafish, salmon, and grass carp (H. Yu et al. 2014), and data from Ensembl suggests that Nfil3 homologs exist as early as arthropods and nematodes (Yates et al. 2016) (Figure 39). However, as Nfil3 has many different functions in mice, it remains to be investigated whether it fulfills the same ILCpromoting role in other organisms. Regardless of the evolutionary history of ILCs, it seems clear that the fast-acting nature of ILCs remains desirable, even in the presence of adaptive immunity. In *Citrobacter rodentium* infections in particular, both early ILC-expressed and later T cell-expressed IL-22 is necessary for full protection (Basu et al. 2012). In addition, NK cells are necessary for control of human viruses, even in the presence of B and T cells (Orange 2006; Biron et al. 1989; Etzioni et al. 2005). The critical nature of ILCs is further supported by our own data showing that Nfil3^{-/-} mice, which lack innate lymphoctyes but have largely intact adaptive immunity, are nevertheless susceptible to intestinal pathogens.

II. Nfil3-Independent ILCs

Understanding the signals controlling ILC development and function will help us to further elucidate how ILCs fit in the greater context of pathogen and tumor immunity. Here, we have shown that the transcription factor Nfil3 is a critical regulator of ILC development, necessary for the transition from the CLP to the αLP ILC precursor. The factors controlling Nfil3 expression are largely unknown, though it is thought to be induced by IL-7 and IL-15 in ILC progenitors and NK cells, respectively (Xu et al. 2015; Gascoyne et al. 2009; M. Yang et al. 2015). Further work is necessary to more fully understand the many signals upstream and downstream of Nfil3.

One critical outstanding question is how some residual ILCs are able to develop in Nfil3-deficient mice. Although the magnitude of ILC deficiency varies between organs, most show at least a small percentage of ILCs. This deficiency is more pronounced in mixed bone marrow chimeras, but is nevertheless incomplete. One possibility is that different cytokine milieu in different organs is able to induce a tiny percentage of ILC precursors to escape the requirement for Nfil3, and that in the absence of any other ILCs with which to compete, this tiny percentage is amplified, though not to WT levels. This idea is supported by the finding that Nfil3-deficient bone marrow produces smaller percentages of ILCs in mixed bone marrow chimeras compared to full knockout mice, as Nfil3-deficient ILCs in these mixed chimeras must compete with WT ILCs for cytokines and other signals. This idea is also supported by the finding that Nfil3-independent

NK cells can be driven out by activating receptor engagement or bystander proinflammatory cytokines following viral infection (Firth et al. 2013).

Furthermore, it is possible that these Nfil3-independent ILCs are able to develop through the actions of another bZIP or PAR family transcription factor. These factors have similar binding sites to Nfil3 (Cowell 2002), and if they are able to bind Nfil3 sites at low efficiency, this may account for small numbers of ILCs being able to develop independently of Nfil3. Another possibility is that Nfil3independent ILCs are derived from fetal precursors and that these precursors are themselves Nfil3-independent. Nfil3-deficient fetal livers have been shown to contain more CHILP cells than adult bone marrow (Xu et al. 2015). The idea of separate fetal and adult ILC precursors is further supported by data in AhRdeficient mice, which have intact early-developping lymphoid structures such as lymph nodes and Peyer's patches—suggesting intact fetal LTi cells—but lack later developing cryptopatches and lymphoid follicles, suggesting later LTi deficiencies (Lee et al. 2012; Kiss et al. 2011; Qiu et al. 2012). In addition, an ILC precursor has been identified in the fetal intestine that may be responsible for early seeding of ILCs in that organ (Bando et al. 2015). It is currently unknown whether this precursor depends on Nfil3.

Our finding that residual ILCs that develop in *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice are deficient in cytokine production could support either a cytokine-driven "escape" model or a separate (possibly fetal) origin model for the development of Nfil3-independent ILCs. In the former case, Nfil3-independent ILCs are perhaps overstimulated and/or exhausted due to their lack of competition for cytokines and other

activating signals and are therefore somewhat refractory to further stimulation. In the latter case, Nfil3-independent ILCs may represent a separate but related ILC lineage with different stimulation requirements or function. Different tissue and developmental stage-specific requirements for ILC precursors would also help explain the conundrum of NK cells and non-NK cell ILC1.

III. The Question of ILC1s

There is still great confusion and controversy in the field on the lineage relationship between conventional NK cells and non-NK cell ILC1. Though NK cells and ILC1 both express the transcription factor T-bet and produce IFN-y (Klose et al. 2014; Bernink et al. 2013; Fuchs et al. 2013; Seillet et al. 2015), NK cells are now thought to be a separate lineage from "helper" ILCs, which develop from the CHILP (Klose et al. 2014). This notion is supported by transcriptional profiling showing that while NK cells and ILC1 are related by principal component analysis, they do cluster separately, and genes upregulated in ILC1 over NK cells are also upregulated in other ILCs, whereas genes upregulated in NK cells are generally not expressed in other ILCs (Robinette et al. 2015). Nevertheless, NK cells and ILC1 share some surface markers, including the activating receptors NK1.1 and NKp46, but can most easily be distinguished by their differential expression of CD49b (NK cells), or CD49a and TRAIL (ILC1) (Seillet et al. 2015) (Figure 40). Additionally, ILC1 and NK cells both express lytic molecules such as perforin and granzymes (Daussy et al. 2014), though NK cells are thought to express higher levels except in the liver (Robinette et al. 2015). Both NK cells and ILC1 can therefore exhibit killing activity, though ILC1 may kill through

different mechanisms, such as TRAIL receptor engagement (Kiessling, Klein, Pross, et al. 1975; D K Sojka et al. 2014; Daussy et al. 2014; Dadi et al. 2016).

Various precursors able to develop into all ILCs, including NK cells, have been identified and been shown to require Nfil3, Tcf-1, and Tox (Q. Yang et al. 2015; X. Yu et al. 2014; Seehus et al. 2015). These data indicate that NK cells and ILC1 do share an early lineage relationship. Conversely, ILC1 in the skin, uterus, salivary glands, liver, and thymus have been shown to develop in Nfil3deficient mice (D K Sojka et al. 2014; Cortez et al. 2014; Seillet, Rankin, et al. 2014), casting doubt on whether these cells are truly derived from the same Nfil3-dependent precursor as NK cells. However, our data suggests that ILC1 found in the mesenteric lymph node, small intestine, liver, and adipose tissue are absolutely dependent on Nfil3, particularly evident in mixed bone marrow chimera studies (Figure 11 and O'Sullivan, T. unpublished observations), consistent with our observation that Nfil3-deficient mice lack an early ILC precursor (Geiger et al. 2014). Furthermore, one study found that intraepithelial ILC1 were severely reduced in Nfil3-deficient mice and that these ILC1 show TGF- β imprinting evidenced by CD103 expression (Fuchs et al. 2013). However, we have not seen any dependence or effect of TGF-B on conventional NK cell development.

Interestingly, intraepithelial ILC1, unlike ILC1 from other tissue sites, have been shown to express transcripts associated with both conventional NK cells and ILC1, making their classification difficult (Robinette et al. 2015). These conflicting observations leave the relationship between different group 1 ILC

subsets and early Nfil3-dependent ILC precursors somewhat unclear. However, as discussed earlier, it may be that different tissue-specific or microbiotadependent signals are able to bypass the requirement for Nfil3 at low efficiency, accounting for the differing observations of Nfil3-independent ILC1.

IV. Summary

We have shown that the transcription factor Nfil3 is an early regulator of ILC development, including NK cells and LTi cells, highlighting the lineage relationships between these cells and other ILC subsets. The lack of all ILC subsets additionally makes the *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice a useful tool to study the importance of ILCs in disease models in the presence of adaptive immunity. We have shown that Nfil3^{-/-} mice are more susceptible to C. rodentium and C. difficile infection. However, they do not show major differences in colitis compared to WT mice after DSS-treatment, indicating that ILCs may not be the major players preventing pathology in that setting. In addition, *Nfil3^{-/-}* mice are less susceptible to AOM/DSS induced colon tumors, suggesting that ILCs can be tumor promoting in certain contexts. Indeed, IL-22 has been previously shown to be tumor-promoting in mouse and human colon cancer (Kirchberger et al. 2013; Jiang et al. 2013), making it a promising clinical target (Sabat et al. 2013). Future studies will investigate which ILC subsets are tumor promoting and which mediate anti-tumor immunity, and how these cells might interact with adaptive lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of colon cancer.

Among ILCs, NK cells, as the founding member, are the best characterized and understood. Their role in immunity to pathogens and tumors is

well documented and they are generating increasing interest as a target for immune therapies (Vivier et al. 2012; Dahlberg et al. 2015). Therefore, understanding the signals controlling NK cell development and function will be critical for future therapeutic innovations. Here, we have shown that the critical immunoregulatory cytokine TGF- β is largely dispensable for normal NK cell development, though it may be involved in the development of ILC1 (Fuchs et al. 2013). Understanding these important signals that govern ILC development will be fundamental in future studies of how these cells are able to mediate both disease protection and pathogenesis.



Herrero, J. Muffato, M. Beal, K. et al. Ensembl comparative genomics resources. *Database (Oxford)* 2016 pii:bav096. PubMed PMID: 26896847; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4761110 doi:10.1093/database/bav096.

FIGURE 39 | NFIL3 EXPRESSION DURING EVOLUTION

Homologs to human Nfil3 exist among various invertebrates and vertebrates.





Tissue Locations	All	liver, thymus, intestine, skin, uterus, salivary glands
Surface Markers	NK1.1, NKp46, CD49b	NK1.1, NKp46, CD49a, TRAIL, IL-7R
Killing	Yes	Yes
IFN-γ production	Yes	Yes
Tissue Resident	No	Yes
T-bet Dependent	Yes	Yes
Eomes Dependent	Yes	No
Nfil3 Dependent	Yes	No?

FIGURE 40 | NK CELLS AND ILC1

Differences between conventional NK cells (left) and non-NK cell ILC1 (right) as currently understood.

References

Abt, M.C., Buffie, C.G., Sušac, B., Becattini, S., Carter, R.A., Leiner, I., Keith, J.W., Artis, D., Osborne, L.C. and Pamer, E.G. 2016. TLR-7 activation enhances IL-22-mediated colonization resistance against vancomycin-resistant enterococcus. *Science Translational Medicine* 8(327), p. 327ra25.

Abt, M.C., Lewis, B.B., Caballero, S., Xiong, H., Carter, R.A., Sušac, B., Ling, L., Leiner, I. and Pamer, E.G. 2015. Innate Immune Defenses Mediated by Two ILC Subsets Are Critical for Protection against Acute Clostridium difficile Infection. *Cell Host & Microbe* 18(1), pp. 27–37.

Akhurst, R.J. and Hata, A. 2012. Targeting the TGFβ signalling pathway in disease. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery* 11(10), pp. 790–811.

Aliahmad, P., de la Torre, B. and Kaye, J. 2010. Shared dependence on the DNA-binding factor TOX for the development of lymphoid tissue-inducer cell and NK cell lineages. *Nature Immunology* 11(10), pp. 945–952.

Allan, D.S.J., Rybalov, B., Awong, G., Zúñiga-Pflücker, J.C., Kopcow, H.D., Carlyle, J.R. and Strominger, J.L. 2010. TGF-β affects development and differentiation of human natural killer cell subsets. *European Journal of Immunology* 40, pp. 2289–2295.

Annes, J.P., Chen, Y., Munger, J.S. and Rifkin, D.B. 2004. Integrin $\alpha V\beta 6$ mediated activation of latent TGF- β requires the latent TGF- β binding protein-1. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 165(5), pp. 723–734.

Annes, J.P., Munger, J.S. and Rifkin, D.B. 2003. Making sense of latent TGFβ activation. *Journal of Cell Science* 116(Pt 2), pp. 217–224.

Aparicio-Domingo, P., Romera-Hernandez, M., Karrich, J.J., Cornelissen, F., Papazian, N., Lindenbergh-Kortleve, D.J., Butler, J.A., Boon, L., Coles, M.C., Samsom, J.N. and Cupedo, T. 2015. Type 3 innate lymphoid cells maintain intestinal epithelial stem cells after tissue damage. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(11), pp. 1783–1791.

Arase, H., Mocarski, E.S., Campbell, A.E., Hill, A.B. and Lanier, L.L. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science (New York)* 296(5571), pp. 1323–1326.

Bancroft, G.J., Shellam, G.R. and Chalmer, J.E. 1981. Genetic influences on the augmentation of natural killer (NK) cells during murine cytomegalovirus infection: correlation with patterns of resistance. *Journal of Immunology* 126(3), pp. 988–994.

Bando, J.K., Liang, H.E. and Locksley, R.M. 2015. Identification and distribution of developing innate lymphoid cells in the fetal mouse intestine. *Nature*

Immunology 16(2), pp. 153–160.

Banerjee, A., Gordon, S.M., Intlekofer, A.M., Paley, M.A., Mooney, E.C., Lindsten, T., Wherry, E.J. and Reiner, S.L. 2010. Cutting edge: The transcription factor eomesodermin enables CD8+ T cells to compete for the memory cell niche. *Journal of Immunology* 185(9), pp. 4988–4992.

Barlow, J.L., Bellosi, A., Hardman, C.S., Drynan, L.F., Wong, S.H., Cruickshank, J.P. and McKenzie, A.N. 2012. Innate IL-13-producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129(1), pp. 191–8.e1.

Bartemes, K.R., Iijima, K., Kobayashi, T., Kephart, G.M., McKenzie, A.N. and Kita, H. 2012. IL-33-responsive lineage- CD25+ CD44(hi) lymphoid cells mediate innate type 2 immunity and allergic inflammation in the lungs. *Journal of Immunology* 188(3), pp. 1503–1513.

Barton, K., Muthusamy, N., Fischer, C., Ting, C.N., Walunas, T.L., Lanier, L.L. and Leiden, J.M. 1998. The Ets-1 transcription factor is required for the development of natural killer cells in mice. *Immunity* 9(4), pp. 555–563.

Basu, R., O'Quinn, D.B., Silberger, D.J., Schoeb, T.R., Fouser, L., Ouyang, W., Hatton, R.D. and Weaver, C.T. 2012. Th22 cells are an important source of IL-22 for host protection against enteropathogenic bacteria. *Immunity* 37(6), pp. 1061–1075.

Beaulieu, A.M., Zawislak, C.L., Nakayama, T. and Sun, J.C. 2014. The transcription factor Zbtb32 controls the proliferative burst of virus-specific natural killer cells responding to infection. *Nature Immunology* 15(6), pp. 546–553.

Bellone, G., Aste-Amezaga, M., Trinchieri, G. and Rodeck, U. 1995. Regulation of NK cell functions by TGF-beta 1. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 155, pp. 1066–1073.

Bernink, J.H., Peters, C.P., Munneke, M., te Velde, A.A., Meijer, S.L., Weijer, K., Hreggvidsdottir, H.S., Heinsbroek, S.E., Legrand, N., Buskens, C.J., Bemelman, W.A., Mjösberg, J.M. and Spits, H. 2013. Human type 1 innate lymphoid cells accumulate in inflamed mucosal tissues. *Nature Immunology* 14(3), pp. 221–229.

Biron, C.A., Byron, K.S. and Sullivan, J.L. 1989. Severe herpesvirus infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 320(26), pp. 1731–1735.

Boehm, T., Hess, I. and Swann, J.B. 2012. Evolution of lymphoid tissues. *Trends in Immunology* 33(6), pp. 315–321.

Boos, M.D., Yokota, Y., Eberl, G. and Kee, B.L. 2007. Mature natural killer cell and lymphoid tissue-inducing cell development requires Id2-mediated

suppression of E protein activity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204(5), pp. 1119–1130.

Bouskra, D., Brézillon, C., Bérard, M., Werts, C., Varona, R., Boneca, I.G. and Eberl, G. 2008. Lymphoid tissue genesis induced by commensals through NOD1 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Nature* 456(7221), pp. 507–510.

Bright, J.J. and Sriram, S. 1998. TGF-beta inhibits IL-12-induced activation of Jak-STAT pathway in T lymphocytes. *Journal of Immunology* 161(4), pp. 1772–1777.

Brown, M.G., Dokun, A.O., Heusel, J.W., Smith, H.R., Beckman, D.L., Blattenberger, E.A., Dubbelde, C.E., Stone, L.R., Scalzo, A.A. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2001. Vital involvement of a natural killer cell activation receptor in resistance to viral infection. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 292, pp. 934–937.

Buffie, C.G., Jarchum, I., Equinda, M., Lipuma, L., Gobourne, A., Viale, A., Ubeda, C., Xavier, J. and Pamer, E.G. 2012. Profound alterations of intestinal microbiota following a single dose of clindamycin results in sustained susceptibility to Clostridium difficile-induced colitis. *Infection and Immunity* 80(1), pp. 62–73.

Bukowski, J.F., Warner, J.F., Dennert, G. and Welsh, R.M. 1985. Adoptive transfer studies demonstrating the antiviral effect of natural killer cells in vivo. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 161(1), pp. 40–52.

Bukowski, J.F., Woda, B.A. and Welsh, R.M. 1984. Pathogenesis of murine cytomegalovirus infection in natural killer cell-depleted mice. *Journal of Virology* 52(1), pp. 119–128.

Buonocore, S., Ahern, P.P., Uhlig, H.H., Ivanov, I.I., Littman, D.R., Maloy, K.J. and Powrie, F. 2010. Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. *Nature* 464(7293), pp. 1371–1375.

Califano, D., Cho, J.J., Uddin, M.N., Lorentsen, K.J., Yang, Q., Bhandoola, A., Li, H. and Avram, D. 2015. Transcription Factor Bcl11b Controls Identity and Function of Mature Type 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity* 43(2), pp. 354–368.

Carotta, S., Pang, S.H., Nutt, S.L. and Belz, G.T. 2011. Identification of the earliest NK-cell precursor in the mouse BM. *Blood* 117(20), pp. 5449–5452.

Carotta, S., Wu, L. and Nutt, S.L. 2010. Surprising new roles for PU.1 in the adaptive immune response. *Immunological Reviews* 238(1), pp. 63–75.

Castriconi, R., Cantoni, C., Della Chiesa, M., Vitale, M., Marcenaro, E., Conte, R., Biassoni, R., Bottino, C., Moretta, L. and Moretta, A. 2003. Transforming growth factor beta 1 inhibits expression of NKp30 and NKG2D receptors: consequences for the NK-mediated killing of dendritic cells. *Proceedings of the*

National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100(7), pp. 4120–4125.

Cella, M., Fuchs, A., Vermi, W., Facchetti, F., Otero, K., Lennerz, J.K., Doherty, J.M., Mills, J.C. and Colonna, M. 2009. A human natural killer cell subset provides an innate source of IL-22 for mucosal immunity. *Nature* 457(7230), pp. 722–725.

Chang, H., Brown, C.W. and Matzuk, M.M. 2002. Genetic analysis of the mammalian transforming growth factor- β superfamily. *Endocrine Reviews* 23(6), pp. 787–823.

Chang, Y.J., Kim, H.Y., Albacker, L.A., Baumgarth, N., McKenzie, A.N., Smith, D.E., Dekruyff, R.H. and Umetsu, D.T. 2011. Innate lymphoid cells mediate influenza-induced airway hyper-reactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *Nature Immunology* 12(7), pp. 631–638.

Chassaing, B., Aitken, J.D., Malleshappa, M. and Vijay-Kumar, M. 2014. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice. *Current protocols in immunology / edited by John E. Coligan ... [et al.]* 104, p. Unit 15.25.

Cherrier, M., Sawa, S. and Eberl, G. 2012. Notch, Id2, and RORyt sequentially orchestrate the fetal development of lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 209, pp. 729–740.

Chiossone, L., Chaix, J., Fuseri, N., Roth, C., Vivier, E. and Walzer, T. 2009. Maturation of mouse NK cells is a 4-stage developmental program. *Blood* 113(22), pp. 5488–5496.

Chytil, A., Magnuson, M.A., Wright, C.V.E. and Moses, H.L. 2002. Conditional inactivation of the TGF- β type II receptor using Cre:Lox. *Genesis (New York, N.Y. : 2000)* 32, pp. 73–75.

Colucci, F., Samson, S.I., DeKoter, R.P., Lantz, O., Singh, H. and Di Santo, J.P. 2001. Differential requirement for the transcription factor PU.1 in the generation of natural killer cells versus B and T cells. *Blood* 97(9), pp. 2625–2632.

Constantinides, M.G., Gudjonson, H., McDonald, B.D., Ishizuka, I.E., Verhoef, P.A., Dinner, A.R. and Bendelac, A. 2015. PLZF expression maps the early stages of ILC1 lineage development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(16), pp. 5123–5128.

Constantinides, M.G., McDonald, B.D., Verhoef, P.A. and Bendelac, A. 2014. A committed precursor to innate lymphoid cells. *Nature* 508(7496), pp. 397–401.

Cooper, H.S., Murthy, S.N., Shah, R.S. and Sedergran, D.J. 1993. Clinicopathologic study of dextran sulfate sodium experimental murine colitis. *Laboratory Investigation* 69(2), pp. 238–249. Cortez, V.S., Fuchs, A., Cella, M., Gilfillan, S. and Colonna, M. 2014. Cutting edge: Salivary gland NK cells develop independently of Nfil3 in steady-state. *Journal of Immunology* 192(10), pp. 4487–4491. Available at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/192/10/4487.full.pdf.

Cowell, I.G. 2002. E4BP4/NFIL3, a PAR-related bZIP factor with many roles. *Bioessays: News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology* 24(11), pp. 1023–1029.

Cowell, I.G. and Hurst, H.C. 1994. Transcriptional repression by the human bZIP factor E4BP4: definition of a minimal repression domain. *Nucleic Acids Research* 22(1), pp. 59–65.

Cowell, I.G., Skinner, A. and Hurst, H.C. 1992. Transcriptional repression by a novel member of the bZIP family of transcription factors. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 12(7), pp. 3070–3077.

Cox, J.H., Kljavin, N.M., Ota, N., Leonard, J., Roose-Girma, M., Diehl, L., Ouyang, W. and Ghilardi, N. 2012. Opposing consequences of IL-23 signaling mediated by innate and adaptive cells in chemically induced colitis in mice. *Mucosal Immunology* 5(1), pp. 99–109. Available at: http://www.nature.com/mi/journal/v5/n1/full/mi201154a.html.

Crane, C.A., Han, S.J., Barry, J.J., Ahn, B.J., Lanier, L.L. and Parsa, A.T. 2010. TGF- β downregulates the activating receptor NKG2D on NK cells and CD8+ T cells in glioma patients. *Neuro-oncology* 12(1), pp. 7–13.

Crawford, S.E., Stellmach, V., Murphy-Ullrich, J.E., Ribeiro, S.M.F., Lawler, J., Hynes, R.O., Boivin, G.P. and Bouck, N. 1998. Thrombospondin-1 Is a Major Activator of TGF-β1 In Vivo. *Cell* 93(7), pp. 1159–1170.

Dadi, S., Chhangawala, S., Whitlock, B.M., Franklin, R.A., Luo, C.T., Oh, S.A., Toure, A., Pritykin, Y., Huse, M., Leslie, C.S. and Li, M.O. 2016. Cancer Immunosurveillance by Tissue-Resident Innate Lymphoid Cells and Innate-like T Cells. *Cell* 164(3), pp. 365–377.

Dahlberg, C.I., Sarhan, D., Chrobok, M., Duru, A.D. and Alici, E. 2015. Natural Killer Cell-Based Therapies Targeting Cancer: Possible Strategies to Gain and Sustain Anti-Tumor Activity. *Frontiers in immunology* 6, p. 605.

Daniels, K.A., Devora, G., Lai, W.C., O'Donnell, C.L., Bennett, M. and Welsh, R.M. 2001. Murine cytomegalovirus is regulated by a discrete subset of natural killer cells reactive with monoclonal antibody to Ly49H. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 194(1), pp. 29–44.

Dasgupta, S., Bhattacharya-Chatterjee, M., O'Malley, B.W. and Chatterjee, S.K. 2005. Inhibition of NK cell activity through TGF- β 1 by down-regulation of NKG2D in a murine model of head and neck cancer. *Journal of Immunology* 175(8), pp.

5541-5550.

Daussy, C., Faure, F., Mayol, K., Viel, S., Gasteiger, G., Charrier, E., Bienvenu, J., Henry, T., Debien, E., Hasan, U.A., Marvel, J., Yoh, K., Takahashi, S., Prinz, I., de Bernard, S., Buffat, L. and Walzer, T. 2014. T-bet and Eomes instruct the development of two distinct natural killer cell lineages in the liver and in the bone marrow. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(3), pp. 563–577. Available at: http://jem.rupress.org/content/211/3/563.full.pdf.

DeHart, S.L., Heikens, M.J. and Tsai, S. 2005. Jagged2 promotes the development of natural killer cells and the establishment of functional natural killer cell lines. *Blood* 105(9), pp. 3521–3527.

Deng, Y., Kerdiles, Y., Chu, J., Yuan, S., Wang, Y., Chen, X., Mao, H., Zhang, L., Zhang, J., Hughes, T., Deng, Y., Zhang, Q., Wang, F., Zou, X., Liu, C.G., Freud, A.G., Li, X., Caligiuri, M.A., Vivier, E. and Yu, J. 2015. Transcription factor Foxo1 is a negative regulator of natural killer cell maturation and function. *Immunity* 42(3), pp. 457–470.

Denney, L., Byrne, A.J., Shea, T.J., Buckley, J.S., Pease, J.E., Herledan, G.M.F., Walker, S.A., Gregory, L.G. and Lloyd, C.M. 2015. Pulmonary Epithelial Cell-Derived Cytokine TGF-β1 Is a Critical Cofactor for Enhanced Innate Lymphoid Cell Function. *Immunity* 43, pp. 945–958.

Dieleman, L.A., Ridwan, B.U., Tennyson, G.S., Beagley, K.W., Bucy, R.P. and Elson, C.O. 1994. Dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis occurs in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Gastroenterology* 107(6), pp. 1643–1652.

Djuretic, I.M., Levanon, D., Negreanu, V., Groner, Y., Rao, A. and Ansel, K.M. 2007. Transcription factors T-bet and Runx3 cooperate to activate Ifng and silence II4 in T helper type 1 cells. *Nature Immunology* 8(2), pp. 145–153.

Dokun, A.O., Kim, S., Smith, H.R., Kang, H.S., Chu, D.T. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2001. Specific and nonspecific NK cell activation during virus infection. *Nature Immunology* 2(10), pp. 951–956.

Dunkle, A., Dzhagalov, I., Gordy, C. and He, Y.W. 2013. Transfer of CD8+ T cell memory using Bcl-2 as a marker. *Journal of Immunology* 190(3), pp. 940–947.

Eberl, G. 2012. Development and evolution of RORγt+ cells in a microbe's world. *Immunological Reviews* 245(1), pp. 177–188.

Eberl, G., Colonna, M., Di Santo, J.P. and McKenzie, A.N. 2015. Innate lymphoid cells. Innate lymphoid cells: a new paradigm in immunology. *Science (New York)* 348(6237), p. aaa6566.

Eberl, G. and Littman, D.R. 2003. The role of the nuclear hormone receptor RORγt in the development of lymph nodes and Peyer's patches. *Immunological*

Reviews 195(1), pp. 81–90.

Eberl, G., Marmon, S., Sunshine, M.J., Rennert, P.D., Choi, Y. and Littman, D.R. 2004. An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORgamma(t) in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *Nature Immunology* 5(1), pp. 64–73.

Ebihara, T., Song, C., Ryu, S.H., Plougastel-Douglas, B., Yang, L., Levanon, D., Groner, Y., Bern, M.D., Stappenbeck, T.S., Colonna, M., Egawa, T. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2015. Runx3 specifies lineage commitment of innate lymphoid cells. *Nature Immunology* 16(11), pp. 1124–1133.

Eckelhart, E., Warsch, W., Zebedin, E., Simma, O., Stoiber, D., Kolbe, T., Rülicke, T., Mueller, M., Casanova, E. and Sexl, V. 2011. A novel Ncr1-Cre mouse reveals the essential role of STAT5 for NK-cell survival and development. *Blood* 117(5), pp. 1565–1573.

Elinav, E., Strowig, T., Kau, A.L., Henao-Mejia, J., Thaiss, C.A., Booth, C.J., Peaper, D.R., Bertin, J., Eisenbarth, S.C., Gordon, J.I. and Flavell, R.A. 2011. NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis. *Cell* 145(5), pp. 745–757.

Enomoto, Y., Orihara, K., Takamasu, T., Matsuda, A., Gon, Y., Saito, H., Ra, C. and Okayama, Y. 2009. Tissue remodeling induced by hypersecreted epidermal growth factor and amphiregulin in the airway after an acute asthma attack. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 124(5), pp. 913–20.e1.

Espevik, T., Figari, I.S., Ranges, G.E. and Palladino, M.A. 1988. Transforming growth factor- β 1 (TGF- β 1) and recombinant human tumor necrosis factor- α reciprocally regulate the generation of lymphokine-activated killer cell activity. Comparison between natural porcine platelet-derived TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2, and recombinant human TGF- β 1. *Journal of Immunology* 140(7), pp. 2312–2316.

Etzioni, A., Eidenschenk, C., Katz, R., Beck, R., Casanova, J.L. and Pollack, S. 2005. Fatal varicella associated with selective natural killer cell deficiency. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 146(3), pp. 423–425.

Fallon, P.G., Ballantyne, S.J., Mangan, N.E., Barlow, J.L., Dasvarma, A., Hewett, D.R., McIlgorm, A., Jolin, H.E. and McKenzie, A.N. 2006. Identification of an interleukin (IL)-25-dependent cell population that provides IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 at the onset of helminth expulsion. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 203(4), pp. 1105–1116.

Fathman, J.W., Bhattacharya, D., Inlay, M.A., Seita, J., Karsunky, H. and Weissman, I.L. 2011. Identification of the earliest natural killer cell-committed progenitor in murine bone marrow. *Blood* 118(20), pp. 5439–5447.

Firth, M.A., Madera, S., Beaulieu, A.M., Gasteiger, G., Castillo, E.F., Schluns,

K.S., Kubo, M., Rothman, P.B., Vivier, E. and Sun, J.C. 2013. Nfil3-independent lineage maintenance and antiviral response of natural killer cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210(13), pp. 2981–2990.

Von Freeden-Jeffry, U., Vieira, P., Lucian, L.A., McNeil, T., Burdach, S.E. and Murray, R. 1995. Lymphopenia in interleukin (IL)-7 gene-deleted mice identifies IL-7 as a nonredundant cytokine. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 181(4), pp. 1519–1526.

Fuchs, A., Vermi, W., Lee, J.S., Lonardi, S., Gilfillan, S., Newberry, R.D., Cella, M. and Colonna, M. 2013. Intraepithelial type 1 innate lymphoid cells are a unique subset of IL-12- and IL-15-responsive IFN-gamma-producing cells. *Immunity* 38, pp. 769–781.

Gascoyne, D.M., Long, E., Veiga-Fernandes, H., de Boer, J., Williams, O., Seddon, B., Coles, M., Kioussis, D. and Brady, H.J. 2009. The basic leucine zipper transcription factor E4BP4 is essential for natural killer cell development. *Nature Immunology* 10(10), pp. 1118–1124.

Gasteiger, G., Fan, X., Dikiy, S., Lee, S.Y. and Rudensky, A.Y. 2015. Tissue residency of innate lymphoid cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid organs. *Science (New York)* 350(6263), pp. 981–985.

Geiger, T.L., Abt, M.C., Gasteiger, G., Firth, M.A., O'Connor, M.H., Geary, C.D., O'Sullivan, T.E., van den Brink, M.R., Pamer, E.G., Hanash, A.M. and Sun, J.C. 2014. Nfil3 is crucial for development of innate lymphoid cells and host protection against intestinal pathogens. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(9), pp. 1723–1731.

Ghiringhelli, F., Ménard, C., Terme, M., Flament, C., Taieb, J., Chaput, N., Puig, P.E., Novault, S., Escudier, B., Vivier, E., Lecesne, A., Robert, C., Blay, J.Y., Bernard, J., Caillat-Zucman, S., Freitas, A., Tursz, T., Wagner-Ballon, O., Capron, C., Vainchencker, W., Martin, F. and Zitvogel, L. 2005. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 202(8), pp. 1075–1085.

Gordon, S.M., Chaix, J., Rupp, L.J., Wu, J., Madera, S., Sun, J.C., Lindsten, T. and Reiner, S.L. 2012. The transcription factors T-bet and Eomes control key checkpoints of natural killer cell maturation. *Immunity* 36(1), pp. 55–67.

Gorelik, L., Constant, S. and Flavell, R.A. 2002. Mechanism of transforming growth factor β -induced inhibition of T helper type 1 differentiation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 195(11), pp. 1499–1505.

Gorelik, L., Fields, P.E. and Flavell, R.A. 2000. Cutting edge: TGF-β inhibits Th type 2 development through inhibition of GATA-3 expression. *Journal of Immunology* 165(9), pp. 4773–4777.

Gorelik, L. and Flavell, R.A. 2000. Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 12(2), pp. 171–181.

Gorelik, L. and Flavell, R.A. 2002. Transforming growth factor-beta in T-cell biology. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 2(1), pp. 46–53.

Gorham, J.D., Güler, M.L., Fenoglio, D., Gubler, U. and Murphy, K.M. 1998. Low dose TGF-β attenuates IL-12 responsiveness in murine Th cells. *Journal of Immunology* 161(4), pp. 1664–1670.

Govinden, R. and Bhoola, K.D. 2003. Genealogy, expression, and cellular function of transforming growth factor-β. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 98(2), pp. 257–265.

Gray, J.D., Hirokawa, M. and Horwitz, D.A. 1994. The role of transforming growth factor beta in the generation of suppression: an interaction between CD8+ T and NK cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 180(5), pp. 1937–1942.

Grayson, J.M., Zajac, A.J., Altman, J.D. and Ahmed, R. 2000. Cutting edge: increased expression of Bcl-2 in antigen-specific memory CD8+ T cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)* 164, pp. 3950–3954.

Guo, Y., Maillard, I., Chakraborti, S., Rothenberg, E.V. and Speck, N.A. 2008. Core binding factors are necessary for natural killer cell development and cooperate with Notch signaling during T-cell specification. *Blood* 112(3), pp. 480– 492.

Gutcher, I., Donkor, M.K., Ma, Q., Rudensky, A.Y., Flavell, R.A. and Li, M.O. 2011. Autocrine transforming growth factor-β1 promotes in vivo Th17 cell differentiation. *Immunity* 34(3), pp. 396–408.

Halim, T.Y., Krauss, R.H., Sun, A.C. and Takei, F. 2012. Lung natural helper cells are a critical source of Th2 cell-type cytokines in protease allergen-induced airway inflammation. *Immunity* 36(3), pp. 451–463.

Halim, T.Y., MacLaren, A., Romanish, M.T., Gold, M.J., McNagny, K.M. and Takei, F. 2012. Retinoic-acid-receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor alpha is required for natural helper cell development and allergic inflammation. *Immunity* 37(3), pp. 463–474.

Hall, L.J., Murphy, C.T., Hurley, G., Quinlan, A., Shanahan, F., Nally, K. and Melgar, S. 2013. Natural killer cells protect against mucosal and systemic infection with the enteric pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Infection and Immunity* 81(2), pp. 460–469.

Hamada, H., Hiroi, T., Nishiyama, Y., Takahashi, H., Masunaga, Y., Hachimura, S., Kaminogawa, S., Takahashi-Iwanaga, H., Iwanaga, T., Kiyono, H.,

Yamamoto, H. and Ishikawa, H. 2002. Identification of multiple isolated lymphoid follicles on the antimesenteric wall of the mouse small intestine. *Journal of Immunology* 168(1), pp. 57–64.

Hamilton, S.E. and Jameson, S.C. 2007. CD8(+) T cell differentiation: choosing a path through T-bet. *Immunity* 27(2), pp. 180–182.

Hanash, A.M., Dudakov, J.A., Hua, G., O'Connor, M.H., Young, L.F., Singer, N.V., West, M.L., Jenq, R.R., Holland, A.M., Kappel, L.W., Ghosh, A., Tsai, J.J., Rao, U.K., Yim, N.L., Smith, O.M., Velardi, E., Hawryluk, E.B., Murphy, G.F., Liu, C., Fouser, L.A., Kolesnick, R., Blazar, B.R. and van den Brink, M.R. 2012. Interleukin-22 protects intestinal stem cells from immune-mediated tissue damage and regulates sensitivity to graft versus host disease. *Immunity* 37(2), pp. 339–350.

Hayakawa, Y. and Smyth, M.J. 2006. CD27 dissects mature NK cells into two subsets with distinct responsiveness and migratory capacity. *Journal of Immunology* 176(3), pp. 1517–1524.

Heath, V.L., Murphy, E.E., Crain, C., Tomlinson, M.G. and O'Garra, A. 2000. TGF-β1 down-regulates Th2 development and results in decreased IL-4-induced STAT6 activation and GATA-3 expression. *European Journal of Immunology*. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/1521-4141(200009)30:9%3C2639::AID-IMMU2639%3E3.0.CO;2-7/abstract;jsessionid=762BCC5F100EA4F058EF67D19CB25666.f04t01.

Heemskerk, M.H., Blom, B., Nolan, G., Stegmann, A.P., Bakker, A.Q., Weijer, K., Res, P.C. and Spits, H. 1997. Inhibition of T cell and promotion of natural killer cell development by the dominant negative helix loop helix factor Id3. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 186(9), pp. 1597–1602.

Hepworth, M.R., Monticelli, L.A., Fung, T.C., Ziegler, C.G., Grunberg, S., Sinha, R., Mantegazza, A.R., Ma, H.L., Crawford, A., Angelosanto, J.M., Wherry, E.J., Koni, P.A., Bushman, F.D., Elson, C.O., Eberl, G., Artis, D. and Sonnenberg, G.F. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells regulate CD4+ T-cell responses to intestinal commensal bacteria. *Nature* 498(7452), pp. 113–117.

Herberman, R.B., Nunn, M.E., Holden, H.T. and Lavrin, D.H. 1975. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic and allogeneic tumors. II. Characterization of effector cells. *International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer* 16, pp. 230–239.

Hesslein, D.G.T. and Lanier, L.L. 2011. Transcriptional control of natural killer cell development and function. *Advances in immunology* 109, pp. 45–85.

Hollenhorst, P.C., McIntosh, L.P. and Graves, B.J. 2011. Genomic and biochemical insights into the specificity of ETS transcription factors. *Annual*

Review of Biochemistry 80, pp. 437–471.

Holmes, M.L., Huntington, N.D., Thong, R.P., Brady, J., Hayakawa, Y., Andoniou, C.E., Fleming, P., Shi, W., Smyth, G.K., Degli-Esposti, M.A., Belz, G.T., Kallies, A., Carotta, S., Smyth, M.J. and Nutt, S.L. 2014. Peripheral natural killer cell maturation depends on the transcription factor Aiolos. *The EMBO Journal* 33(22), pp. 2721–2734.

Hoyler, T., Klose, C.S., Souabni, A., Turqueti-Neves, A., Pfeifer, D., Rawlins, E.L., Voehringer, D., Busslinger, M. and Diefenbach, A. 2012. The transcription factor GATA-3 controls cell fate and maintenance of type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* 37(4), pp. 634–648.

Hu, Y., Lee, Y.T., Kaech, S.M., Garvy, B. and Cauley, L.S. 2015. Smad4 promotes differentiation of effector and circulating memory CD8 T cells but is dispensable for tissue-resident memory CD8 T cells. *Journal of Immunology* 194(5), pp. 2407–2414.

Huang, G., Yan, H., Ye, S., Tong, C. and Ying, Q.L. 2014. STAT3 phosphorylation at tyrosine 705 and serine 727 differentially regulates mouse ESC fates. *Stem Cells* 32(5), pp. 1149–1160.

Hunter, C.A., Bermudez, L., Beernink, H., Waegell, W. and Remington, J.S. 1995. Transforming growth factor- β inhibits interleukin-12-induced production of interferon- γ by natural killer cells: a role for transforming growth factor- β in the regulation of T cell-independent resistance to Toxoplasma gondii. *European Journal of Immunology* 25(4), pp. 994–1000.

Huntington, N.D., Carpentier, S., Vivier, E. and Belz, G.T. 2016. Innate lymphoid cells: parallel checkpoints and coordinate interactions with T cells. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 38, pp. 86–93.

Huntington, N.D., Puthalakath, H., Gunn, P., Naik, E., Michalak, E.M., Smyth, M.J., Tabarias, H., Degli-Esposti, M.A., Dewson, G., Willis, S.N., Motoyama, N., Huang, D.C., Nutt, S.L., Tarlinton, D.M. and Strasser, A. 2007. Interleukin 15mediated survival of natural killer cells is determined by interactions among Bim, Noxa and Mcl-1. *Nature Immunology* 8(8), pp. 856–863.

Huse, M., Muir, T.W., Xu, L., Chen, Y.G., Kuriyan, J. and Massagué, J. 2001. The TGF β receptor activation process: an inhibitor- to substrate-binding switch. *Molecular Cell* 8(3), pp. 671–682.

Hwang, Y.Y. and McKenzie, A.N. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells in immunity and disease. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 785, pp. 9–26.

Ikawa, T., Hirose, S., Masuda, K., Kakugawa, K., Satoh, R., Shibano-Satoh, A., Kominami, R., Katsura, Y. and Kawamoto, H. 2010. An essential developmental checkpoint for production of the T cell lineage. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 329, pp.

93–96.

Ikushima, S., Inukai, T., Inaba, T., Nimer, S.D., Cleveland, J.L. and Look, A.T. 1997. Pivotal role for the NFIL3/E4BP4 transcription factor in interleukin 3-mediated survival of pro-B lymphocytes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 94(6), pp. 2609–2614.

Imada, K., Bloom, E.T., Nakajima, H., Horvath-Arcidiacono, J.A., Udy, G.B., Davey, H.W. and Leonard, W.J. 1998. Stat5b is essential for natural killer cellmediated proliferation and cytolytic activity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 188(11), pp. 2067–2074.

Intlekofer, A.M., Takemoto, N., Kao, C., Banerjee, A., Schambach, F., Northrop, J.K., Shen, H., Wherry, E.J. and Reiner, S.L. 2007. Requirement for T-bet in the aberrant differentiation of unhelped memory CD8+ T cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204(9), pp. 2015–2021.

Intlekofer, A.M., Takemoto, N., Wherry, E.J., Longworth, S.A., Northrup, J.T., Palanivel, V.R., Mullen, A.C., Gasink, C.R., Kaech, S.M., Miller, J.D., Gapin, L., Ryan, K., Russ, A.P., Lindsten, T., Orange, J.S., Goldrath, A.W., Ahmed, R. and Reiner, S.L. 2005. Effector and memory CD8+ T cell fate coupled by T-bet and eomesodermin. *Nature Immunology* 6(12), pp. 1236–1244.

Ishigame, H., Mosaheb, M.M., Sanjabi, S. and Flavell, R.A. 2013. Truncated form of TGF-βRII, but not its absence, induces memory CD8+ T cell expansion and lymphoproliferative disorder in mice. *The Journal of Immunology* 190, pp. 6340–6350.

Ishizuka, I.E., Chea, S., Gudjonson, H., Constantinides, M.G., Dinner, A.R., Bendelac, A. and Golub, R. 2016. Single-cell analysis defines the divergence between the innate lymphoid cell lineage and lymphoid tissue-inducer cell lineage. *Nature Immunology*.

Ito, A., Kataoka, T.R., Kim, D.K., Koma, Y., Lee, Y.M. and Kitamura, Y. 2001. Inhibitory effect on natural killer activity of microphthalmia transcription factor encoded by the mutant mi allele of mice. *Blood* 97(7), pp. 2075–2083.

Jaleco, A.C., Neves, H., Hooijberg, E., Gameiro, P., Clode, N., Haury, M., Henrique, D. and Parreira, L. 2001. Differential effects of Notch ligands Delta-1 and Jagged-1 in human lymphoid differentiation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 194(7), pp. 991–1002.

Jenne, C.N., Enders, A., Rivera, R., Watson, S.R., Bankovich, A.J., Pereira, J.P., Xu, Y., Roots, C.M., Beilke, J.N., Banerjee, A., Reiner, S.L., Miller, S.A., Weinmann, A.S., Goodnow, C.C., Lanier, L.L., Cyster, J.G. and Chun, J. 2009. T-bet-dependent S1P5 expression in NK cells promotes egress from lymph nodes and bone marrow. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 206(11), pp. 2469–2481.

Jiang, R., Wang, H., Deng, L., Hou, J., Shi, R., Yao, M., Gao, Y., Yao, A., Wang, X., Yu, L. and Sun, B. 2013. IL-22 is related to development of human colon cancer by activation of STAT3. *BMC Cancer* 13, p. 59.

Joshi, N.S., Cui, W., Chandele, A., Lee, H.K., Urso, D.R., Hagman, J., Gapin, L. and Kaech, S.M. 2007. Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. *Immunity* 27(2), pp. 281–295.

Jostins, L., Ripke, S., Weersma, R.K., Duerr, R.H., McGovern, D.P., et al. 2012. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* 491(7422), pp. 119–124.

Kaech, S.M. and Wherry, E.J. 2007. Heterogeneity and cell-fate decisions in effector and memory CD8+ T cell differentiation during viral infection. *Immunity* 27(3), pp. 393–405.

Kaisho, T., Tsutsui, H., Tanaka, T., Tsujimura, T., Takeda, K., Kawai, T., Yoshida, N., Nakanishi, K. and Akira, S. 1999. Impairment of natural killer cytotoxic activity and interferon gamma production in CCAAT/enhancer binding protein gamma-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 190(11), pp. 1573–1582.

Kallies, A., Carotta, S., Huntington, N.D., Bernard, N.J., Tarlinton, D.M., Smyth, M.J. and Nutt, S.L. 2011. A role for Blimp1 in the transcriptional network controlling natural killer cell maturation. *Blood* 117(6), pp. 1869–1879.

Kamimura, Y. and Lanier, L.L. 2015. Homeostatic control of memory cell progenitors in the natural killer cell lineage. *Cell reports* 10(2), pp. 280–291.

Kamizono, S., Duncan, G.S., Seidel, M.G., Morimoto, A., Hamada, K., Grosveld, G., Akashi, K., Lind, E.F., Haight, J.P., Ohashi, P.S., Look, A.T. and Mak, T.W. 2009. Nfil3/E4bp4 is required for the development and maturation of NK cells in vivo. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 206(13), pp. 2977–2986.

Kang, J. and Malhotra, N. 2015. Transcription factor networks directing the development, function, and evolution of innate lymphoid effectors. *Annual Review of Immunology* 33, pp. 505–538.

Karo, J.M., Schatz, D.G. and Sun, J.C. 2014. The RAG recombinase dictates functional heterogeneity and cellular fitness in natural killer cells. *Cell* 159(1), pp. 94–107.

Kärre, K., Ljunggren, H.G., Piontek, G. and Kiessling, R. 1986. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. *Nature* 319(6055), pp. 675–678.

Kasahara, M., Suzuki, T. and Pasquier, L.D. 2004. On the origins of the adaptive

immune system: novel insights from invertebrates and cold-blooded vertebrates. *Trends in Immunology* 25(2), pp. 105–111.

Kashiwada, M., Cassel, S.L., Colgan, J.D. and Rothman, P.B. 2011. NFIL3/E4BP4 controls type 2 T helper cell cytokine expression. *The EMBO Journal* 30(10), pp. 2071–2082.

Kashiwada, M., Levy, D.M., McKeag, L., Murray, K., Schröder, A.J., Canfield, S.M., Traver, G. and Rothman, P.B. 2010. IL-4-induced transcription factor NFIL3/E4BP4 controls IgE class switching. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(2), pp. 821–826.

Kashiwada, M., Pham, N.L., Pewe, L.L., Harty, J.T. and Rothman, P.B. 2011. NFIL3/E4BP4 is a key transcription factor for CD8α dendritic cell development. *Blood* 117, pp. 6193–6197.

Kataoka, T.R., Komazawa, N., Oboki, K., Morii, E. and Nakano, T. 2005. Reduced expression of IL-12 receptor beta2 and IL-18 receptor alpha genes in natural killer cells and macrophages derived from B6-mi/mi mice. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* 85, pp. 146–153.

Kelly, C.P. and LaMont, J.T. 2008. Clostridium difficile--more difficult than ever. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 359(18), pp. 1932–1940.

Kelly, K.A. and Scollay, R. 1992. Seeding of neonatal lymph nodes by T cells and identification of a novel population of CD3-CD4+ cells. *European Journal of Immunology* 22(2), pp. 329–334.

Kiessling, R., Klein, E., Pross, H. and Wigzell, H. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. II. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Characteristics of the killer cell. *European Journal of Immunology* 5(2), pp. 117–121.

Kiessling, R., Klein, E. and Wigzell, H. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. *European Journal of Immunology* 5(2), pp. 112–117.

Kim, C.H., Hashimoto-Hill, S. and Kim, M. 2016. Migration and Tissue Tropism of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Trends in Immunology* 37(1), pp. 68–79.

Kim, H.Y., Chang, Y.J., Subramanian, S., Lee, H.H., Albacker, L.A., Matangkasombut, P., Savage, P.B., McKenzie, A.N., Smith, D.E., Rottman, J.B., DeKruyff, R.H. and Umetsu, D.T. 2012. Innate lymphoid cells responding to IL-33 mediate airway hyperreactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 129(1), pp. 216–27.e1.

Kim, S., Iizuka, K., Kang, H.S., Dokun, A., French, A.R., Greco, S. and

Yokoyama, W.M. 2002. In vivo developmental stages in murine natural killer cell maturation. *Nature Immunology* 3(6), pp. 523–528.

Kimura, K., Kanai, T., Hayashi, A., Mikami, Y., Sujino, T., Mizuno, S., Handa, T., Matsuoka, K., Hisamatsu, T., Sato, T. and Hibi, T. 2012. Dysregulated balance of retinoid-related orphan receptor γt-dependent innate lymphoid cells is involved in the pathogenesis of chronic DSS-induced colitis. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 427, pp. 694–700.

Kirchberger, S., Royston, D.J., Boulard, O., Thornton, E., Franchini, F., Szabady, R.L., Harrison, O. and Powrie, F. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210(5), pp. 917–931.

Kiss, E.A., Vonarbourg, C., Kopfmann, S., Hobeika, E., Finke, D., Esser, C. and Diefenbach, A. 2011. Natural aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands control organogenesis of intestinal lymphoid follicles. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 334, pp. 1561–1565.

Klein Wolterink, R.G., Kleinjan, A., van Nimwegen, M., Bergen, I., de Bruijn, M., Levani, Y. and Hendriks, R.W. 2012. Pulmonary innate lymphoid cells are major producers of IL-5 and IL-13 in murine models of allergic asthma. *European Journal of Immunology* 42(5), pp. 1106–1116.

Klein Wolterink, R.G., Serafini, N., van Nimwegen, M., Vosshenrich, C.A., de Bruijn, M.J., Fonseca Pereira, D., Veiga Fernandes, H., Hendriks, R.W. and Di Santo, J.P. 2013. Essential, dose-dependent role for the transcription factor Gata3 in the development of IL-5+ and IL-13+ type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110(25), pp. 10240–10245.

Klose, C.S., Flach, M., Möhle, L., Rogell, L., Hoyler, T., Ebert, K., Fabiunke, C., Pfeifer, D., Sexl, V., Fonseca-Pereira, D., Domingues, R.G., Veiga-Fernandes, H., Arnold, S.J., Busslinger, M., Dunay, I.R., Tanriver, Y. and Diefenbach, A. 2014. Differentiation of type 1 ILCs from a common progenitor to all helper-like innate lymphoid cell lineages. *Cell* 157(2), pp. 340–356.

Klose, C.S.N., Kiss, E.A., Schwierzeck, V., Ebert, K., Hoyler, T., d' Hargues, Y., Göppert, N., Croxford, A.L., Waisman, A., Tanriver, Y. and Diefenbach, A. 2013. A T-bet gradient controls the fate and function of CCR6-RORγt+ innate lymphoid cells. *Nature* 494, pp. 261–265.

Kobayashi, T., Matsuoka, K., Sheikh, S.Z., Elloumi, H.Z., Kamada, N., Hisamatsu, T., Hansen, J.J., Doty, K.R., Pope, S.D., Smale, S.T., Hibi, T., Rothman, P.B., Kashiwada, M. and Plevy, S.E. 2011. NFIL3 is a regulator of IL-12 p40 in macrophages and mucosal immunity. *Journal of Immunology* 186(8), pp. 4649–4655.
Kobayashi, T., Steinbach, E.C., Russo, S.M., Matsuoka, K., Nochi, T., Maharshak, N., Borst, L.B., Hostager, B., Garcia-Martinez, J.V., Rothman, P.B., Kashiwada, M., Sheikh, S.Z., Murray, P.J. and Plevy, S.E. 2014. NFIL3-deficient mice develop microbiota-dependent, IL-12/23-driven spontaneous colitis. *Journal of Immunology* 192(4), pp. 1918–1927.

Kondo, M., Weissman, I.L. and Akashi, K. 1997. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. *Cell* 91(5), pp. 661–672.

Kopp, H.G., Placke, T. and Salih, H.R. 2009. Platelet-derived transforming growth factor-beta down-regulates NKG2D thereby inhibiting natural killer cell antitumor reactivity. *Cancer Research* 69(19), pp. 7775–7783.

Kulkarni, A.B., Huh, C.G., Becker, D., Geiser, A., Lyght, M., Flanders, K.C., Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., Ward, J.M. and Karlsson, S. 1993. Transforming growth factor β 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90(2), pp. 770–774.

Lacorazza, H.D., Miyazaki, Y., Di Cristofano, A., Deblasio, A., Hedvat, C., Zhang, J., Cordon-Cardo, C., Mao, S., Pandolfi, P.P. and Nimer, S.D. 2002. The ETS protein MEF plays a critical role in perforin gene expression and the development of natural killer and NK-T cells. *Immunity* 17(4), pp. 437–449.

Lacy-Hulbert, A., Smith, A.M., Tissire, H., Barry, M., Crowley, D., Bronson, R.T., Roes, J.T., Savill, J.S. and Hynes, R.O. 2007. Ulcerative colitis and autoimmunity induced by loss of myeloid alphav integrins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104(40), pp. 15823–15828.

Laidlaw, B.J., Cui, W., Amezquita, R.A., Gray, S.M., Guan, T., Lu, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Flavell, R.A., Kleinstein, S.H., Craft, J. and Kaech, S.M. 2015. Production of IL-10 by CD4(+) regulatory T cells during the resolution of infection promotes the maturation of memory CD8(+) T cells. *Nature Immunology* 16(8), pp. 871–879.

Lanier, L.L., Phillips, J.H., Hackett, J., Tutt, M. and Kumar, V. 1986. Natural killer cells: definition of a cell type rather than a function. *Journal of Immunology* 137(9), pp. 2735–2739.

Laouar, Y., Sutterwala, F.S., Gorelik, L. and Flavell, R.A. 2005. Transforming growth factor-beta controls T helper type 1 cell development through regulation of natural killer cell interferon-gamma. *Nature Immunology* 6(6), pp. 600–607.

Lee, J.C., Lee, K.M., Kim, D.W. and Heo, D.S. 2004. Elevated TGF-β1 secretion and down-modulation of NKG2D underlies impaired NK cytotoxicity in cancer patients. *Journal of Immunology* 172(12), pp. 7335–7340.

Lee, J.S., Cella, M., McDonald, K.G., Garlanda, C., Kennedy, G.D., Nukaya, M.,

Mantovani, A., Kopan, R., Bradfield, C.A., Newberry, R.D. and Colonna, M. 2012. AHR drives the development of gut ILC22 cells and postnatal lymphoid tissues via pathways dependent on and independent of Notch. *Nature Immunology* 13(2), pp. 144–151.

Lehar, S.M., Dooley, J., Farr, A.G. and Bevan, M.J. 2005. Notch ligands Delta 1 and Jagged1 transmit distinct signals to T-cell precursors. *Blood* 105(4), pp. 1440–1447.

Lewis, G.M., Macal, M., Hesser, C.R. and Zuniga, E.I. 2015. Constitutive but not inducible attenuation of transforming growth factor β signaling increases natural killer cell responses without directly affecting dendritic cells early after persistent viral infection. *Journal of Virology* 89, pp. 3343–3355.

Li, H., Han, Y., Guo, Q., Zhang, M. and Cao, X. 2009. Cancer-expanded myeloidderived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGF-beta 1. *Journal of Immunology* 182(1), pp. 240–249.

Li, L., Leid, M. and Rothenberg, E.V. 2010. An early T cell lineage commitment checkpoint dependent on the transcription factor Bcl11b. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 329, pp. 89–93.

Li, M.O. and Flavell, R.A. 2008. TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. *Cell* 134(3), pp. 392–404.

Li, M.O., Sanjabi, S. and Flavell, R.A. 2006. Transforming growth factor- β controls development, homeostasis, and tolerance of T cells by regulatory T cell-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Immunity* 25(3), pp. 455–471.

Li, M.O., Wan, Y.Y. and Flavell, R.A. 2007. T cell-produced transforming growth factor-beta1 controls T cell tolerance and regulates Th1- and Th17-cell differentiation. *Immunity* 26(5), pp. 579–591.

Li, P., Burke, S., Wang, J., Chen, X., Ortiz, M., Lee, S.-C., Lu, D., Campos, L., Goulding, D., Ng, B.L., Dougan, G., Huntly, B., Gottgens, B., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Colucci, F. and Liu, P. 2010. Reprogramming of T cells to natural killer-like cells upon Bcl11b deletion. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 329, pp. 85–89.

Liang, H.E., Reinhardt, R.L., Bando, J.K., Sullivan, B.M., Ho, I.C. and Locksley, R.M. 2012. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nature Immunology* 13(1), pp. 58–66.

Lindemans, C.A., Calafiore, M., Mertelsmann, A.M., O'Connor, M.H., Dudakov, J.A., Jenq, R.R., Velardi, E., Young, L.F., Smith, O.M., Lawrence, G., Ivanov, J.A., Fu, Y.Y., Takashima, S., Hua, G., Martin, M.L., O'Rourke, K.P., Lo, Y.H., Mokry, M., Romera-Hernandez, M., Cupedo, T., Dow, L.E., Nieuwenhuis, E.E., Shroyer, N.F., Liu, C., Kolesnick, R., van den Brink, M.R. and Hanash, A.M.

2015. Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal-stem-cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. *Nature* 528(7583), pp. 560–564.

Liu, R.Y., Zeng, Y., Lei, Z., Wang, L., Yang, H., Liu, Z., Zhao, J. and Zhang, H.T. 2014. JAK/STAT3 signaling is required for TGF-β-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition in lung cancer cells. *International Journal of Oncology* 44(5), pp. 1643–1651.

Ljunggren, H.G. and Kärre, K. 1985. Host resistance directed selectively against H-2-deficient lymphoma variants. Analysis of the mechanism. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 162(6), pp. 1745–1759.

Ljunggren, H.G. and Kärre, K. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunology today* 11, pp. 237–244. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2201309.

Lohoff, M., Duncan, G.S., Ferrick, D., Mittrücker, H.W., Bischof, S., Prechtl, S., Röllinghoff, M., Schmitt, E., Pahl, A. and Mak, T.W. 2000. Deficiency in the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-2 leads to severely compromised development of natural killer and T helper type 1 cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 192(3), pp. 325–336.

Luci, C., Reynders, A., Ivanov, I.I., Cognet, C., Chiche, L., Chasson, L., Hardwigsen, J., Anguiano, E., Banchereau, J., Chaussabel, D., Dalod, M., Littman, D.R., Vivier, E. and Tomasello, E. 2009. Influence of the transcription factor RORyt on the development of NKp46+ cell populations in gut and skin. *Nature Immunology* 10(1), pp. 75–82.

Ma, C. and Zhang, N. 2015. Transforming growth factor-β signaling is constantly shaping memory T-cell population. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(35), pp. 11013–11017.

Madera, S., Rapp, M., Firth, M.A., Beilke, J.N., Lanier, L.L. and Sun, J.C. 2016. Type I IFN promotes NK cell expansion during viral infection by protecting NK cells against fratricide. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*.

Madera, S. and Sun, J.C. 2015. Cutting edge: stage-specific requirement of IL-18 for antiviral NK cell expansion. *Journal of Immunology* 194(4), pp. 1408–1412.

Maillard, I., Fang, T. and Pear, W.S. 2005. Regulation of lymphoid development, differentiation, and function by the Notch pathway. *Annual Review of Immunology* 23, pp. 945–974.

Male, V., Nisoli, I., Kostrzewski, T., Allan, D.S., Carlyle, J.R., Lord, G.M., Wack, A. and Brady, H.J. 2014. The transcription factor E4bp4/Nfil3 controls commitment to the NK lineage and directly regulates Eomes and Id2 expression. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(4), pp. 635–642.

Mandaric, S., Walton, S.M., Rülicke, T., Richter, K., Girard-Madoux, M.J., Clausen, B.E., Zurunic, A., Kamanaka, M., Flavell, R.A., Jonjic, S. and Oxenius, A. 2012. IL-10 suppression of NK/DC crosstalk leads to poor priming of MCMVspecific CD4 T cells and prolonged MCMV persistence. *PLoS Pathogens* 8(8), p. e1002846. Available at:

http://journals.plos.org/plospathogens/article?id=10.1371/journal.ppat.1002846.

Marçais, A., Cherfils-Vicini, J., Viant, C., Degouve, S., Viel, S., Fenis, A., Rabilloud, J., Mayol, K., Tavares, A., Bienvenu, J., Gangloff, Y.G., Gilson, E., Vivier, E. and Walzer, T. 2014. The metabolic checkpoint kinase mTOR is essential for IL-15 signaling during the development and activation of NK cells. *Nature Immunology* 15(8), pp. 749–757.

Marcoe, J.P., Lim, J.R., Schaubert, K.L., Fodil-Cornu, N., Matka, M., McCubbrey, A.L., Farr, A.R., Vidal, S.M. and Laouar, Y. 2012. TGF-β is responsible for NK cell immaturity during ontogeny and increased susceptibility to infection during mouse infancy. *Nature Immunology* 13, pp. 843–850.

Marie, J.C., Liggitt, D. and Rudensky, A.Y. 2006. Cellular mechanisms of fatal early-onset autoimmunity in mice with the T cell-specific targeting of transforming growth factor-beta receptor. *Immunity* 25(3), pp. 441–454.

Massague, J. 2012. TGFβ signalling in context. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology* 13, pp. 616–630.

Massagué, J., Seoane, J. and Wotton, D. 2005. Smad transcription factors. *Genes & Development* 19(23), pp. 2783–2810.

Meadows, S.K., Eriksson, M., Barber, A. and Sentman, C.L. 2006. Human NK cell IFN-γ production is regulated by endogenous TGF-β. *International immunopharmacology* 6, pp. 1020–1028.

Mebius, R.E., Rennert, P. and Weissman, I.L. 1997. Developing Lymph Nodes Collect CD4+CD3– LT β + Cells That Can Differentiate to APC, NK Cells, and Follicular Cells but Not T or B Cells. *Immunity* 7(4), pp. 493–504.

Min-Oo, G., Bezman, N.A., Madera, S., Sun, J.C. and Lanier, L.L. 2014. Proapoptotic Bim regulates antigen-specific NK cell contraction and the generation of the memory NK cell pool after cytomegalovirus infection. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(7), pp. 1289–1296.

Min-Oo, G., Kamimura, Y., Hendricks, D.W., Nabekura, T. and Lanier, L.L. 2013. Natural killer cells: walking three paths down memory lane. *Trends in Immunology* 34(6), pp. 251–258.

Mitsui, S., Yamaguchi, S., Matsuo, T., Ishida, Y. and Okamura, H. 2001. Antagonistic role of E4BP4 and PAR proteins in the circadian oscillatory mechanism. *Genes & Development* 15(8), pp. 995–1006. Molofsky, A.B., Nussbaum, J.C., Liang, H.E., Van Dyken, S.J., Cheng, L.E., Mohapatra, A., Chawla, A. and Locksley, R.M. 2013. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210(3), pp. 535–549.

Monticelli, L.A., Sonnenberg, G.F., Abt, M.C., Alenghat, T., Ziegler, C.G.K., Doering, T.A., Angelosanto, J.M., Laidlaw, B.J., Yang, C.Y., Sathaliyawala, T., Kubota, M., Turner, D., Diamond, J.M., Goldrath, A.W., Farber, D.L., Collman, R.G., Wherry, E.J. and Artis, D. 2011. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nature Immunology* 12(11), pp. 1045–1054.

Moro, K., Yamada, T., Tanabe, M., Takeuchi, T., Ikawa, T., Kawamoto, H., Furusawa, J., Ohtani, M., Fujii, H. and Koyasu, S. 2010. Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. *Nature* 463(7280), pp. 540–544.

Motomura, Y., Kitamura, H., Hijikata, A., Matsunaga, Y., Matsumoto, K., Inoue, H., Atarashi, K., Hori, S., Watarai, H., Zhu, J., Taniguchi, M. and Kubo, M. 2011. The transcription factor E4BP4 regulates the production of IL-10 and IL-13 in CD4+ T cells. *Nature Immunology* 12(5), pp. 450–459.

Munger, J.S., Huang, X., Kawakatsu, H., Griffiths, M.J., Dalton, S.L., Wu, J., Pittet, J.F., Kaminski, N., Garat, C., Matthay, M.A., Rifkin, D.B. and Sheppard, D. 1999. The integrin alpha v beta 6 binds and activates latent TGF beta 1: a mechanism for regulating pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *Cell* 96(3), pp. 319–328.

Munneke, J.M., Björklund, A.T., Mjösberg, J.M., Garming-Legert, K., Bernink, J.H., Blom, B., Huisman, C., van Oers, M.H., Spits, H., Malmberg, K.J. and Hazenberg, M.D. 2014. Activated innate lymphoid cells are associated with a reduced susceptibility to graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* 124(5), pp. 812–821.

Nabekura, T., Girard, J.P. and Lanier, L.L. 2015. IL-33 receptor ST2 amplifies the expansion of NK cells and enhances host defense during mouse cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of Immunology* 194(12), pp. 5948–5952.

Narni-Mancinelli, E., Chaix, J., Fenis, A., Kerdiles, Y.M., Yessaad, N., Reynders, A., Gregoire, C., Luche, H., Ugolini, S., Tomasello, E., Walzer, T. and Vivier, E. 2011. Fate mapping analysis of lymphoid cells expressing the NKp46 cell surface receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108(45), pp. 18324–18329.

Neill, D.R., Wong, S.H., Bellosi, A., Flynn, R.J., Daly, M., Langford, T.K., Bucks, C., Kane, C.M., Fallon, P.G., Pannell, R., Jolin, H.E. and McKenzie, A.N. 2010. Nuocytes represent a new innate effector leukocyte that mediates type-2 immunity. *Nature* 464(7293), pp. 1367–1370. Nguyen, K.B., Salazar-Mather, T.P., Dalod, M.Y., Van Deusen, J.B., Wei, X.Q., Liew, F.Y., Caligiuri, M.A., Durbin, J.E. and Biron, C.A. 2002. Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-alpha beta, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. *Journal of Immunology* 169(8), pp. 4279–4287.

Ni, J., Chen, S.F. and Hollander, D. 1996. Effects of dextran sulphate sodium on intestinal epithelial cells and intestinal lymphocytes. *Gut* 39(2), pp. 234–241.

Nunes, I., Shapiro, R.L. and Rifkin, D.B. 1995. Characterization of latent TGF- β activation by murine peritoneal macrophages. *Journal of Immunology* 155(3), pp. 1450–1459.

Nussbaum, J.C., Van Dyken, S.J., von Moltke, J., Cheng, L.E., Mohapatra, A., Molofsky, A.B., Thornton, E.E., Krummel, M.F., Chawla, A., Liang, H.E. and Locksley, R.M. 2013. Type 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophil homeostasis. *Nature* 502(7470), pp. 245–248.

O'Leary, J.G., Goodarzi, M., Drayton, D.L. and von Andrian, U.H. 2006. T celland B cell-independent adaptive immunity mediated by natural killer cells. *Nature Immunology* 7(5), pp. 507–516.

O'Shea, J.J., Schwartz, D.M., Villarino, A.V., Gadina, M., McInnes, I.B. and Laurence, A. 2015. The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. *Annual Review of Medicine* 66, pp. 311–328.

O'Sullivan, T.E., Johnson, L.R., Kang, H.H. and Sun, J.C. 2015. BNIP3- and BNIP3L-Mediated Mitophagy Promotes the Generation of Natural Killer Cell Memory. *Immunity* 43(2), pp. 331–342.

O'Sullivan, T.E., Sun, J.C. and Lanier, L.L. 2015. Natural Killer Cell Memory. *Immunity* 43(4), pp. 634–645.

De Obaldia, M.E. and Bhandoola, A. 2015. Transcriptional regulation of innate and adaptive lymphocyte lineages. *Annual Review of Immunology* 33, pp. 607–642.

Ohno, S., Sato, T., Kohu, K., Takeda, K., Okumura, K., Satake, M. and Habu, S. 2008. Runx proteins are involved in regulation of CD122, Ly49 family and IFN-gamma expression during NK cell differentiation. *International Immunology* 20(1), pp. 71–79.

Okayasu, I., Hatakeyama, S., Yamada, M., Ohkusa, T., Inagaki, Y. and Nakaya, R. 1990. A novel method in the induction of reliable experimental acute and chronic ulcerative colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology* 98(3), pp. 694–702.

Oliphant, C.J., Hwang, Y.Y., Walker, J.A., Salimi, M., Wong, S.H., Brewer, J.M., Englezakis, A., Barlow, J.L., Hams, E., Scanlon, S.T., Ogg, G.S., Fallon, P.G. and McKenzie, A.N. 2014. MHCII-mediated dialog between group 2 innate

lymphoid cells and CD4(+) T cells potentiates type 2 immunity and promotes parasitic helminth expulsion. *Immunity* 41(2), pp. 283–295.

Orange, J.S. 2006. Human natural killer cell deficiencies. *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 6(6), pp. 399–409.

Orange, J.S. and Biron, C.A. 1996. Characterization of early IL-12, IFNalphabeta, and TNF effects on antiviral state and NK cell responses during murine cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of Immunology* 156(12), pp. 4746– 4756.

Orr, M.T. and Lanier, L.L. 2010. Natural killer cell education and tolerance. *Cell* 142(6), pp. 847–856.

Ouyang, W., Oh, S.A., Ma, Q., Bivona, M.R., Zhu, J. and Li, M.O. 2013. TGF- β cytokine signaling promotes CD8+ T cell development and low-affinity CD4+ T cell homeostasis by regulation of interleukin-7 receptor α expression. *Immunity* 39(2), pp. 335–346. Available at:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1074761313003245.

Pancer, Z., Saha, N.R., Kasamatsu, J., Suzuki, T., Amemiya, C.T., Kasahara, M. and Cooper, M.D. 2005. Variable lymphocyte receptors in hagfish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(26), pp. 9224–9229.

Paust, S. and von Andrian, U.H. 2011. Natural killer cell memory. *Nature Immunology* 12(6), pp. 500–508.

Van de Pavert, S.A. and Mebius, R.E. 2010. New insights into the development of lymphoid tissues. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 10(9), pp. 664–674.

Pearce, E.L., Mullen, A.C., Martins, G.A., Krawczyk, C.M., Hutchins, A.S., Zediak, V.P., Banica, M., DiCioccio, C.B., Gross, D.A., Mao, C.A., Shen, H., Cereb, N., Yang, S.Y., Lindsten, T., Rossant, J., Hunter, C.A. and Reiner, S.L. 2003. Control of effector CD8+ T cell function by the transcription factor Eomesodermin. *Science (New York)* 302(5647), pp. 1041–1043.

Pien, G.C., Satoskar, A.R., Takeda, K., Akira, S. and Biron, C.A. 2000. Cutting edge: selective IL-18 requirements for induction of compartmental IFN-gamma responses during viral infection. *Journal of Immunology* 165(9), pp. 4787–4791.

Pikovskaya, O., Chaix, J., Rothman, N.J., Collins, A., Chen, Y.H., Scipioni, A.M., Vivier, E. and Reiner, S.L. 2016. Cutting Edge: Eomesodermin Is Sufficient To Direct Type 1 Innate Lymphocyte Development into the Conventional NK Lineage. *Journal of Immunology* 196(4), pp. 1449–1454.

Possot, C., Schmutz, S., Chea, S., Boucontet, L., Louise, A., Cumano, A. and Golub, R. 2011. Notch signaling is necessary for adult, but not fetal, development

of RORyt(+) innate lymphoid cells. *Nature Immunology* 12(10), pp. 949–958.

Price, A.E., Liang, H.E., Sullivan, B.M., Reinhardt, R.L., Eisley, C.J., Erle, D.J. and Locksley, R.M. 2010. Systemically dispersed innate IL-13-expressing cells in type 2 immunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(25), pp. 11489–11494.

Qin, H., Wang, L., Feng, T., Elson, C.O., Niyongere, S.A., Lee, S.J., Reynolds, S.L., Weaver, C.T., Roarty, K., Serra, R., Benveniste, E.N. and Cong, Y. 2009. TGF-β promotes Th17 cell development through inhibition of SOCS3. *Journal of Immunology* 183(1), pp. 97–105.

Qiu, J., Heller, J.J., Guo, X., Chen, Z.M., Fish, K., Fu, Y.X. and Zhou, L. 2012. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor regulates gut immunity through modulation of innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* 36(1), pp. 92–104.

Ramirez, K., Chandler, K.J., Spaulding, C., Zandi, S., Sigvardsson, M., Graves, B.J. and Kee, B.L. 2012. Gene deregulation and chronic activation in natural killer cells deficient in the transcription factor ETS1. *Immunity* 36(6), pp. 921–932.

Ranges, G.E., Figari, I.S., Espevik, T. and Palladino, M.A. 1987. Inhibition of cytotoxic T cell development by transforming growth factor β and reversal by recombinant tumor necrosis factor α . *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 166(4), pp. 991–998. Available at: http://jem.rupress.org/content/166/4/991.full.pdf.

De Robertis, M., Massi, E., Poeta, M.L., Carotti, S., Morini, S., Cecchetelli, L., Signori, E. and Fazio, V.M. 2011. The AOM/DSS murine model for the study of colon carcinogenesis: From pathways to diagnosis and therapy studies. *Journal of Carcinogenesis* 10, p. 9.

Robinette, M.L., Fuchs, A., Cortez, V.S., Lee, J.S., Wang, Y., Durum, S.K., Gilfillan, S., Colonna, M. and Immunological Genome Consortium 2015. Transcriptional programs define molecular characteristics of innate lymphoid cell classes and subsets. *Nature Immunology* 16(3), pp. 306–317.

Rook, A.H., Kehrl, J.H., Wakefield, L.M., Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., Burlington, D.B., Lane, H.C. and Fauci, A.S. 1986. Effects of transforming growth factor β on the functions of natural killer cells: depressed cytolytic activity and blunting of interferon responsiveness. *Journal of Immunology* 136(10), pp. 3916–3920.

Rosmaraki, E.E., Douagi, I., Roth, C., Colucci, F., Cumano, A. and Di Santo, J.P. 2001. Identification of committed NK cell progenitors in adult murine bone marrow. *European Journal of Immunology* 31(6), pp. 1900–1909.

Rouce, R.H., Shaim, H., Sekine, T., Weber, G., Ballard, B., Ku, S., Barese, C., Murali, V., Wu, M.-F., Liu, H., Shpall, E.J., Bollard, C.M., Rabin, K.R. and Rezvani, K. 2015. The TGF- β /SMAD pathway is an important mechanism for NK

cell immune evasion in childhood B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia.

Rupnik, M., Wilcox, M.H. and Gerding, D.N. 2009. Clostridium difficile infection: new developments in epidemiology and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology* 7(7), pp. 526–536.

Sabat, R., Ouyang, W. and Wolk, K. 2013. Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system. *Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery* 13(1), pp. 21–38.

Sad, S. and Mosmann, T.R. 1994. Single IL-2-secreting precursor CD4 T cell can develop into either Th1 or Th2 cytokine secretion phenotype. *Journal of Immunology* 153(8), pp. 3514–3522. Available at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/153/8/3514.full.pdf.

Samson, S.I., Richard, O., Tavian, M., Ranson, T., Vosshenrich, C.A., Colucci, F., Buer, J., Grosveld, F., Godin, I. and Di Santo, J.P. 2003. GATA-3 promotes maturation, IFN-gamma production, and liver-specific homing of NK cells. *Immunity* 19(5), pp. 701–711.

Sanjabi, S., Mosaheb, M.M. and Flavell, R.A. 2009. Opposing effects of TGFbeta and IL-15 cytokines control the number of short-lived effector CD8+ T cells. *Immunity* 31(1), pp. 131–144.

Sanos, S.L., Bui, V.L., Mortha, A., Oberle, K., Heners, C., Johner, C. and Diefenbach, A. 2009. RORγt and commensal microflora are required for the differentiation of mucosal interleukin 22-producing NKp46+ cells. *Nature Immunology* 10(1), pp. 83–91.

Di Santo, J.P. 2006. Natural killer cell developmental pathways: a question of balance. *Annual Review of Immunology* 24, pp. 257–286.

Satoh-Takayama, N., Lesjean-Pottier, S., Vieira, P., Sawa, S., Eberl, G., Vosshenrich, C.A. and Di Santo, J.P. 2010. IL-7 and IL-15 independently program the differentiation of intestinal CD3-NKp46+ cell subsets from Id2-dependent precursors. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 207(2), pp. 273–280.

Satoh-Takayama, N., Vosshenrich, C.A., Lesjean-Pottier, S., Sawa, S., Lochner, M., Rattis, F., Mention, J.J., Thiam, K., Cerf-Bensussan, N., Mandelboim, O., Eberl, G. and Di Santo, J.P. 2008. Microbial flora drives interleukin 22 production in intestinal NKp46+ cells that provide innate mucosal immune defense. *Immunity* 29(6), pp. 958–970.

Sawa, S., Cherrier, M., Lochner, M., Satoh-Takayama, N., Fehling, H.J., Langa, F., Di Santo, J.P. and Eberl, G. 2010. Lineage relationship analysis of RORgammat+ innate lymphoid cells. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 330, pp. 665–669.

Scalzo, A.A., Fitzgerald, N.A., Simmons, A., La Vista, A.B. and Shellam, G.R. 1990. Cmv-1, a genetic locus that controls murine cytomegalovirus replication in the spleen. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 171(5), pp. 1469–1483.

Scandella, E., Bolinger, B., Lattmann, E., Miller, S., Favre, S., Littman, D.R., Finke, D., Luther, S.A., Junt, T. and Ludewig, B. 2008. Restoration of lymphoid organ integrity through the interaction of lymphoid tissue-inducer cells with stroma of the T cell zone. *Nature Immunology* 9(6), pp. 667–675.

Schmitt, N., Liu, Y., Bentebibel, S.E., Munagala, I., Bourdery, L., Venuprasad, K., Banchereau, J. and Ueno, H. 2014. The cytokine TGF-β co-opts signaling via STAT3-STAT4 to promote the differentiation of human TFH cells. *Nature Immunology* 15(9), pp. 856–865.

Schotte, R., Dontje, W., Nagasawa, M., Yasuda, Y., Bakker, A.Q., Spits, H. and Blom, B. 2010. Synergy between IL-15 and Id2 promotes the expansion of human NK progenitor cells, which can be counteracted by the E protein HEB required to drive T cell development. *Journal of Immunology* 184(12), pp. 6670– 6679.

Schwartzkopff, S., Woyciechowski, S., Aichele, U., Flecken, T., Zhang, N., Thimme, R. and Pircher, H. 2015. TGF- β downregulates KLRG1 expression in mouse and human CD8(+) T cells. *European Journal of Immunology* 45(8), pp. 2212–2217.

Seaman, W.E., Gindhart, T.D., Greenspan, J.S., Blackman, M.A. and Talal, N. 1979. Natural killer cells, bone, and the bone marrow: studies in estrogen-treated mice and in congenitally osteopetrotic (mi/mi) mice. *Journal of Immunology* 122(6), pp. 2541–2547.

Seehus, C.R., Aliahmad, P., de la Torre, B., Iliev, I.D., Spurka, L., Funari, V.A. and Kaye, J. 2015. The development of innate lymphoid cells requires TOX-dependent generation of a common innate lymphoid cell progenitor. *Nature Immunology* 16(6), pp. 599–608.

Seehus, C.R. and Kaye, J. 2015. The Role of TOX in the Development of Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2015, p. 243868.

Seillet, C., Belz, G.T. and Huntington, N.D. 2015. Development, Homeostasis, and Heterogeneity of NK Cells and ILC1. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*.

Seillet, C., Huntington, N.D., Gangatirkar, P., Axelsson, E., Minnich, M., Brady, H.J., Busslinger, M., Smyth, M.J., Belz, G.T. and Carotta, S. 2014. Differential requirement for Nfil3 during NK cell development. *Journal of Immunology* 192(6), pp. 2667–2676.

Seillet, C., Rankin, L.C., Groom, J.R., Mielke, L.A., Tellier, J., Chopin, M.,

Huntington, N.D., Belz, G.T. and Carotta, S. 2014. Nfil3 is required for the development of all innate lymphoid cell subsets. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211(9), pp. 1733–1740.

Serafini, N., Klein Wolterink, R.G.J., Satoh-Takayama, N., Xu, W., Vosshenrich, C.A.J., Hendriks, R.W. and Di Santo, J.P. 2014. Gata3 drives development of RORyt+ group 3 innate lymphoid cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 211, pp. 199–208.

Serafini, N., Vosshenrich, C.A. and Di Santo, J.P. 2015. Transcriptional regulation of innate lymphoid cell fate. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 15(7), pp. 415–428.

Shanley, J.D. 1990. In vivo administration of monoclonal antibody to the NK 1.1 antigen of natural killer cells: Effect on acute murine cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of Medical Virology* 30(1), pp. 58–60.

Shellam, G.R., Allan, J.E., Papadimitriou, J.M. and Bancroft, G.J. 1981. Increased susceptibility to cytomegalovirus infection in beige mutant mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 78(8), pp. 5104–5108.

Shin, J.H., Zhang, L., Murillo-Sauca, O., Kim, J., Kohrt, H.E., Bui, J.D. and Sunwoo, J.B. 2013. Modulation of natural killer cell antitumor activity by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 110(30), pp. 12391–12396.

Shull, M.M., Ormsby, I., Kier, A.B., Pawlowski, S., Diebold, R.J., Yin, M., Allen, R., Sidman, C., Proetzel, G. and Calvin, D. 1992. Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature* 359(6397), pp. 693–699.

Smith, H.R., Heusel, J.W., Mehta, I.K., Kim, S., Dorner, B.G., Naidenko, O.V., lizuka, K., Furukawa, H., Beckman, D.L., Pingel, J.T., Scalzo, A.A., Fremont, D.H. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2002. Recognition of a virus-encoded ligand by a natural killer cell activation receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99(13), pp. 8826–8831.

Smyth, M.J., Cretney, E., Kelly, J.M., Westwood, J.A., Street, S.E., Yagita, H., Takeda, K., van Dommelen, S.L., Degli-Esposti, M.A. and Hayakawa, Y. 2005. Activation of NK cell cytotoxicity. *Molecular Immunology* 42(4), pp. 501–510.

Smyth, M.J., Cretney, E., Takeda, K., Wiltrout, R.H., Sedger, L.M., Kayagaki, N., Yagita, H. and Okumura, K. 2001. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) contributes to interferon gamma-dependent natural killer cell protection from tumor metastasis. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 193(6), pp. 661–670. Sojka, D K, Plougastel-Douglas, B., Yang, L., Pak-Wittel, M.A., Artyomov, M.N., Ivanova, Y., Zhong, C., Chase, J.M., Rothman, P.B., Yu, J., Riley, J.K., Zhu, J., Tian, Z. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2014. Tissue-resident natural killer (NK) cells are cell lineages distinct from thymic and conventional splenic NK cells. *eLife* 3, p. e01659.

Sojka, Dorothy K, Tian, Z. and Yokoyama, W.M. 2014. Tissue-resident natural killer cells and their potential diversity. *Seminars in immunology* 26, pp. 127–131.

Song, H., Hur, D.-Y., Kim, K.-E., Park, H., Kim, T., Kim, C., Bang, S. and Cho, D.-H. 2006. IL-2/IL-18 prevent the down-modulation of NKG2D by TGF-beta in NK cells via the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway. *Cellular immunology* 242, pp. 39–45.

Sonnenberg, G.F., Mjösberg, J., Spits, H. and Artis, D. 2013. SnapShot: innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* 39(3), pp. 622–622.e1.

Sonnenberg, G.F., Monticelli, L.A., Alenghat, T., Fung, T.C., Hutnick, N.A., Kunisawa, J., Shibata, N., Grunberg, S., Sinha, R., Zahm, A.M., Tardif, M.R., Sathaliyawala, T., Kubota, M., Farber, D.L., Collman, R.G., Shaked, A., Fouser, L.A., Weiner, D.B., Tessier, P.A., Friedman, J.R., Kiyono, H., Bushman, F.D., Chang, K.-M. and Artis, D. 2012. Innate lymphoid cells promote anatomical containment of lymphoid-resident commensal bacteria. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 336, pp. 1321–1325.

Sonnenberg, G.F., Monticelli, L.A., Elloso, M.M., Fouser, L.A. and Artis, D. 2011. CD4(+) lymphoid tissue-inducer cells promote innate immunity in the gut. *Immunity* 34(1), pp. 122–134.

Spits, H., Artis, D., Colonna, M., Diefenbach, A., Di Santo, J.P., Eberl, G., Koyasu, S., Locksley, R.M., McKenzie, A.N., Mebius, R.E., Powrie, F. and Vivier, E. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells--a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 13(2), pp. 145–149.

Spits, H. and Cupedo, T. 2012. Innate lymphoid cells: emerging insights in development, lineage relationships, and function. *Annual Review of Immunology* 30, pp. 647–675.

Spits, H. and Di Santo, J.P. 2011. The expanding family of innate lymphoid cells: regulators and effectors of immunity and tissue remodeling. *Nature Immunology* 12(1), pp. 21–27.

Spooner, C.J., Lesch, J., Yan, D., Khan, A.A., Abbas, A., Ramirez-Carrozzi, V., Zhou, M., Soriano, R., Eastham-Anderson, J., Diehl, L., Lee, W.P., Modrusan, Z., Pappu, R., Xu, M., DeVoss, J. and Singh, H. 2013. Specification of type 2 innate lymphocytes by the transcriptional determinant Gfi1. *Nature Immunology* 14(12), pp. 1229–1236.

Stacey, M.A., Marsden, M., Wang, E.C., Wilkinson, G.W. and Humphreys, I.R. 2011. IL-10 restricts activation-induced death of NK cells during acute murine cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of Immunology* 187(6), pp. 2944–2952.

Stetson, D.B., Mohrs, M., Reinhardt, R.L., Baron, J.L., Wang, Z.E., Gapin, L., Kronenberg, M. and Locksley, R.M. 2003. Constitutive cytokine mRNAs mark natural killer (NK) and NK T cells poised for rapid effector function. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 198(7), pp. 1069–1076.

Su, H.C., Ishikawa, R. and Biron, C.A. 1993. Transforming growth factor- β expression and natural killer cell responses during virus infection of normal, nude, and SCID mice. *Journal of Immunology* 151(9), pp. 4874–4890.

Sudarshan, C., Galon, J., Zhou, Y. and O'Shea, J.J. 1999. TGF-beta does not inhibit IL-12- and IL-2-induced activation of Janus kinases and STATs. *Journal of Immunology* 162(5), pp. 2974–2981.

Sun, J.C., Beilke, J.N. and Lanier, L.L. 2009. Adaptive immune features of natural killer cells. *Nature* 457(7229), pp. 557–561.

Sun, J.C., Madera, S., Bezman, N.A., Beilke, J.N., Kaplan, M.H. and Lanier, L.L. 2012. Proinflammatory cytokine signaling required for the generation of natural killer cell memory. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 209(5), pp. 947–954.

Sun, Z., Unutmaz, D., Zou, Y.R., Sunshine, M.J., Pierani, A., Brenner-Morton, S., Mebius, R.E. and Littman, D.R. 2000. Requirement for RORγ in thymocyte survival and lymphoid organ development. *Science (New York)* 288(5475), pp. 2369–2373.

Swain, S.L., Huston, G., Tonkonogy, S. and Weinberg, A. 1991. Transforming growth factor-β and IL-4 cause helper T cell precursors to develop into distinct effector helper cells that differ in lymphokine secretion pattern and cell surface phenotype. *Journal of Immunology* 147(9), pp. 2991–3000. Available at: http://www.jimmunol.org/content/147/9/2991.full.pdf.

Szczepanski, M.J., Szajnik, M., Welsh, A., Whiteside, T.L. and Boyiadzis, M. 2011. Blast-derived microvesicles in sera from patients with acute myeloid leukemia suppress natural killer cell function via membrane-associated transforming growth factor-beta1. *Haematologica* 96(9), pp. 1302–1309.

Takai, S., Schlom, J., Tucker, J., Tsang, K.Y. and Greiner, J.W. 2013. Inhibition of TGF-β1 signaling promotes central memory T cell differentiation. *The Journal of Immunology* 191, pp. 2299–2307.

Takeda, K., Cretney, E., Hayakawa, Y., Ota, T., Akiba, H., Ogasawara, K., Yagita, H., Kinoshita, K., Okumura, K. and Smyth, M.J. 2005. TRAIL identifies immature natural killer cells in newborn mice and adult mouse liver. *Blood* 105(5), pp. 2082–2089. Taki, S., Nakajima, S., Ichikawa, E., Saito, T. and Hida, S. 2005. IFN regulatory factor-2 deficiency revealed a novel checkpoint critical for the generation of peripheral NK cells. *Journal of Immunology* 174(10), pp. 6005–6012.

Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Suzuki, R., Yamada, Y., Sugie, S. and Mori, H. 2003. A novel inflammation-related mouse colon carcinogenesis model induced by azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate. *Cancer Science* 94(11), pp. 965–973.

Teunissen, M.B., Munneke, J.M., Bernink, J.H., Spuls, P.I., Res, P.C., Te Velde, A., Cheuk, S., Brouwer, M.W., Menting, S.P., Eidsmo, L., Spits, H., Hazenberg, M.D. and Mjösberg, J. 2014. Composition of innate lymphoid cell subsets in the human skin: enrichment of NCR(+) ILC3 in lesional skin and blood of psoriasis patients. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 134(9), pp. 2351–2360.

Thaker, A.I., Shaker, A., Rao, M.S. and Ciorba, M.A. 2012. Modeling colitisassociated cancer with azoxymethane (AOM) and dextran sulfate sodium (DSS). *Journal of Visualized Experiments* (67).

Thierfelder, W.E., van Deursen, J.M., Yamamoto, K., Tripp, R.A., Sarawar, S.R., Carson, R.T., Sangster, M.Y., Vignali, D.A., Doherty, P.C., Grosveld, G.C. and Ihle, J.N. 1996. Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells. *Nature* 382(6587), pp. 171–174.

Tinoco, R., Alcalde, V., Yang, Y., Sauer, K. and Zuniga, E.I. 2009. Cell-intrinsic transforming growth factor-beta signaling mediates virus-specific CD8+ T cell deletion and viral persistence in vivo. *Immunity* 31(1), pp. 145–157.

Townsend, M.J., Weinmann, A.S., Matsuda, J.L., Salomon, R., Farnham, P.J., Biron, C.A., Gapin, L. and Glimcher, L.H. 2004. T-bet regulates the terminal maturation and homeostasis of NK and Valpha14i NKT cells. *Immunity* 20(4), pp. 477–494.

Travis, M.A., Reizis, B., Melton, A.C., Masteller, E., Tang, Q., Proctor, J.M., Wang, Y., Bernstein, X., Huang, X., Reichardt, L.F., Bluestone, J.A. and Sheppard, D. 2007. Loss of integrin alpha(v)beta8 on dendritic cells causes autoimmunity and colitis in mice. *Nature* 449(7160), pp. 361–365.

Trotta, R., Dal Col, J., Yu, J., Ciarlariello, D., Thomas, B., Zhang, X., Allard, J., Wei, M., Mao, H., Byrd, J.C., Perrotti, D. and Caligiuri, M.A. 2008. TGF-beta utilizes SMAD3 to inhibit CD16-mediated IFN-gamma production and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity in human NK cells. *Journal of Immunology* 181(6), pp. 3784–3792.

Ubeda, C., Lipuma, L., Gobourne, A., Viale, A., Leiner, I., Equinda, M., Khanin, R. and Pamer, E.G. 2012. Familial transmission rather than defective innate immunity shapes the distinct intestinal microbiota of TLR-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 209(8), pp. 1445–1456.

Villanova, F., Flutter, B., Tosi, I., Grys, K., Sreeneebus, H., Perera, G.K., Chapman, A., Smith, C.H., Di Meglio, P. and Nestle, F.O. 2014. Characterization of innate lymphoid cells in human skin and blood demonstrates increase of NKp44+ ILC3 in psoriasis. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology* 134(4), pp. 984–991.

Vivier, E., Raulet, D.H., Moretta, A., Caligiuri, M.A., Zitvogel, L., Lanier, L.L., Yokoyama, W.M. and Ugolini, S. 2011. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 331, pp. 44–49.

Vivier, E., Ugolini, S., Blaise, D., Chabannon, C. and Brossay, L. 2012. Targeting natural killer cells and natural killer T cells in cancer. *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 12(4), pp. 239–252.

Voehringer, D., Reese, T.A., Huang, X., Shinkai, K. and Locksley, R.M. 2006. Type 2 immunity is controlled by IL-4/IL-13 expression in hematopoietic noneosinophil cells of the innate immune system. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 203(6), pp. 1435–1446.

Vonarbourg, C., Mortha, A., Bui, V.L., Hernandez, P.P., Kiss, E.A., Hoyler, T., Flach, M., Bengsch, B., Thimme, R., Hölscher, C., Hönig, M., Pannicke, U., Schwarz, K., Ware, C.F., Finke, D. and Diefenbach, A. 2010. Regulated expression of nuclear receptor RORyt confers distinct functional fates to NK cell receptor-expressing RORyt(+) innate lymphocytes. *Immunity* 33, pp. 736–751.

Vong, Q.P., Leung, W.H., Houston, J., Li, Y., Rooney, B., Holladay, M., Oostendorp, R.A. and Leung, W. 2014. TOX2 regulates human natural killer cell development by controlling T-BET expression. *Blood* 124(26), pp. 3905–3913.

Vosshenrich, C.A., García-Ojeda, M.E., Samson-Villéger, S.I., Pasqualetto, V., Enault, L., Richard-Le Goff, O., Corcuff, E., Guy-Grand, D., Rocha, B., Cumano, A., Rogge, L., Ezine, S. and Di Santo, J.P. 2006. A thymic pathway of mouse natural killer cell development characterized by expression of GATA-3 and CD127. *Nature Immunology* 7(11), pp. 1217–1224.

Wahl, S.M., Wen, J. and Moutsopoulos, N.M. 2006. The kiss of death: interrupted by NK-cell close encounters of another kind. *Trends in Immunology* 27(4), pp. 161–164.

Walker, J.A., Barlow, J.L. and McKenzie, A.N. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells--how did we miss them? *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 13(2), pp. 75–87.

Walker, J.A., Oliphant, C.J., Englezakis, A., Yu, Y., Clare, S., Rodewald, H.R., Belz, G., Liu, P., Fallon, P.G. and McKenzie, A.N. 2015. Bcl11b is essential for group 2 innate lymphoid cell development. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(6), pp. 875–882.

Walton, S.M., Wyrsch, P., Munks, M.W., Zimmermann, A., Hengel, H., Hill, A.B.

and Oxenius, A. 2008. The dynamics of mouse cytomegalovirus-specific CD4 T cell responses during acute and latent infection. *Journal of Immunology* 181(2), pp. 1128–1134.

Welsh, R.M., Brubaker, J.O., Vargas-Cortes, M. and O'Donnell, C.L. 1991. Natural killer (NK) cell response to virus infections in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. The stimulation of NK cells and the NK cell-dependent control of virus infections occur independently of T and B cell function. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 173(5), pp. 1053–1063.

Welsh, R.M., Dundon, P.L., Eynon, E.E., Brubaker, J.O., Koo, G.C. and O'Donnell, C.L. 1990. Demonstration of the antiviral role of natural killer cells in vivo with a natural killer cell-specific monoclonal antibody (NK 1.1). *Natural immunity and cell growth regulation* 9(2), pp. 112–120.

Welsh, R.M., O'Donnell, C.L. and Shultz, L.D. 1994. Antiviral activity of NK 1.1+ natural killer cells in C57BL/6 scid mice infected with murine cytomegalovirus. *Natural immunity* 13(5), pp. 239–245.

Wilson, E.B., El-Jawhari, J.J., Neilson, A.L., Hall, G.D., Melcher, A.A., Meade, J.L. and Cook, G.P. 2011. Human tumour immune evasion via TGF- β blocks NK cell activation but not survival allowing therapeutic restoration of anti-tumour activity. *PLoS ONE* 6, p. e22842.

Wong, S.H., Walker, J.A., Jolin, H.E., Drynan, L.F., Hams, E., Camelo, A., Barlow, J.L., Neill, D.R., Panova, V., Koch, U., Radtke, F., Hardman, C.S., Hwang, Y.Y., Fallon, P.G. and McKenzie, A.N.J. 2012. Transcription factor RORα is critical for nuocyte development. *Nature Immunology* 13, pp. 229–236.

Worthington, J.J., Kelly, A., Smedley, C., Bauché, D., Campbell, S., Marie, J.C. and Travis, M.A. 2015. Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 8-Mediated TGF- β Activation by Effector Regulatory T Cells Is Essential for Suppression of T-Cell-Mediated Inflammation. *Immunity* 42, pp. 903–915.

Wrana, J.L., Attisano, L., Wieser, R., Ventura, F. and Massagué, J. 1994. Mechanism of activation of the TGF-beta receptor. *Nature* 370(6488), pp. 341–347.

Xu, W., Domingues, R.G., Fonseca-Pereira, D., Ferreira, M., Ribeiro, H., Lopez-Lastra, S., Motomura, Y., Moreira-Santos, L., Bihl, F., Braud, V., Kee, B., Brady, H., Coles, M.C., Vosshenrich, C., Kubo, M., Di Santo, J.P. and Veiga-Fernandes, H. 2015. NFIL3 orchestrates the emergence of common helper innate lymphoid cell precursors. *Cell reports* 10(12), pp. 2043–2054.

Yagi, R., Zhong, C., Northrup, D.L., Yu, F., Bouladoux, N., Spencer, S., Hu, G., Barron, L., Sharma, S., Nakayama, T., Belkaid, Y., Zhao, K. and Zhu, J. 2014. The transcription factor GATA3 is critical for the development of all IL-7Rα-expressing innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* 40, pp. 378–388.

Yang, M., Li, D., Chang, Z., Yang, Z., Tian, Z. and Dong, Z. 2015. PDK1 orchestrates early NK cell development through induction of E4BP4 expression and maintenance of IL-15 responsiveness. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(2), pp. 253–265.

Yang, Q., Li, F., Harly, C., Xing, S., Ye, L., Xia, X., Wang, H., Wang, X., Yu, S., Zhou, X., Cam, M., Xue, H.H. and Bhandoola, A. 2015. TCF-1 upregulation identifies early innate lymphoid progenitors in the bone marrow. *Nature Immunology* 16(10), pp. 1044–1050.

Yang, Z., Mu, Z., Dabovic, B., Jurukovski, V., Yu, D., Sung, J., Xiong, X. and Munger, J.S. 2007. Absence of integrin-mediated TGFbeta1 activation in vivo recapitulates the phenotype of TGFbeta1-null mice. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 176(6), pp. 787–793.

Yates, A., Akanni, W., Amode, M.R., Barrell, D., Billis, K., Carvalho-Silva, D., Cummins, C., Clapham, P., Fitzgerald, S., Gil, L., Girón, C.G., Gordon, L., Hourlier, T., Hunt, S.E., Janacek, S.H., Johnson, N., Juettemann, T., Keenan, S., Lavidas, I., Martin, F.J., Maurel, T., McLaren, W., Murphy, D.N., Nag, R., Nuhn, M., Parker, A., Patricio, M., Pignatelli, M., Rahtz, M., Riat, H.S., Sheppard, D., Taylor, K., Thormann, A., Vullo, A., Wilder, S.P., Zadissa, A., Birney, E., Harrow, J., Muffato, M., Perry, E., Ruffier, M., Spudich, G., Trevanion, S.J., Cunningham, F., Aken, B.L., Zerbino, D.R. and Flicek, P. 2016. Ensembl 2016. *Nucleic Acids Research* 44(D1), pp. D710–D716.

Yehualaeshet, T., O'Connor, R., Green-Johnson, J., Mai, S., Silverstein, R., Murphy-Ullrich, J.E. and Khalil, N. 1999. Activation of rat alveolar macrophagederived latent transforming growth factor β -1 by plasmin requires interaction with thrombospondin-1 and its cell surface receptor, CD36. *The American Journal of Pathology* 155(3), pp. 841–851.

Yokota, Y., Mansouri, A., Mori, S., Sugawara, S., Adachi, S., Nishikawa, S. and Gruss, P. 1999. Development of peripheral lymphoid organs and natural killer cells depends on the helix-loop-helix inhibitor Id2. *Nature* 397(6721), pp. 702–706.

Yokoyama, W.M., Kim, S. and French, A.R. 2004. The dynamic life of natural killer cells. *Annual Review of Immunology* 22, pp. 405–429.

Yoon, J.H., Sudo, K., Kuroda, M., Kato, M., Lee, I.K., Han, J.S., Nakae, S., Imamura, T., Kim, J., Ju, J.H., Kim, D.K., Matsuzaki, K., Weinstein, M., Matsumoto, I., Sumida, T. and Mamura, M. 2015. Phosphorylation status determines the opposing functions of Smad2/Smad3 as STAT3 cofactors in TH17 differentiation. *Nature Communications* 6, p. 7600.

Yoshida, H., Kawamoto, H., Santee, S.M., Hashi, H., Honda, K., Nishikawa, S., Ware, C.F., Katsura, Y. and Nishikawa, S.I. 2001. Expression of $\alpha(4)\beta(7)$ integrin defines a distinct pathway of lymphoid progenitors committed to T cells, fetal

intestinal lymphotoxin producer, NK, and dendritic cells. *Journal of Immunology* 167(5), pp. 2511–2521.

Yu, H., Pardoll, D. and Jove, R. 2009. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 9(11), pp. 798–809.

Yu, H., Shen, Y., Sun, J., Xu, X., Wang, R., Xuan, Y., Lv, L. and Li, J. 2014. Molecular cloning and functional characterization of the NFIL3/E4BP4 transcription factor of grass carp, ctenopharyngodon idella. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*.

Yu, X., Rollins, D., Ruhn, K.A., Stubblefield, J.J., Green, C.B., Kashiwada, M., Rothman, P.B., Takahashi, J.S. and Hooper, L.V. 2013. TH17 cell differentiation is regulated by the circadian clock. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 342, pp. 727–730.

Yu, X., Wang, Y., Deng, M., Li, Y., Ruhn, K.A., Zhang, C.C. and Hooper, L.V. 2014. The basic leucine zipper transcription factor NFIL3 directs the development of a common innate lymphoid cell precursor. *eLife* 3.

Yu, Y., Wang, C., Clare, S., Wang, J., Lee, S.C., Brandt, C., Burke, S., Lu, L., He, D., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Dougan, G. and Liu, P. 2015. The transcription factor Bcl11b is specifically expressed in group 2 innate lymphoid cells and is essential for their development. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212(6), pp. 865–874.

Zhang, N. and Bevan, M.J. 2013. Transforming growth factor- β signaling controls the formation and maintenance of gut-resident memory T cells by regulating migration and retention. *Immunity* 39, pp. 687–696.

Zhang, W., Zhang, J., Kornuc, M., Kwan, K., Frank, R. and Nimer, S.D. 1995. Molecular cloning and characterization of NF-IL3A, a transcriptional activator of the human interleukin-3 promoter. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 15(11), pp. 6055–6063.

Zhao, S., Venkatasubbarao, K., Lazor, J.W., Sperry, J., Jin, C., Cao, L. and Freeman, J.W. 2008. Inhibition of STAT3 Tyr705 phosphorylation by Smad4 suppresses transforming growth factor β -mediated invasion and metastasis in pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Research* 68(11), pp. 4221–4228.

Zheng, Y., Valdez, P.A., Danilenko, D.M., Hu, Y., Sa, S.M., Gong, Q., Abbas, A.R., Modrusan, Z., Ghilardi, N., de Sauvage, F.J. and Ouyang, W. 2008. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nature Medicine* 14(3), pp. 282–289.

Zhong, C., Cui, K., Wilhelm, C., Hu, G., Mao, K., Belkaid, Y., Zhao, K. and Zhu, J. 2016. Group 3 innate lymphoid cells continuously require the transcription factor GATA-3 after commitment. *Nature Immunology* 17(2), pp. 169–178.

Zhu, Y.P., Brown, J.R., Sag, D., Zhang, L. and Suttles, J. 2015. Adenosine 5'monophosphate-activated protein kinase regulates IL-10-mediated antiinflammatory signaling pathways in macrophages. *Journal of Immunology* 194(2), pp. 584–594.